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Financial Highlights

MBERE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLHFE

240210]
—T-THF
HK$’ million HKS$’ million
BEAT BEBTT
Operating Results EEXEE
Revenue & 266.9 365.8 -27.0%
- e-print segment —e-printy & 210.4 282.3 -25.5%
— e-banner segment —e-banner? & 56.5 83.5 -32.3%
Operating profit before other RETAHE Mz~
gains/(losses) including impairment (BE) (2EaH
losses on financial assets — net BEREEE)Z
EER N FHR 19.6 15.5 26.5%
— e-print segment —e-printn & 19.3 14.5 33.1%
— e-banner segment —e-banner? & 0.3 1.0 -70.0%
Other gains/(losses) including impairment H Y25, (E5#8)
losses on financial assets — net (BiEe/mEE
WEEE) —FHE 0.7 9.6) -107.3%
— e-print segment —e-printo & 0.8 (9.6) -108.3%
- e-banner segment —e-banner? & (0.1) 0.0 N/ATEHR
Operating profit & IE 5 A 20.3 5.9 244.1%
- e-print segment —e-print% & 20.3 4.9 314.3%
— e-banner segment —e-banner? B 0.0 1.0 -100.0%
Profit for the year attributable to VAT & TR B A5 F 05 7
— equity holders of Company —AREIERFEA 19.0 5.7 233.3%
- non-controlling interests —IEVERR M A 0.3 0.2) -250.0%
Net profit margin % (Attributable to MR EY% (KRB
equity holders of the Company) BAEAEWL) 71% 1.6%
Gross profit margin % EFE% 38.7% 34.8%
Basic earnings per share (HK Cents) ~ &MEARZF (L) 3.46 1.03 235.9%

As at 31 March
R=A=+—H

Financial Position
Total assets

Total equity

Cash and cash equivalents

B AR
BEBE

et

RekReFEHAB
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2021

—E-—F
HK$’ million
BERBTT

331.2
250.7

106.6

2020
—o

"HKS'million
EE v
327.6
230.0

101.5

1.1%
9.0%

5.0%



Operating Results

The financial year ended 31 March 2021 was another challenging
year full of instability caused by the global outbreak of novel
coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) (the “Coronavirus Outbreak”).

The business and operation of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) has suffered
from the impact of COVID-19 and the macroeconomic downturn.
The overall market demand and sales orders were reduced
throughout the year, resulting in a decrease in the Group’s revenue
recorded for the year.

Despite facing the difficult and challenging business environment,
the Group has implemented measures to overcome these
challenges and minimised the impact, with the timely and prudent
operating cost reductions, re-phasing of investments to reflect
pandemic conditions, government subsidies and the fact that
the management has developed new sources of income and
has minimised expense during this uniquely challenging time, the
Group recorded a substantial increase in profit attributable to the
shareholders.

Both paper printing segment and banner printing segment reported
a decrease in revenue of approximately 25.5% and approximately
32.3% respectively during the year ended 31 March 2021. Although
the overall market demand and sales volume being affected by
the deteriorating business environment, we continuously closely
monitored the situation and taken actions to minimise the impact.
With the drop in the sales orders, we changed our strategy by
eliminating the outsourced processing to subcontractors, as a
result, the subcontracting costs decreased from approximately
HK$111.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020 to
approximately HK$58.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2021,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$53.3 million or
approximately 47.9%. Furthermore, we also worked closely with the
suppliers and subcontractors to ensure timely delivery of the raw
material and inventory as scheduled to minimise the impact of any
logistics delays.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group recorded
the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$19.0 million, representing an increase in profit by
approximately 233.3%. The significant increase in profit was mainly
due to (i) effective cost control measures implemented by the Group
which resulted in a decrease in expenses, (i) material increase in
fair value gain from the investments held by the Group measured
at fair value through profit or loss and (jii) receipt of subsidies under
the Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.

Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

EEXEE

HE T - F=ZA=1+—HILHHKF
ErRAMKEBUENTEEENS —F R
AE2FAEMREER ([COVID-19])
BE ([BEhREREE]) -

eprintEBER AR ([AAR] - ERE
MEBAR BAIAEBR|EBREER
COVID-19R 2B ET BT E-2F
BEMSRE KREEERM TR B
AREBFREESRER D -

BECHRENBSTEAFRMAB ~&
BEEREERZFREL K EER
ERE MEBEREERNEERARE-
RERBEEAMABIEERNORE BF
AL Et R A RB W HEEEERIRE
N AR B RS BRCR B R E T K8 1
e

BHE-_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HItEE &
ENR 2 26 & = Bl 5 20 A U 2= 5 Bl
T&4)25.5%F #)32.3% R & EETHH
FREHEXIEERREITTRLLOR
2. BRMDFBEZYERBE R I HFIE
T EREREK BEHEETERD
BMRETRE RO TINETOEEN
NI Bl 28KAEEE_S_FF
—A=+—HLEFEH4L111,300,000%
TRALEHE-_E-_—F=A=+—H
1F 5 FE 89 #4958,000,0005 7T 48 RE 4
#753,300,0007% 7T 2k 4947.9% ° b 9h * F
MIMBAEER RS BEE YA ERER
EMERFENNRERERMN  BEAD
MEENTEREHRK-

BE-_ZT-_—HF=A=+—HIFHE
B AREBERSRAATEREE ARGR
H#719,000,000/% 7T + 18 E P& F 1% 11 49
233.3% cm A AR MEZRR()AE
B F A AR AN § 8 5 A B SR
LA EBEBECREEREBERER
A EBEYRAQ A B EURE KRN (i)
EEEERFNTHRERFNRMLES
B TRk
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Prospects

Looking forward, there is still a high degree of uncertainty about
the situation of Coronavirus Outbreak and it is expected that the
economic activities will continue being affected by the COVID-19
pandemic for some time. In light of the unfavorable economic
and market conditions, the management will continuously closely
monitor the situation, implement the measures to control the
operation costs and take all necessary measures to protect our
employees from the threat of COVID-19. Our priority is always the
well-being of our customers and staff and we continue to do all we
can to ensure their safety and support them through this difficult
time. The management will continue to strength our core business
to and explore different business opportunities to seek for better
growth prospects and returns.

With the effective cash management, the Group maintained a
healthy cash balance which can be used for further expansion
and investment. We also open to different potential business
opportunities, no matter where they are and what they are, when
they can create value for the Group. Our prior investments in
Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited, e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd and Top Success Investment Group Limited have already
proved that we are willing to diversify our business to other industry
and nation. We believe that these investments would bring long
term of interest to the Group and the shareholders.

The Group will continue to seek new business opportunities from
time to time in order to diversify its business, enhance the long-
term growth of the Group as well as generate and maximise the
Shareholder’s value.

Appreciation

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude to
our shareholders, customers and business partners for their trust
and continuous supports during this difficult period. In addition, |
would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere thanks
to the hardworking and talented managements and staff for their
persistent and valuable contribution to the Group. Last but not
least, we would like to wish everyone good health.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Company is an investment holding company principally
engaged in the provision of printing services to a diversified
customer base in Hong Kong. The Company is also engaged in
the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound books and
stationeries.

The Board presents to its shareholders the result of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2021. In the current financial year,
affected by the COVID-19 and the macroeconomic downturn,
the Group’s revenue decreased by approximately 27.0%, from
approximately HK$365.8 million to approximately HK$266.9
million. Although the revenue dropped, the gross profit margin was
increased from approximately 34.8% to approximately 38.7% as the
cost of sales decreased in a higher degree.

The Group’s audited profit attributable to equity holders for the
year ended 31 March 2021 was approximately HK$19.0 million,
representing an increase of approximately 233.3% when compared
with last year. The increasing net profit was mainly attributed to ()
effective cost control measures implemented by the Group which
resulted in the decrease in expenses, (i) material increase in fair
value gain from investments held by the Group measured at fair
value through profit or loss and (jii) receipt of subsidies under the
Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY2020/21”) and for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (“FY2019/20"), the revenue of the Group’s
paper printing segment were approximately HK$210.4 million
and approximately HK$282.3 million respectively, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$71.9 million or approximately 25.5%.
Affected by the Coronavirus Outbreak and the macroeconomic
downturn, the sales volume for FY2020/21 declined as compared
with that of FY2019/20. The advertising printing was still the major
contributor of the segment’s revenue and recorded the amount of
approximately HK$82.8 million, representing approximately 31.0%
of the revenue for the year. The segment’s gross profit margin has
been increased from approximately 34.2% to approximately 38.7%,
and the major reason was that the cost control on subcontracting
fee which was decreased by approximately 47.9%.

For the Group’s banner printing segment, similar to paper printing
segment, the revenue decreased by approximately HK$27.0 million
or approximately 32.3%. Subject to above mentioned drop in
market demand, the revenue decreased during the year.

BEENWmRE D

F 5% E B

RRARRREERRAG TERENEE
A% T L& PR R ENRI AR 75 - A2 &) IR
ERES RBREERXERHBRTR-

BEEENRRREAEEHEE_T_—F
ZA=Z+—HLEFEMNEZ -NAMERF
fEZCOVID- 19K RERKE N BT E
7N & F U % B 49365,800,0005% TT R 4 49
27.0%Z #7266,900,0005 7T ° B 7 84 & &K
ATREERN BERZEARE BE
F R B #934.8%1E INZE 4138.7% °

BE-_T-_—F=A=+t—BHIFE &
SENESRFEABRLMEEZRMN ALY
19,000,0007% T * ¥ 2= FF 18 HN 49233.3% ©
MREMEBEHRO)AEEE BH BAK
AP HIFE e BRSO (VA EEFTHF
BEZHREBEBBIEAABEIENRA
(B8 U %5 K 08 12 10 K (i) S F B 4 BT
& BT R R BT BB TR MR

BHE_ZT-_—F=ZA=+—HEFE (=
T/ —UBREE)RBEE-_ZT_FT
F=ZA=Z+—HLEFE(ZE—H/=F
MREE]) ANEBKEER D2 WE
7 Bl 49 A210,400,00078 7T & £49282,300,000
BT MHE R 4 #971,900,000% JT 8k 49
255% X ERRERBBEREBEET
BHRE T/ - —PHREENH
ER TN/ _ZTHHRFENHEERFN
TR - EEHRDARZY BRENES
B ENE - I 8515 4982,800,000/8 7T * 1 AN F
FE U M) £931.0% 52 9 SBDHYE F K A 4Y
34.2%I2 N E#38.7% T ER A B HRK
REEH TN BER TR T #47.9% ©

MAKEBEZEENR M S - BURK
$8 EN 5530 - Uk &5 Rk > £927,000,0007%8 7T 3k
#32.3% - X LB B K TEFE  KF
EUREE TP -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

=R EC i

Outlook

During FY2020/21, the business environment and operation of the
Group was still challenging and difficult, both printing business and
banner business had suffered from the impact of COVID-19 and the
macroeconomic downturn, and thus the sales volume had declined
during the reporting period. In the coming period, the management
expects that the operating environment in Hong Kong will remain
challenging and uncertain. With the unfavorable conditions, the
Group will continue to closely monitor the changing of the business
environment and implement the measures in order to overcome
the challenges to maintain the profitability and maximise the
shareholder’s value. In addition, the Company will continuously and
proactively explore different business opportunities for business
development through diversifying the business portfolio into new
businesses.

Under the leadership of the Board, the management of the Group
has formed a broad consensus in response to the key improvement
areas in the existing business operation and market expansion in
order to further enhance the Group’s overall competitiveness. The
Group will continue to strengthen its market position and increase
its market share by adopting the following approaches:

° Strengthening the cost control to maintain the competitive
pricing strategy.

° Developing the new business line and customised products
and services to meet the market demand.

° Improving the value added services, including but not limited
to the e-print app, self — service platform, phone ordering

system, self checkout and collecting counters and the
storage and delivery system.

Events after the reporting period

No significant events have taken place after FY2020/21 to the date
of this report.
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Financial Review

Revenue

Revenue from the provision of printing and other services
significantly decreased by approximately HK$98.9 million or
approximately 27.0% from approximately HK$365.8 million to
approximately HK$266.9 million. The overall market demand was
impacted by the macroeconomic downturn and the Coronavirus
Outbreak, and thus the sales volume of the Group declined during
FY2020/21.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the revenue by service
category and their respective percentage of the total revenue for
the years indicated.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R kAT

Bt %5 o B

Wz

REDR EEMREASHKEZHLD
365,800,000/% 7T A i@ J& 4> 798,900,000
7 TL 3K #)27.0% & #9266,900,000/% JT °
BRMBSERZINEELET B ETM
REREBEONFE At R=ZZT=F

—UBERE AKENHEE T

TREIZ AR R B & o 8 Y as B AR K
HEBERFARFENBRSEE DL -

2021

—EZ—F

HK$’000

TEx
Advertising printing & & R 82,829 31.0% 114,129 31.2%
Bound book printing B EE R 53,831 20.2% 80,910 22.1%
Stationery printing X EEN 60,228 22.6% 73,139 20.0%
Banner printing & = E il 50,183 18.8% 73,212 20.0%
Other services H At IR 75 19,831 7.4% 24,411 6.7%
Total et 266,902 100% 365,801 100%

The contribution to the sales mix remained stable. The advertising
printing was still the major contributor of the revenue, which
accounted for approximately 31.0% of the total revenue for
FY2020/21.

HEBAEMBERREFEEBE EEHRDA
ABUBTERER - -F =——8K
FEBERZFHHZ1.0% -

2021 2020

—EB=-—F —E-ETHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sales Channels FET FAET
Stores G5 46,094 17.3% 61,997 16.9%
Websites KR 147,606 55.3% 192,257 52.6%
Others (Note) Hi () 73,202 27.4% 111,547 30.5%
Total @t 266,902 100% 365,801 100%

Note:  “Others” refers to revenue derived from orders received over the telephone,  BiisE: [H| @B EFE T e-printi T fE B 12

through e-mail, e-print mobile application and “Photobook” program.

I & [Photobook | 2 X B B & 5T B AT 15 MK

3¢
fm °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERBH R

Financial Review continveq)

Revenue (continued)

Websites remained the major sales channel and it contributed
approximately 55.3% of total revenue for FY2020/21, represented
an increase of approximately 2.7% when compared with last year.
The sales contributed by stores increased from approximately
16.9% for FY2019/20 to approximately 17.3% for FY2020/21.

Other income

Other income of the Group mainly consisted of sales of scrap
materials. The Group’s other income slightly increased from
approximately HK$2.3 million in FY2019/20 to approximately
HK$2.7 million in FY2020/21, representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.4 million.

Other gains/(losses) — net

For FY2020/21, the Group recorded a net gain of approximately
HK$1.4 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$9.9
million as compared to a net loss of approximately HK$8.5 million
for FY2019/20. The gain in FY2020/21 was mainly attributable to
the fair value gain of approximately HK$1.9 million on the mutual
fund investments held by the Group during FY2020/21 while the
material loss in FY2019/20 was arising from the fair value loss of
approximately HK$5.3 million on the listed equity investment held
by the Group which was caused by significant decrease in the
share price of SingAsia Holdings Limited.
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Financial Review continveq)

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of staff costs,
handling charges for electronic payments, and rental charges.
Selling and distribution expenses represented approximately
9.6% and approximately 9.1% of the revenue for FY2020/21 and
FY2019/20 respectively. The decrease of approximately HK$7.8
million was the result of the decreased staff cost of approximately
HK$4.3 million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included staff costs and outsourced
customer support expenses. Administrative expenses represented
approximately 22.8% and approximately 22.1% of the total
revenue for FY2020/21 and FY2019/20 respectively. The amount
decreased by approximately HK$20.0 million from approximately
HK$80.8 million for FY2019/20 to approximately HK$60.8 million
for FY2020/21. The overall decrease in expenses was the result of
decreased staff costs and outsourced customer support expenses.

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented the interest income generated
from the loan receivables and bank interest income. The income
increased by approximately HK$0.4 million or approximately 14.9%
as the Group allocated more funds to the loans receivables in which
the interest rate of loan receivables was favourable than that of
bank during FY2020/21.

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R kAT

B 75 [E] B8 )
HERDHBAX

HERDHAZXTFEBEEINARN -BF
NZENFEBLNEASER - R _Z-T/
ZUBEER=E—NZEVBRFE "
SHE R X 2 BIME U A £99.6% KX 49
9.1% ° B X 38 4 #97,800,000/8 L TR B
TR AR D #94,300,0007% 7T BT 2
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TR TEORE IRARINEPL X
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERBH R

Financial Review continveq)

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank
borrowings and interest expenses on lease liabilities. The overall
decrease in finance cost by approximately HK$0.5 million or
approximately 25.7% was mainly due to the drop in interest
expenses on lease liabilities in the amount of approximately HK$0.4
million for FY2020/21.

Share of profits of joint ventures

Share of profits of joint ventures represented the share of results
of the Group’s joint ventures. As at 31 March 2021, the Group
had two joint ventures in Malaysia and Hong Kong, namely e-print
Solutions Sdn. Bhd and Top Success Investment Group Limited
respectively.

During FY2020/21, the operation of e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd was
suffered from the Coronavirus Outbreak, and thus, the sales volume
and revenue declined as compared with that of FY2019/20 in which
leaded to the overall decrease in share of profits of joint ventures.

Share of losses of associates

The amount represented the share of results of the Group’s
associates in Hong Kong, which are Sakura Japan Property (Hong
Kong) Limited and E-post Limited respectively.

The share of losses of associates was mainly due to the drop in
sales volume and revenue which was affected by the Coronavirus
Outbreak and the macroeconomic downturn during the financial
year.

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
increased by approximately HK$13.3 million or approximately
233.3%, from approximately HK$5.7 million for FY2019/20 to
approximately HK$19.0 million for FY2020/21. The increase in the
profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company was
mainly due to the fair value gain of approximately HK$1.9 million on
the mutual fund investments held by the Group during FY2020/21
and the decrease in the operating costs of the Group compared
with that of same period of last year.
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Financial Review continveq)

Liquidity and Financial Information

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately HK$106.6 million, represented an increase
of approximately HK$5.0 million when compared with that as at
31 March 2020. As at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020, the
financial ratios of the Group were as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis
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As at As at
31 March 2021 31 March 2020
R-B-—%F —E=F
=A=+—H
Current ratio ™ TmENEL RO 2.2 2.2
Gearing ratio @ EEAAKL X 15.7% 25.4%
Notes: B 5 -
(1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total (1) MBI EDNIREREER NG R EES
current liabilities. Ho
@) Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank borrowings and leases  (2) BEABLERDNRBRTEERAERER

liabilities divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.
Borrowings

The Group’s bank borrowings balance as at 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020 were approximately HK$19.9 million and
approximately HK$21.2 million respectively. All bank borrowings
were made from banks in Hong Kong and were repayable within
one year, except for a mortgage loan with the carrying amount of
approximately HK$18.9 million which will be matured in 2036. No
financial instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor were
there any foreign currency net investments hedged by current
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments. The weighted
average interest rates (per annum) were 2.3% for FY2020/21 and
FY2019/20.
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Financial Review continveq)

Treasury Policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year. The Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet
its funding requirements from time to time. Surplus cash will be
invested to meet the Group’s cash need in support of the Group’s
strategy direction from time to time.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 3 December 2013. As at 31 March 2021,
the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company was
550,000,000 shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have capital commitments.

Significant Investments Held

In addition to the investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates, the Group also hold some investments including equity
investment of the companies listed on the Stock Exchange, mutual
fund investments, bonds and etc. These investments were classified
as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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Financial Review continveq)

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

The Group did not have plans for material investments and capital
assets as at 31 March 2021.

Material Acquisitions or Disposal

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
associates, joint ventures or subsidiaries for FY2020/21.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong and its business is
supported by an information technology support services centre
located in the PRC. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
mainly arising from the exposure of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars. The Group does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its
exposure to foreign exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Charge of Assets

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with a carrying value of approximately HK$2.7 million
and approximately HK$4.3 million respectively, as collaterals to
secure the Group’s leases liabilities. As at 31 March 2021 and
2020, the Group pledged two properties with the total carrying
value of approximately HK$58.1 million and approximately HK$60.3
million respectively, as collaterals to secure the Group’s mortgage
loan.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review continveq)

Capital Expenditure

During the year, the Group invested approximately HK$7.3 million
(2020: HK$17.0 million) in property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets, which represented a decrease of approximately
HK$9.7 million in capital expenditure than last year.

Employees and Emolument Policies

At 31 March 2021, the Group had 302 (2020: 288) full time
employees. The employee benefits expense of the Group, including
directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and allowances,
retirement benefits schemes contributions and other benefits
amounted to approximately HK$59.7 million for FY2020/21
(FY2019/20: HK$84.2 million). During FY2020/21, the Group has
received subsidies of approximately HK$12,498,000 under the
Employment Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region which resulted in the decrease
in expense.

There was no significant change in the Group’s emolument policies.
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits included contributions to Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong, provision of
pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the Employees
Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security Organization
for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant to the
Malaysian rules and regulations and the prevailing regulatory
requirements of Malaysia.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the FY2020/21 (2020: Nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
the Stock Exchange as its own code of corporate governance.

During FY2020/21, the Company was in compliance with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviation as
explained below.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during FY2020/21.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors including two

executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Li Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Wai

Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit
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Board of Directors (continued)

A deed of confirmation was entered into, among others, Mr. She
Siu Kee William, Mr. Lam Shing Kai (a former Director who retired
on 16 August 2019), Mr. Leung Wai Ming and Mr. Chong Cheuk
Ki on 2 July 2013 (the “Deed of Confirmation”) confirming the
existence of their acting in concert arrangement to jointly control
their respective interest in the Company held through eprint
Limited. Save as aforesaid, the Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each
other. Such balanced board composition is formed to ensure
strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of
the Board reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective
leadership. The biographical information of the Directors are set out
on pages 83 to 85 under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During FY2020/21, four Board meetings were held. All Directors
were given an opportunity to include any matters in the agenda
for regular Board meetings, and were also given sufficient time
to review documents and information relating to matters to be
discussed in Board meetings in advance.

Name of Director
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Mr. She Siu Kee William REBEFLE
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Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRAREE

4/4
4/4
4/4
3/3
1/1
4/4
4/4
4/4

2020/214 % eprint EBMERAT 19



Corporate Governance Report
PERERRE

Board Meetings (continueq)

Notes:

1.

Mr. Cai Qiang resigned on 19 November 2020, three Board meetings were
held before his resignation.

Mr. Li Lu was appointed on 19 November 2020, one Board meeting was held
after his appointment.

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company

(the
Direc

pape

“Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
tors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
rs and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the

advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

General Meeting

Durin

g FY2020/21, one general meeting was held, being the 2020

annual general meeting of the Company held on 14 August 2020.

Name of Director

Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Notes:

1.

2.

20

She Siu Kee William SBESLE
Chong Cheuk Ki HEHEE
Leung Wai Ming RERLEE

Cai Qiang (Note 1) goR S (M)
Li Lu (Note 2) R4 (MYEE2)
Poon Chun Wai ERE A

Fu Chung BREE

Ma Siu Kit BIRANLEAE

Mr. Cai Qiang resigned on 19 November 2020, one general meeting was held
before his resignation.

Mr. Li Lu was appointed on 19 November 2020, no general meeting was held
after his appointment.
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General Meeting (continueq)

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and in
particular, uses annual general meeting or other general meetings
to communicate with them and encourage their participation. The
Board notes that the Chairman of the Board and the chairmen or,
in their absence, other members of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of
the Company should attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions and collect views of Shareholders.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by way of attending seminars relating to their role as a
Director.

The individual training record of each Director received for
FY2020/21 is set out below:

Name of Director

Mr. She Siu Kee William /‘J‘\: BESAE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEmELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming ﬁ’é?ﬁ”?} BASE A
Mr. Li Lu FREAE

Mr. Poon Chun Wai &R E ST A
Mr. Fu Chung BREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit IR EE
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

Independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Directors

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high calibre, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
printing or management. With their experience gained from
various sectors, they provide strong support towards the effective
discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board. Each
independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation
of his independence to the Company, and the Company considers
each of them to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

All non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years and are
subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”).

Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
13 November 2013 with written terms of reference which was
revised on 25 February 2019 to conform with the updated provision
of the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is currently made available on the Stock Exchange'’s
website and the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman) and
Mr. Poon Chun Wai, and an executive Director, namely Mr. She
Siu Kee William. The functions of the Nomination Committee are
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify
qualified individuals to become members of the Board; to assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer. The
Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on
13 November 2013 whereby it recognises and embraces the
benefits of a diversity of Board members. The Company endeavour
to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. The Board delegated certain duties under
the Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the necessity for setting
measurable objectives for implementing the Policy from time to
time.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of
such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination
Committee.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

() ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(@ conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Nomination Committee coninveq)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/she
has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise for filling the office of an
independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During FY2020/21, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings for (1) reviewing the Board composition, (2) reviewing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
(3) assessing the necessity to set measurable objectives for
implementing the Policy and (4) considering the proposed
nomination of Director.

Nomination Committee member
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Mr. Fu Chung (Chairman) HRLE (EFE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RIBELE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on
13 November 2013 with written terms of reference, which
was aligned with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee is currently made available on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman) and
Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu Kee
William.
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Remuneration Committee (continuea)

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

During FY2020/21, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings
for (i) reviewing the policy and structure of the remuneration for the
Directors and senior management, and (i) reviewing the proposed
remuneration of Director.
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Number of
attendance

H R B

Remuneration Committee member FMEEERE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai (Chairman) EIREEE (E/E)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RNIBERLSE

Mr. Fu Chung BREE

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
13 November 2013. The purpose of the share option scheme is
to recognize and acknowledge the contributions of the eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group and to attract or retain or
otherwise maintain on-going business relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group. Details of the share option scheme
are set out in the Report of the Directors.

The emolument payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under employment contracts or service contracts,
if any, and will be fixed by the Board based on the recommendation
of the Remuneration Committee, the performance of the Group
and the prevailing marketing conditions. Details of the Directors’
emoluments for FY2020/21 are set out in Note 36 to the financial
statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on
25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2020/21.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai
and Mr. Fu Chung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor;
reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system
(including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting function and
their training arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk
management and the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During FY2020/21, the Audit Committee held two meetings.
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Audit Committee (Continued)

During FY2020/21, the Audit Committee reviewed, among others,
the annual results of the Group for FY2019/20 and interim results
of the Group for the six months ended 30 September 2020, which
were in the opinion of the Audit Committee that the preparation of
such consolidated financial statements and results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

During FY2020/21, the Board had reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

For FY2020/21, the remuneration payable or paid to the Company’s
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), was as follows:
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HK$’000
FHET

Services rendered RE R
— Audit services — B R 1,080
— Non-audit services (Note) —JIEFE AT AR (BIsE) 250

Note: the non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services
provided by PwC.

Company Secretary

Mr. Mok Chun Wa (“Mr. Mok”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 30 September 2016. The biographical details of
Mr. Mok are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management”.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
Mr. Mok had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for FY2020/21.

Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the Shareholders.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

- the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansion plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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Dividend POIicy (Continued)

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum and Articles, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Dividend Policy at any time.

Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Putting enquiries by shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A3, 1st Floor, Phase 3
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-
section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion at
general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2021 annual general meeting will be voted by
poll.

Investor Relations

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
Shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders in
the following manner:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
Shareholders;

° Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results on the Stock Exchange’s website, and issue of other
announcements and Shareholders’ circulars in accordance
with the continuing disclosure obligations under the Listing
Rules; and
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Investor Relations (continueq)

° General meetings of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2021, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made judgements and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the accounts on
a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
for FY2020/21, covering material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.

During FY2020/21, the Group appointed BT Corporate Governance
Limited (“‘BTCGL”) to:

o assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by BTCGL to enhance the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of
the Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of BTCGL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework

(Continued)

Principal Risks

For FY2020/21, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified and classified into strategic risks, operational risks,
financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas

[ B R

Strategic Risks
RS A b
Operational Risks
EERR
Financial Risks

Outbreak of coronavirus disease
BARRERERE
No significant risk identified

B 15 R B ARERERNER
Compliance Risks No significant risk identified
AR AERBBARER

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried out
by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced to
and conducted by BTCGL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.
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Risk Control Mechanism (continueq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management framework will be evaluated at least
annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update the
progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business
operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during FY2020/21.
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RS dHERERHRE

Approach

eprint Group Limited (hereafter called the “Company”) is committed
to promoting transparency of the Company’s operations and
its impact on the environment and society in which it operates,
and also communicating with its stakeholders. The results of the
Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) review shown in this
report demonstrate the importance of environmental protection we
place on top of our business development target, and explain how
we seek to continually improve our ESG strategy in line with global
standards. This report also illustrates the focus of our resources
utilized for our core operations in order for the Company to become
the leading printing company for creating a highly efficient and
balanced business profile.

With both integrity and determination, we look at issues that
may have a reputational impact on, or that may pose a risk to,
the Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter called the “Group”)
in the short-, medium-or long-term. Issues that are important to
our stakeholders, including but not limited to, our customers and
employees, as well as non-governmental organizations (“NGOs”),
are also crucial to us. We are positive in developing opportunities
with a focus on work ethics to ensure that the Group’s success in
business development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed
on to our employees, customers and the environment.

We see the integration of sustainability into our business strategy as
well as daily operations as a must to pursue our business model.
To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding of, and
interaction with, our employees, customers and other stakeholders
are of the highest priority. We believe that effective management
of ESG issues is important to our long-term success in a rapidly
changing world. With thorough understanding of the ESG risks
and opportunities, the Group will be better positioned in allocating
its resources to reduce and recycle different kinds of waste, and
responding to the increasing demand for higher standards of waste
treatment by regulators. Thus, with all the aforementioned factors,
the Group expects itself to face greater challenges. In addition,
we believe that our expertise, capabilities, and ownership model
can form part of the solutions to some of the challenges that
organizations around the world are already facing. We are confident
that as part of the business decision-making process, by involving
all relevant stakeholders in the ESG management process, we
will be able to better monitor the ESG issues, and the long-term
success of the Group will be assured.
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Approach continueq)

Finally, our sustainability strategy in the following aspects applies to
all the work streams:

1. To promote environmental sustainability;
2. To attract, retain and support employees;
3. To engage with stakeholders;

4. To sustain local communities;

5. To strengthen community relations; and

6. To grow suppliers’ commitment.

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia, for the financial year ended
31 March 2021 (“Reporting Period”). It describes the Group’s
progress on its way towards creating sustainable value for its
shareholders and other stakeholders. During the process of
preparing this Report, we have conducted thorough review and
evaluation of the existing ESG practices of the Group with the aim
of achieving better performance results in the future.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations in
Hong Kong, PRC and Malaysia.

In addition to the internal factors such as our core values, strategy
and competency that contribute to our sustainable development,
we have communicated with our stakeholders and considered the
ESG challenges as reported by other market players, to decide and
prioritize material topics in this Report.
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About this report (Continued)

Report Scope and Boundary (continuead)

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

° the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong, PRC and
Malaysia;

° current and future environment and/or society;
° our financial and/or operational performance; and
° our stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the Stock Exchange’s
ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules.

Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7121). Although
there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders outside
the Group when this Report was being prepared, we have included
the key issues which are of different stakeholder groups’ concerns,
based on our continual communication with them. Alternatively,
you are also welcome to send your comments and suggestions
regarding our ESG performance to our Company Secretary and
Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Mok Chun Wa, by mail.

ESG Management

Statement of the board

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group acknowledges
that prudent environmental and societal management is of
great importance to sustainable economic growth. The Report
summarizes the strategy, practice and vision of the Group in
respect of issues related to ESG, and conveys the Group’s devotion
for sustainability. To address the global concern about climate
change, the Group has also considered the climate-related issues
and incorporated them into the Report. All potential and actual risks
that may have impact on the Group’s businesses will be covered
and evaluated in the annual enterprise risk assessment.

38  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21

BBRAREE =
BREHBERRR

EARR HEREAHBERRSE T
EHRAEAXAEEEEAFENHE:

AEEREAR TERSERAEN
REID AT :

o EMRRRBER/RHE:

o HMOMBR/ULERER R
s REWFME RRERTH-
ABEDRE EMRBMME -+ EAH
BRXMRR HERERABRSHEImE -

BT s R PR ER R - ?i@& ERME

FETImE B ERENERSE FE56
R R ERE (EFEEE: (852) 2319

7T121) BB MK - BENREIRER
Iﬂiﬁﬁzﬁgll%%%fﬁ%tﬁﬂ gt &l
BHEMERBRMERENHEERY
HARENFBOHEBINETEME K
HOMEAK BTITHRMNEKRER ?i/’\
E/D%IEEGH:FHH&ENkLLiB{thX
AMERMBRERRELRE -

RE HERERERE
Exg2Y

ERABENEEAR AEEARNEER
RELHEERHRABELHEEREA
BHEEANEE- &¢ML$$@ﬁ%
%% e &k ERE B KREE  BE MR
1E$¢lﬁﬁTFF%EmR®O
EfﬁiﬁﬁﬁmeMW& REE R
ZRAMBREERELGERARE P - F
EeXEBRIAGBERERFHAEZE
AEBEERGOMBEEERERRR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ESG Management continveq)

Statement of the board (continued)

The Group has established a governance structure to enhance its
management of ESG issues. The Board has an overall responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG-related risks and opportunities,
establishing and adopting the ESG-related strategies and targets
of the Group, reviewing the Group’s performance annually against
the targets, and revising the strategies as appropriate if significant
variance from the target is identified. In order to exert governance
over the ESG issues, the Group has set up an ESG Working Group
that comprises of members from middle to senior management
and it serves as a supportive role to the Board in implementing
the ESG-related strategies and targets, conducting materiality
assessments of ESG issues and prioritise them, and promote the
implementation of respective measures. Under the authority of the
Board, the ESG Working Group assists in collecting ESG data from
respective functional department, monitoring the implementation
of the measures, and investigation of deviation from the targets,
and liaise with the respective functional department to take prompt
rectification actions. The ESG Working Group reports to the Board
about the ESG performance of the Group and the effectiveness of
the ESG management system on a semi-annual basis.

The Board will continue to review the progress based on the

set goals and targets, and improve the Group’s sustainable
development.

Governance structure

ESG Working Group
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e The Board is responsible for the overall decision-making, oversees the
formulation, administration, and assessment of the ESG system.
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e The ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing
and monitoring the ESG matters on a daily basis.
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e Functional department is responsible for the execution of implemented
measures to achieve the set strategies and targets.
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Our Stakeholders

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage our stakeholders to ensure that improvement of our
products and services can be implemented. We strongly believe
that our stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of

our business.

HKEXx Compliance with listing rules, timely and
accurate announcements.

BERBXBZ BT EWRAD REERERE A

Government Compliance with laws and regulations,
preventing tax evasion, and social welfare.

B BPRERER BRANKIEEGREF -

Suppliers Payment schedule, stable demand.

e MR -BEFBK-

Investors Corporate governance system, business
strategies and performance, investment
returns.

REH PEEBBR EBRBLARE KREE
o

Media & Public Corporate governance, environmental
protection, human right.

HEEAR TEER RER A

Customers Product quality, service delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value, personal
data protection.

BF EmE R REXMETE - G BER R
BE EAERRE:

Employees Rights and benefits, employee
compensation, training and development,
work hours, working environment, labour
protection and work safety.

== R R ABF B B - 55 R T
KRR THERRE BSTRERTEZS-

Community Community environment, employment and
community development, social welfare.

#HE MHERE EERCEZER HEREHN-
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Meetings, training, workshops, programs,
website updates and announcements.

TR EI e RE-BBENRS
[==2pS

=

Interaction and visits, government
inspections, tax returns and other
information.

EHRAEE BITHE BBEEREAEHN -
Site visits.
B35 28 -

Seminars, interviews, shareholders’ meetings,
financial reports or operation reports for
investors, media and analysts.
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Newsletters on the Company’s web site.

PR R AR Ut 3% 4 B0 3 B o

Site visits, after-sales services.

B28 S8R -

Team building activities, training, interviews
with employees, internal memos, employees’
suggestion boxes.

EpGRRES 5 BEBEHK REN
wAE EBEEAM-

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities and community welfare subsidies
and donations.
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has identified ESG issue that have potential or actual
impact on its sustainable development from various sources, such
as issues identified in previous ESG report, internal policies, industry
trends and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board’s
Materiality Map. The ESG issues have been analysed with reference
to an array of factors, including the Group’s overall strategy,
development, and goals and targets. The Group has conducted
a materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG issues that are
pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and their respective level
of impact. The ESG issues have been identified as follows:

1. Emissions and use of resources
2. Employment

3.  Labour Standards

4.  Health and Safety

5.  Anti-corruption

Environmental

Overview

We understand that a healthy environment is the foundation for
economic progress and well-being of the society. Thus, our priority
is to protect the environment and minimize adverse impact on the
environment.

The Group has established a set of management policies and
measures regarding environmental protection to help ensure
sustainable development and efficient operations of the Group. The
Group strives to enhance the efficiency in the use of energy, water
and materials, and also to comply with relevant local environmental
regulations and international general practices, with an aim to
reduce the use of natural resources and protect the environment.

We aim at striking a balance between sustainable corporate
development and environmental protection, and thus, we closely
monitor greenhouse gas emissions and resources consumption
rates to minimize our impact on the environment and natural
resources.

B AR REARE

BB

AEECDHZRRREECHEAFERR
EEBGEHERFENRR LEkER
R PIIBERE 8 REAME P E
EWRE ABBR TEBERAIFER
REEANZEENEZH TEE Y
RE g hEHBEETON H2E—
ZIRAER BREASBHEERE ZRIA
RBBRRER AEBCETER NG
AR EREBEER RN EEBENR
B e kErRENREENTERE-
EEENRE HEREAMERIIIT

1. R RERER

2. &

il

AN wW
wmo%
5
) i
A=
H

o
il
m)
il

7 5
%

BPAERENRRELERREL S
BUANEA AHBEMABEREREAR
D HRBONFZE -

AEBEEFE - RINEERENEEK
KRR BB REGR AN SR B ] 45 4 R
EEBgE - AEBNFRSER KRk
MRHE AR RN B THBLTREER
KREBIER—RIEG  §ERPERRRER
KARERE -

BMEEEFAIRBLERRERRY
AFE - EmMENSEAEREFRY R
BRBERE BHIREYREERAER

B/ 488
F0p=Z-

2020/214E 4R eprint EEHRAT 41



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B B REARS

Environmental continueq)

Compliance and Grievance

As far as the Group is concerned, there were no reported non-
compliance incidents or grievances noted by the Group in relation
to environmental aspects during the Reporting Period.

Emissions

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” by which we pay full attention
to environmental protection standards and guidelines to help fulfil
our commitment to environmental protection and efficient use of
resources.

The Group has implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public.

In order to achieve the above objectives, we have adopted the
following working principles:

° To comply with the regulations.
The Group ensures that internal guidelines and procedures
are in place for all its business operations to follow in order to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong,
PRC and Malaysia.

° To prevent pollution.

The Group does its best to avoid, reduce and control
environmental pollution caused by its daily operations.
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Environmental (Continued)

Emissions (continuea)

To reduce the wastes.

While there is no wastewater discharge from its operations in
the PRC and Malaysia, the Group has installed an automatic
wastewater treatment system to ensure that any effluent
discharged to the drainage complies with the relevant
regulatory requirements in Hong Kong. The Group also
engages external agencies to perform waste discharge testing
annually to ensure that the pH value of the discharge fulfils the
environmental protection standard set by the government.

In addition, the Group closely cooperates with qualified
environmental recyclers to recycle solid wastes produced
during the production process in Hong Kong (including,
but not limited to, waste paper, waste zinc, waste plastic
materials, etc.).

To reduce consumption of resources.

The Group aims at implementing convenient and cost-
effective waste management; and upholding sustainable
development by reducing consumption of resources, reducing
manufacturing waste, as well as reusing and recycling of
reusable wastes.

To improve the Group’s performance.

Based on the changes in internal and external factors,
management reviews the objectives relating to environmental
protection, use of resources, and sustainable development
and operations of the Group in order to continuously improve
the Group’s performance.

Besides, the Group has obtained a Discharge Licence (Licence
No. WT00032965-2018) which is valid until 31 January 2024
in relation to the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.
358). The Group has also been granted with the Registration
of Waste Producer (Producer No.: 3422-295-1.2857-02) under
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation
(Cap. 354C).

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — A.
Environmental — Emission Indicators — KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”,
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Environmental continueq)

Total Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes
& Results Achieved by Mitigating Emissions

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

Hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, chemical
wastewater, cloths stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph
potions, Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC). Non-
hazardous wastes include, but are not limited to, paper, foam
board, synthesized paper, lightbox film, canvas and sticker.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, Waste Disposal Ordinance in Hong Kong, Solid
Waste and Public Cleansing Management Act 2007 in Malaysia,
and the Law of China on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste in China.

In order to mitigate the emission of wastes, the Group has
configured the wastewater recycling system and has engaged
qualified recyclers to recycle wastes. Wastes being recycled include
chemical wastewater, wasted zinc, photograph potions and paper.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the sections of “Key Performance Indicators
— A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.3” and
“Key Performance Indicators — A. Environmental — Non-hazardous
Waste Indicators — KPI A1.4”.

Use of Resources

The Group has established the “Environmental Protection and Use
of Resources Policy & Procedures” to ensure that the concept of
environmental sustainability is integrated into every part of our daily
business operations by complying with all environmental protection
policies, practices and initiatives.

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials.

It is very important for the Group to monitor water quality and air
quality, and strengthen the investigation, assessment and reporting
processes and procedures as for the impact of our production on
the ecosystem in order to prevent any environmental accidents from
happening.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental (Continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has established a comprehensive environment pollution
prevention and control system, adopted measures against solid
waste to prevent environmental pollution and clarify management
responsibility.

As a paper printing and banner printing service provider, there
is no significant consumption of natural resources and therefore
the Group’s activities do not have any significant impact on the
environment. Notwithstanding, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and environmental awareness among
its employees.

In addition to the measures implemented to reduce the use of
resources and disposal of waste (see sections headed “Total
Hazardous Wastes and Non-Hazardous Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions” above), the Group has taken actions to
manage its activities and minimise its impact on the environment
and natural resources, such as implementing applicable systems
and policies to monitor use of natural resources and circulating
notices regarding how to save energy and resources.

In addition, we will continue to assess the environmental risks of our
business, review the environmental practices and adopt preventive
measures as necessary to reduce the risks and ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations to the Group’s emissions and the
use of resources.
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Environmental continueq)

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials

The practices that reduce the use of resources include:

Electricity:

Support the “Indoor Temperature Savings Charter” program
to maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26
degrees Celsius.

Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
and computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during
non-office hours, and lunch time.

Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.

Ensure that all lights, air conditioners and electrical appliances
that are not in use are turned off properly when the last
colleague leaves the office/production plant.

Water:

46

Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

Install filters in printing machines to recycle water.

Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental (continueq)

Direct/Indirect Usage of Electricity/Water and Raw
Materials (continuea)

Raw materials:
o Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

° Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

° Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.

° Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

° Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

° Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to the qualified recyclers for recycling.

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators — KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”

Packaging materials used for finished products

To reduce the carbon footprint and contribute to saving the planet,
the Group encourages our customers to minimize the use of plastic
bags. We suggest our customers to bring their own shopping bags.
Besides, the majority of the packaging materials used by the Group
are recyclable and biodegradable.

For details regarding the consumption of packaging materials
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — A. Environment — Packaging Materials
Indicators — KPI A2.5”.
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Environmental continueq)

Climate Change

The Group has considered the potential climate-related risks
and opportunities in respect of the recommendations of the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, in which potential
physical risk and transition risk from climate change may pose
adverse financial impacts on the Group’s businesses. Acute
physical risk can arise from extreme weather conditions such
as flooding and storms and chronic physical risk can arise from
sustained high temperature, while transition risk may result from the
change in environmental-related regulations or change in customer
preferences.

Upon evaluation of the potential acute physical risk that may cause
disruption to our manufacturing and supply network, our office
and production plant do not locate in high-risk flood areas and
that we maintain a large supplier base so we can source from
alternate suppliers in the event of our suppliers being affected by
extreme weather conditions, and hence it is a remote risk. While
sustained high temperature may result in an elevation of electricity
consumption, the Group has adopted energy conservation
measures in managing such risk, which is detailed in the above
subsection headed “Direct/indirect usage of electricity/water
and raw materials”. As for the potential transition risk, the
Group continues to monitor the regulatory environment and has
experienced expertise in designing and manufacturing products
that meet customers’ demand and expectations, and thus the risk
is relatively low.

It is expected that potential extreme weather condition, sustained
high temperature, change in environmental-related regulations
and customer preference do not have a material impact on the
Group’s operations. Nevertheless, the Group continues to monitor
the climate-related risks and implemented relevant measures to
minimize our exposure to physical and transition risks.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Social

Workplace

The key to our success depends on the well-organized team of
qualified and experienced talents. We focus on assisting our staff
to achieve their career goals and self-development. We provide
training through seminars and forums, and encourage our staff to
grow with the Group together.

The Group’s Team Profile

As at 31 March 2021, we had 299 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March
2020, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators —
B. Social — Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees’ Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration
and benefits of employees. Every employee gets a copy of the
Employees’ Handbook to make sure that they are aware of their
rights and responsibilities. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established by the Human Resources Department as the guidelines
in relation to monitoring of human resources of the Group. The
“Human Resources Operation Procedures” helps management
to comply with labour laws and relevant regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s internal procedures relating to
recruitment and promotion, working hours, and holidays, etc. For
example, employees should normally work for 8-9 hours per day
and they can apply for overtime claims or compensation leave,
subject to the approval of department supervisors.

Moreover, employees are entitled to have annual leave according
to their grades and the departments which they belong to. For
instance, staff at officer grade and managerial grade are entitled
to have 11 days and 14 days of annual leave respectively in their
first year of employment. Furthermore, all our employees are
entitled to 5 days of marriage leave and 2 days of compassionate
leave for their close family members i.e. parents/children/spouse/
grandparents.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

The Group’s Team Profile continueq)

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

1. The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) as for recruitment,
and provision of reasonable working conditions.

2. The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

3. In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group

”

complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

4.  For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

5.  The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong
Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety (continueq)

We signed a “Health and Safety Policy” statement in 2013 to
emphasize that occupational safety is the first priority of our Group.
In this respect, we encourage our employees to attend relevant
training and we provide sufficient guidance and supervision to the
employees.

During the Reporting Period, we organized a first aid training to
our production staff in Hong Kong Office, regarding how to handle
when the patient with heatstroke. In addition, during the Reporting
Period, we arranged a safety training session for our production
staff in Hong Kong, covering safety measures in lifting heavy items.

The Group has also established “Internal Safety Rules” and “Safety
and Health Management Policies and Procedures” to standardize
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of
the Group, with an aim to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Furthermore, a Safety Committee has been established to
meet regularly and supervise the occupational safety of various
departments, as well as coordinate and implement training on
occupational safety for the employees.

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to
work injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section
of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.

Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of the
organization. By investing in our employees, we improve the service
quality of the Group. We also believe that by organizing training
through seminars and forums for our employees, job satisfaction
would be promoted and staff motivation would be increased,
thereby lowering staff turnover rate.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g RERmE

SOCiaI (Continued)

Development and Training (continued)

Training is arranged for new employees during the probation with
regard to the skills required for that particular position. For example,
the Customer Service Department conveys the knowledge about
product specifications, technology for production, work flows of
order placement, and customer service technique, etc. to the
responsible staff. Before the end of the probation, management
assesses the performance of the new employees in order to
ensure that the new employees are equipped with the required
job knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria include, but not
limited to, sense of responsibility, interpersonal skills and work
attitude, etc.

We also encourage our employees to enhance their knowledge
and skills through pursuing continual education. Employees who
have been employed for over one year are entitled to “Continuing
Education Assistance” if they enrol on courses which are relevant to
their jobs. In order to increase flexibility, there is no pre-defined list
for restricting the courses to be chosen, and so, our employees can
select the most suitable courses by themselves.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training
hours completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please
refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.

Zero Tolerance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCiaI (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

A. During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstanding and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group generally does not select any persons
aged 16 or below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

B. Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

C. At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed. In addition, according to the “Human Resources
Operations Procedures” issued by the Human Resources
Department, the following steps would be taken against the
employees who are dismissed:

A.  The department manager or the Human Resources
Department informs the employee directly of the dismissal,
explains the reasons for the dismissal, and completes the
“Employee Termination Form”;

B. Before an employee leaves the Group, the Human Resources
Department collects the items which are the Group’s assets,
such as mobile phone, laptop, business cards, chops, and
locker key, etc.; and

C. Arrangement of the last salary payment to the employee within
one week after termination of the employment.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Complaints

The “Human Resources Operations Procedures” issued by the
Human Resources Department of the Group stipulates that the
Group provides employees with a number of channels of lodging
complaints. For example, when a staff member encounters any
unreasonable treatment, he/she can report it to the department
head and Human Resources Department of the Group.

Cultural Activities

In order to promote work-life balance for our staff, various kinds of
recreational activities are provided.

For example, the Group has formed a basketball team and a
football team. Sports training sessions are provided to increase the
bonding among employees.

Education

The Group is in good relationship with the Hong Kong Design
Institute (“HKDI”), Pro-Act Training and other tertiary institutions,
and invites their students to visit our printing production line from
time to time to pass on the basic knowledge of the printing industry
to them.

We believe that education is the most effective means of
propagating and sustaining community investments. During the
Reporting Period, the Group made printing sponsorship to different
charitable organizations regarding children education, such as JCI
Lion Rock, The Salvation Army, etc.

Environment

As a result of our continual efforts made on environmental
sustainability, we have been awarded “BOCHK Corporate
Environmental Leadership” by Federation of Hong Kong Industries
and “Energywi$e Certificate — Basic Level” by Environmental
Campaign Committee.

Labour demand

We deeply understand the importance of giving back to the society.
Internship and full-time employment opportunities are offered to
university students, such that they can gain hands-on experience in
the printing industry.

Moreover, we believe happiness at work helps to improve staff
morale. During the Reporting Period, the Group has won the
“Happiness at Work Promotional Scheme 2021”.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt
green procurement practices by using printing ink that is made
of soybeans in our production. As compared to the traditional
Petroleum-based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly
and makes paper easier for recycle.

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such
as price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery
time, and payment terms, etc. For the number of our suppliers by
geographical region during the Reporting Period, please refer to the
section “Key Performance Indicators — B. Social — Supply Chain
Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”.

Every year, the Purchasing Department assesses the primary
suppliers of raw materials by filing in an evaluation report. The
assessment criteria include, but not limited to, incidents of goods
return, price fluctuation, delivery time, company background, and
stability of goods supply, etc. Besides, the Group maintains an
approved vendor list to include all qualified suppliers. For each
procurement order, the Group selects the suppliers from the
approved vendor list and requests two to three suppliers for price
quotations.

In addition, the Group requires the suppliers to declare if there
is any close personal or business relationship with the Group’s
directors, employees or agents. If any suppliers and contractors
are found guilty in breaching any legal requirements, the Group has
the right to terminate all outstanding contracts with the relevant
suppliers or contractors immediately, while the relevant supplier
or contractor is not able to recover any compensation or claim for
loss.

B AR REARE

EEEEESHETETRMNT
A

BPERZERELEMERNRRY
E-0m HMPBEBEETEARZEHX
B ENJR i B 3R AR € JRIB T % - L ER
MARmE AEHBEFRARYCHARE
Z B UL -

/

LS - B AP 45 A B2 4 L B 52 ) R IR AR AR
AEFREMNERER -RMCREHE
BRHERE ER X BE Emntf
RREREE KBENRBEF -sLREH
ARMES DNHEFRBRE M S F26H
[ERENEE-BHEe—HEREIEE
E-BARAEMISEBS] — &

RBAEFEHER —DABEREEEREN
BT EHEPETHGE FHEERRE

BTARNEER BRI B Q7
EELEMHENREMES BN KR

EERESBETAM EHhEEMAA
EREEE -IEBERBIE AKEHH
HeaRBEHTAMPHREME=—RHEERD
SRMELAELLE

oM AEEERFEEEERETELRE
EnEE REIRNEAFEMNEENL
AREBRRER - W E ) R KA BB K
BREREMEERE  NEBBELA
AP A R TERA 49 B AR BE 4 B R oK
BEB T EEARERRELIEBEERE-

2020/214E 4R eprint EEERAT 55



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE e lkEamsE

SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with laws
and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and PRC that have a significant impact on our business,
including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528) in
Hong Kong, Trademark Law of the PRC, the Copyright Law of the
PRC, the Rules of Protection on Information Network Dissemination
Rights in the PRC, and the Consumer Protection Act 1999 in
Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights.

For the orders placed by the customers at the retail shops or the
self-service platform or through the customer service hotline, the
Customer Service Department is responsible for checking the files
against infringement of intellectual property rights or any other
issues.

If the file to be printed is suspected of possible infringement of
intellectual property rights, the Group would not start printing unless
the customer can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual
property for verification. In case the customer fails to provide such
authorization/proof, the Group has the right to reject the order.

Moreover, the Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation
in respect of infringement of intellectual property rights arising from
printing of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substance such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list out the composition
of the ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink
manufacturers for our reference. The test reports show that no
hazardous components are contained in the printing ink.

If customers are not satisfied with the quality of the products
delivered, the staff of the retail shops have to conduct preliminary
assessment, and will pass the products to the Quality Control
Department for further checking, if necessary.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Product Responsibility (continuea)

If reprinting, discount or refund arises due to quality issue, the
retail shops would recall part of the products and send them to
the Quality Control Department for quality checking. A report
will then be prepared with information such as checking results,
the responsible department involved, and recommendations for
rectification, etc. clearly listed.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of product and service related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.

Privacy Matters

Due to the business nature, the Group has to collect personal
information from customers such as customers’ names, addresses,
telephone numbers, etc.

Nevertheless, all the personal information collected by the Group
is strictly used in accordance with relevant data privacy laws and
regulations.

The Group has also implemented several controls and measures for
protecting the personal data collected. For example, staff members
are required to sign a non-disclosure agreement upon employment
to state that they are not allowed to disclose any information
to unauthorized third parties. Besides, when the Group collects
personal data via the Group’s website, e.g. when customers
place orders through self-service platform, encryption technology
is adopted to protect the personal data from potential leakage.
Firewall has also been set up in the Group’s website to prevent
unauthorized access and abuse by third parties.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including, but not
limited to, Criminal Law of China, Anti-Money Laundering Law of
China, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong and the
Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

As stated in our “Anti-fraud Policy”, employees should promptly
report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are aware of any
suspected persons or events. Employees may report the suspected
fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or the department
manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g. telephone, or
formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. Full support from senior
management will be given to the employees reporting fraudulent
cases.

After the potential fraudulent cases have been reported,
investigation will be conducted with due care and the investigation
process will be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management
will take corrective action immediately.

Furthermore, the Group has established a guideline on gift receipt
to make it clear for employees to prevent corruption and bribery.
Upon receipt of gift, an employee has to make declaration to the
Group within 3 working days.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption case was noted and/or
reported. In addition, the Group arranged an anti-corruption training
for 49 staff on 19 March 2021.

Whistle-blowing policy

The Group has set up a whistle-blowing policy to provide
guidance for employees to report their concerns of any suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the Group.

In our workplace, in order to maintain a high standard of integrity
and impartiality, we encourage our employees to whistle-blow any
suspected corruption incidents and the whistle-blowers will remain
anonymous after the investigation report is issued.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Communication Channel

The Group has established internal staff complaint procedures
to ensure that proper channels are in place for employees to file
their complaints. If an employee would like to lodge a complaint,
he/she can report it directly to his/her department head. If he/she is
dissatisfied with the results, he/she can file complaints further to the
Human Resources Department.

Customer Service Department

The Group has established “Complaint Handling Procedures”
which stipulates the procedures for handling complaints received
from customers. Complaints received must be recorded in the
internal system and passed to senior staff or the Customer Service
Department for follow-up.

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within 3 working days. If more than 3 days of
investigation is required, the Group should at least make an interim
reply to the complainant. Furthermore, a final reply should be
made to the complainant within 7 days after the first interim reply.
However, in exceptional cases, if the investigation is still in progress,
the Group, should update the complainant about the investigation
status once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution

Our goal is to establish long-term relationships with organizations
that share the same philosophy as ours, and are willing to bring
social development to the community based on their mutual
assistance, respect and integrity.

Through cooperating with different organizations in the community,
employee voluntary service and donation, the Group is committed
to establishing positive impact in the following three areas:

Environmental education:

We work together with different agencies in order to reduce the
damage to the environment caused by our business operations.
We are also committed to raising the awareness of employees
about carbon reduction in the environment, and supporting
and sponsoring relevant institutions and initiatives to promote
environmental education.

During the Reporting Period, we cooperated with a number of
NGOs and tertiary institutions to organize various activities such as
red packets recycling and paper towel reduction scheme. As such,
we aspire to raise environmental awareness in the community.

Assistance to the disadvantaged groups:

We believe that everyone is equal. The spirit of mutual help
and mutual love is to make the society harmonious and help
develop the economy. We collect donations from employees
and business partners through various activities to help meet the
needs of the disadvantaged groups and improve the life quality
of the communities to which they belong. We also provide job
opportunities to the underprivileged groups.

During the Reporting Period, total 40 of our staff joined the Flag
Day 2020 held by SPCA Hong Kong on 8 August 2020, support
SPCA Hong Kong by raising the funds necessary to continue their
work.

Moreover, printing sponsorships were offered to various NGOs,
such as The Salvation Army and Shelter Society Services.
The sponsorships support the community initiatives in offering
assistance to the disadvantaged group.
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SOCiaI (Continued)

Community Contribution (continuea)

Cultivation of cultural creation:

Culture is an important milestone in the heritage of mankind and a
key part of historical testimony. Creation can inspire us to learn from
each other, leading to a more innovative thinking environment. With
respect to this, we support employees to organize different design
contests in order to widen the contestants’ creative horizons.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.
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Key Performance Indicators
Part A. Environmental

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.1 Source

BHUEE-
BRENERAL RR

Emission Data from Vehicles

BHERNHEREE

For the

year ended

31 March

2021

=

TE-F

=B=t+-§

EFE

Kilometres 107,260.0 km

travelled 107,260.02 2
BITRAE
Units of fuel
consumed

PRI B E L
Petrol 13,949.3 L
b 13,949.37
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For the

year ended

31 March
2020

Y
ZT-TF
ZA=1+—H
EFE
112,223.0 km
112,223.0~ 8

11,890.2 L
11,890.27+

BAREMER
-0 BE

Emission Type

3 il

Nitrogen
Oxides
=R )

Particulate
Matter
MRy g

Sulphur Oxides
k=R d=%)

(in grams)

(WAm&t)
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
Hz Hz
—T--F —TCTF
=A=+—H =ZA=1+—H
IEFERE IEFE
31,273.6 30,188.2
2,866.4 2,751.2
205.1 174.8
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER«

Part A. Environmental (continued) F—Ho BRE»

Emission Indicators

- KPI A1.2 Source Emission Type
REE-
HRENESEAL2 KR HHER
Total Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (in kilograms)
BERE ((RERR]) HHAE (RFRE)
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2021 2020 2021 2020
—T--F —TCTE —T--F i -3
=R=t—-H =ZA=t+-H =R=t—-H Z=ZA=t+-H
IEFE IEFE IEFE IEFE

Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources

BE - EEFHEAERKE

Scope 1b - Units of fuel
GHG Emissions consumed
from Mobile FrREMLRLE L
Combustion Sources
EE1b- RERHHA
BEAANEZE
REAH
Petrol 13,949.3 L 11,890.2L  Carbon Dioxide 37,770.1 26,806.9
i 13,949.37 11,80027  —&1bhix

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

BE2-EFEEEZERBEHN

Unit of Electricity 2,512,101.5 2,783,679.0  Carbon Dioxide 982,901.4! 1,789,691.6
Consumed KWh KWh  Z&{tHx
FTFEE AL E N 2,512,101.5 2,783,679.0
s T B
Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period: 1,020,671.5' 1,816,498.5

RESHAEEN —SREE:

i Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e. using consumption average of other months)

1 EHTREZ DL ABRRR (AMEREM AN Z FIERER)
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Key Performance Indicators (continued) FAREMIEE
Part A. Environmental (continueq) EF—WD BRE @

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.3 Source

FEREVESE-BRB|ENESRALS IR

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
HE HE
T —E_FF
=A=+—H =ZA=+—H
IEFE IEFE
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEERERYHEE (LAWEET)
Chemical Wastewater 1,106.500* 748.500!
fEIi57K
Cloths stained with chemicals 2.727 3.818
SRERNFEMH
Wasted Zinc 99.410 104.796
& &
Photograph Potions 11.247 10.073
A BEK
Isopropy! alcohol (IPA) 9.810 7.542
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 3.624 4.298
REE
Hazardous waste produced per tonne of product produced (in tonnes/tonne produced)
EEBMEREENEEEEY (LAFTE £ RIBEELET)
Chemical Wastewater 0.372 0.247"
fET557K
Cloths stained with chemicals 0.001 0.001
BHLBRMS TR
Wasted Zinc 0.033 0.035
Photograph Potions 0.004 0.0083
A 82K
Isopropy! alcohol (IPA) 0.003 0.002
2Rk
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) 0.001 0.001
BELE
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Key Performance Indicators (continue) FEREENIEE
Part A. Environmental (continued) E—WBD RE @

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators
- KPI A1.4

BRERZVEE-BRARESRA14

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March
2021 2020

B=E HE

—E-—fF —E-FF

=A=+—-A =ZA=t+—8~

IEFE IEFE
Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
EENEEEEYEE (LAMEET)
Paper 509.822 576.298
AR sk
Foam board 12.929% 33.697
YRR
Synthesized Paper 6.448" 56.072
B R
Lightbox Film 0.306% 30.163
R A8 E IR
Canvas 0.055*% 3.266
A
Sticker 12.886 13.542
Ah 4K
Non-hazardous waste produced per tonne of unit produced (in tonnes/tonne prodyced)
L EBMERMEENESEEY (DAFTEE A RO WE EX5T)
Paper 0.172 0.190
# 5k
Foam board 0.240 0.509
YRR
Synthesized Paper 0.204 0.536
B R
Lightbox Film 0.010 0.515
P A8 E IR
Canvas 0.031 0.408
A
Sticker 0.217 0.328
Ak 4%
e Due to the replacement of the printing machines, the water cannot be recycled, — *:  BHREREDFIH KT BERER Gk I)5
resulting in an increase in chemical wastewater. IKIE N e
# Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the daily operation in Malaysia was being ~ *: FARCOVID-19E % BFRATHAFTEZ T
adversely affected, hence the number of non-hazardous waste produced were THEE AEFEENESEZEYHEKNR
substantially decreased. WA e
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BERERER

F—Ho BRE®

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part A. Environmental «continueq)

Energy and Water Consumption
Indicators - KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2

ERRKERERE-BREX
ERA2 1K B REANIERA2.2 R

Source

For the year ended
31 March 2021

For the year ended
31 March 2020

BE_Z_—F BE_Z_ZF
“A=+—HBL%EE “A=+—HLEE
Total Consumption
HERE
Electricity 2,512,102 kWh' 2,783,679 kWh
e 2,512,102 F R B 2,783,679F FLEF
Water 3,847 cubic metres' 3,399 cubic metres'
K 3,847 15 K 3,399 7 K!
Consumption per unit produced
BENMELENERE
Electricity 740.32 kWh per tonne' 758.21 kWh per tonne
L 740.32F Iy B & g 758.21F LI & M
Water 1.13 cubic metres per tonne'  0.93 cubic metre per tonne'
7K 1,183 i K G W 0.9332 75 K Mg
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER«

Part A. Environmental (continued) F—Ho BRE»

Packaging Material Indicators -

KPI A2.5
BEMBHEE -BRENISRA2S5
Source Total Packaging Material Packaging material per tonne
iR used for Finished Products of product produced
A mTAERMBEE BHEMFIEENEEMB
(in tonnes) (in tonnes/tonne produced)
(LAWEET) (LARTEE £ RO WEERET)
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31 March 2021 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
BZE BZE BZE BHE
—T_-_—F —T_FF T —fF —TFF
—A=+—H —A=+—8H =—A=+—8H —A=+—H
IEEFE EEFE IEFE IEFE
Carton 0.82 0.82 0.0003 0.0003
i)
Plastic Box 3.02 3.96 0.0010 0.0013
BHR
Kraft Paper 7.68 7.09 0.0026 0.0023
FRAR
Paper Box 43.50 46.78 0.0146 0.0154
na
Transparent Wrap 4.40 4.74 0.0015 0.0016
FHER
Sealing Tape 0.70 0.96 0.0002 0.0003
4} 25
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B B REARE

Key Performance Indicators (continveq) FEARENIBE =
Part B. Social e (5 M

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1 As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020

EEEEZ - BRENISEB1 R=-B-—F=A=+—H R=ZE=-ZTEHF=H=+-—H

Employment

Total number of employees 299 312

BEAH

By gender
B 5

Male 188 195

Bt

Female 111 117
peg

By age group
BREERD

Below 18 0 0
183 A ™

18 t0 25 33 48
18& 2575

26 to 35 105 112
26E355%

36 to 45 64 57
36E458%

46 to 55 64 63
4BZE555%

56 to 65 33 32
56Z655%

By region
ZEZ D

Hong Kong 255 261
BB

PRC 25 28
Gl

Malaysia 19 23
5 i)

By Employment Type
ZIEBEE S

I?ermanent Staff 287 297
7—_K 7\ o] IL:E” }\ E

Contract Staff 12 15
ARAE

Part-Time Staff 0 0
FBAEB
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER«
Part B. Social (continued) E_EWo g

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Employment Indicators — KPI B1.2 31 March 2021 31 March 2020
BE-B-—F BE-2-%%

ERES-BARENIEEBL.2 ZA=Z+—-BLHFE ZA=+-BLHFE
Employee turnover
EERALE
Aggregate employee turnover rate 20% 37%
SHEERKLE
By gender
ZIME 5
Male 77% 70%
EeRid
Female 23% 30%
gegid
By age group
RER S
Below 18 2% 0%
18BR AT
18 to 25 27% 35%
18E255%
26 to 35 47% 29%
26E355%
36 to 45 13% 18%
36E455%
46 to 55 6% 16%
46ZE555%
56 to 65 5% 2%
56ZE655%
By region
REH S
Hong Kong 67% 88%
0
PRC 10% 2%
a3
Malaysia 23% 10%
P Nt
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RIE g hERmE

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Health and Safety Indicators
- KPI B2.1& KPI B2.2

RERZEESR-
BARENEREB2LIRBEREMIEEREB2.2

FARENIEEw
F_Bo g

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020

Fatality number

BTAH

Number of reportable injuries

AFTHREIGHE

Number of day lost

BRE KB

Development and Training Indicators
- KPI B3.1

BRERBIER -BEREREEB3A

Percentage of employees trained
EIEEB DL

By gender
P g Y b

Male
XL s

Female

it

By employee category
eSS HE 55

Entry level
NE

Middle level
HE

Management level
g
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BE-ZT=-—F%
ZA=t—-BLHFE
0

5

153

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021
BE-E=-—F

ZA=t+—-HLEHEE

74.9%

25.1%

64.7%

30.0%

5.3%

BE-S_-_2F
=A=+—HLEE
0

13

53

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020
BE—F—_%F

=R=t+t—HLFE

76.5%

23.5%

80.9%

18.2%

0.9%
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Key Performance Indicators (contineq BAREMER =
Part B. Social (continueq) E_EWo g

Development and Training Indicators For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
- KPI B3.2 31 March 2021 31 March 2020

BE-S-_—F BE-S_-_ZF
BRERIEIEE -BRENIEEBS.2 =A=1+t—HLEE =A=+t—BLEE

Total number of hours of internal 103.50 128.00
training received by employees

1 8 P 32 0 S0 35 S| Y 48 B B0

Average hours of training per employee

BEESFHEIEH

Average hours of training per
employee by gender
715 5 E e 18 B F 1515 3 i 2

Male 0.50 1.56
S
Female 0.50 1.35
M

Average hours of training per
employee by employment category

BB 5 7 & 618 S -F 155 3| b5 B

Entry level 0.50 1.03
AFI&

Middle level 0.50 1.46
T E

Management level 0.50 1.00
EIRE
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RE e ReEawmE

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part B. Social (continued)

Supply Chain Management Indicators
- KPI B5.1

HEEEEEESR - BREAREEBSA

Supplier management

HEEEE

Total number of suppliers

HEEAR

By region
HEZS

Hong Kong
0
PRC
el

Taiwan

Malaysia
SRS

Product Responsibility Indicators
- KPI B6.1& KPI B6.2

ERETEE-BEBENEE
B6.1% B8 848 M 1512 B6.2

Total No. of Products sold or shipped
CESEEXEREH

Total number of products subject

to recalls for safety and health reason

Hz2RREREACENERRAR

Total number of complaints received

2 IR R AR
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FARENIEEw
F_Bo g

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021
BE-ZT=-—F%

=BA=+—HLEE

146

105

25

14

For the Year Ended
31 March 2021

BE-Z2—-—F§
=ZA=+—-BHLEE
451,924

0

0

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020
BE-_Z_-%F

=B=+—HILEE

171

131

28

10

For the Year Ended
31 March 2020
BE-_Z2_FF

=RB=+t—HLFE
600,944
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RIE -nekEgams

Key Performance Indicators continue) FAREMIEE
Part B. Social continuea) Ty HE @)

Community Investment Indicators For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
- KPI B8.2 31 Mar 2021 31 Mar 2020

BE-S-_—F BE-E-_ZF
HEREREE-BERENEEBS.2 =A=1+t—HLEE =A=+t—HILEE

Resources contributed to education, 36,923 56,304
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport (Amount in HK$)

HHYE RE[E BBER -BF- -
REERNER (RBTE)

Corporate charitable activities 3 6
Hours spent on charitable activities

CEEREETDERETH AR

Employee volunteering 40 20
Number of employee volunteer

BEEXREDRERESEEAR
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX

Part A: Environmental

F—MD RE

ESG Aspects
RE -HEREREM

A1. Emissions

AlBEH Y

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws

and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

FRERMAZERBHR KRN BEX
BERRYVNELTNBRMNETHETABEAZEN
HEERIERNER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.
BRRAA IR IRA A R E R R ARRE B R

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BMREMEEAMAERBAENNE (UHTE) R (ER)EE
(MAGESBM FEKRHETE) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
E@iﬁz%?ﬂaTTM SELAAEEEYRE (UHETE) R (ER)
ZE (WASEEEMN FERMAH)

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BMBEREEAMATEERETEEZDES (CAEFE) R (WER)
HE(WUASESEMN SFERENHE)

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.

AREMERA SR ESFRENER LSRR -

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

BAREVEEAMGHIEEEERBERENN T = REEEEN
B RATEKR-
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EBX R
HEESIABR RS

Related Section(s)

HEEE

Environmental — Overview,
Compliance and Grievance,
Emissions

RE-HE
HER)

YGRS

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
R E B IR

— 82 RR

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
FRREBIRIR

__LB '\-E&

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
BREBIER

—%5 R

Key Performance Indicators
— Part A. Environmental
R E IE R

_4[; _\'E&

Environmental — Overview,
Emissions
RE-HE BB

Environmental — Total
Hazardous Wastes and
Non-Hazardous
Wastes & Results Achieved
by Mitigating Emissions

RE-AEEEDHEES
FEEY B E KRR
PIER1S B AR

2E HERE
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RE g RERME

EBXZARE HERE

WmEESIRRES| (2

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

IN DEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RE -HEREREM HEEEH S
A2. Use of Resources

A2. EREER

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Environmental -

water and other raw materials. Use of Resources
KR EA R BB o RE-BREA
i Key Performance Indicators —

EREXFERAER (BEER
Part A. Environmental

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
BRSRAE R IR —
F—F5RE

volume, per facility).

AREMIERAIRBRRE SN ERE KR KEEER

(E - |l e (UTRATERAE) REE
SR H) -

Key Performance Indicators —

(MABEE B
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility). Part A. Environmental
BREBIEEAEFEKERTE (WAGESEEM - B BRI —
BIERME) F—H5RE
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and Environmental — Direct/Indirect
results achieved. Usage of Electricity/Water
AR AR BB IR A2 St ML BE R E A st Bl R FT1E AR and Raw Materials
BE-B& HERE/
K R R
— Direct/Indirect

Environmental
Usage of Electricity/Water

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved
J and Raw Materials
RE-BE /HERE/

FAS A IR IR A2 AR ISR BUE A KR LRI B (£ A 78
KRR

Lx&kﬂ)ﬂm&mﬁiwﬁﬁ SRR -
— Packaging

Environmental

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced materials used for finished
RRE JZTE ZA2SRImTABEMRNRE (UEE) & products — Key Performance
(WER) SFEEBMIGE - Indicators — Part A.
Environmental
RE-SNmMARR
ME — R E N IEE—

E—%5  BF
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARGARE - HERE
INDEX (Continued) ﬁ%j:a §| |*_| ﬁ? '_E',l (%)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

RE HEREBRER HEEE 2

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources
A3. BERRKAER

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact Environmental — Direct/Indirect
on the environment and natural resources. Usage of Electricity/Water
BRAREBEREBETAURBERARERENERNZBNHBE and Raw Materials
RE-EE/HERE
K R R E
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities Environmental — Direct/Indirect
on the environment and natural resources and the actions taken Usage of Electricity/Water
to manage them. and Raw Materials
RRESERAIHAE B EHHRERRAERNEATE RE-EE /HERE
LRERBREEEBTENTE - IK R R
A4. Climate Change
Ad. RIREL
Paolicies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related Environmental —
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, Climate Change
the issuer. RE-RIREL
BEABSIREEERAEGHBETAEETZENERRBEHEBEED
BR e
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which Environmental -
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Climate Change
actions taken to manage them. RIR-RIEE(L

AREMEFMIBIEER RS ERTAELYENEARK
HEEFELRERREREREENTY-
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

RE HEREBER

R e RERRE

EBRXZRE -HERENR
BEESIRBRS =)

Remarks

s

Related Section(s)

MEEE

Part B. Social
FoW HE

B1. Employment
B1. &

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
ERHMRRE BELES TERH RE FTE#e Sk
FRBAR A R B A 55 38 R B M B BR BT B IT AR EATEN
MEERKERNER -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

MREMEEBIARER  BEEY FRAMNKREDNEE AR

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

REMIEZEBI2RUR  FRAN MR E DHEERKL K-

Social — Workplace,
The Group’s Team Profile
tHE-—TESM A5EE
BN

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social
AR A SRR —

Josg— RN
F_Hy g

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social
B 45 BRI —

FE_Ho e
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B B REARE

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARZFBE HEREAR

INDEX (continuea) iﬁ%;ﬁ' '_5',| W%‘i?\@l (#&)
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RE HERERER HEEES 2
B2. Health and Safety
B2. #EHE%Z 2
Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that ~ Social — Protecting Health
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe and Safety
working environment and protecting employees from rE-RERREZS

occupational hazards.
FARMZ2TERRIREEERABEMEENIER
BIHBETABEAXENERERRERNER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Key Performance Indicators —
BRERIEEB2 AR TIEEMIL T AL - Part B. Social
BB SRR —
F_HH:- e
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Key Performance Indicators
BREBIEEB22ATHBIEATHERH - ~ Part B. Social
B BB R IR —
B_Hrn g
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Social — Protecting Health
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. and Safety
ARG RIEIEB2. 3 PR R A B R R R 2 HEg-—REREREZZ

HENTRERTA-
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

RE HERERED

EBRZIR
ﬁ%hﬁmﬁiﬁﬁ)

R e RERRE

BoHERE

Related Section(s)
HEEEH

Remarks

s

B3. Development and Training
B3. &R R

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

ARARTHEE BT TIFRE M A B MR AL A BUR < S AIE B Ay s

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

BRERIEEBI R REERMN (NESREEE PREEE)
EonRIEEB -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category.

R EMIEEB32RIE A REEEAE S
TR

BAREERZIN

ESG Aspects

BRE HEREREM

Social — Development and
Training

HE-#RME

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
FRSR A IEIR
F_HH g

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

AR AR IEIR
—FE_%H e

Remarks

g

Related Section(s)

HEEE

B4. Labour Standards
B4. % T ¥ 8|

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BN IEE T K&l 55 TH R K8 F
HEERERERNER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

BRI BA. 15 4R T R R ) A0 S A B S B T R4 T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

RE S 4E B 1E B4 .21

HETANFERTEN

AR RIERASFRB RIS TR T -

Social — Zero Tolerance
HE-ZTRZ
Social — Zero Tolerance
HE-ZTAR
Social — Zero Tolerance
HE-TRR
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARGARE - HERE
INDEX (Continued) ﬁ%j:a '_Elpl W ﬁ? '_E',l (%)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks

B deREBER HEEE 2

B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. ftEEE R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Social — Aiming for More
ERAEHEMEENRBEREERRMOBUR Suppliers Complying with
Our Code of Conduct
HEe-—FEREESHE
BT HRMIT AT
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Key Performance Indicators
AR B AR R E N R SA - — Part B. Social
BAR A IER
—Hocite
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Social — Aiming for More
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, Suppliers Complying
how they are implemented and monitored. with Our Code of Conduct
MR AE B 1EBs 21 B I A At e e B 01 - m ELB1T A BIE Bl e HEe-5HREELHRE
HEREE AHEMNNNITRER A BEST M7 AT
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Social — Aiming for More
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Suppliers Complying
implemented and monitored. with Our Code of Conduct
B2 48 AN HE 12 B5 3t i A 70 3B Bl L FE S BV IR IR Jert @ R B 1B B He-—gHEREESHE
ARBRBEINRITRERT % B E TR AR
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Social — Aiming for More
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, Suppliers Complying
and how they are implemented and monitored. with Our Code of Conduct
BREYIEEBS AR AN BB HERRESHRRER KR He-gHREELHE
RAEEHEBIA R BRAERINRITRER A BETHRMHNTRTE
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects

RE HEREBER

EBARZR
WmEESIRRES| (2

R e RERRE

RE HERE

Remarks

s

Related Section(s)

MEEE

B6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmE{E

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and method of redress.

BEAMRHERNMBHEORERELZS BE SERMBEEUR
R ITENR R KRBT

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

RRENIEEB I CENCE EREmBETEL 2 ERREAMA
AEBAD -

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

FREMIEEBe 2R RN E R MR FH A AR EE X

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
AR EBUEIRBe St R B RRE M B EEEANED -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.

R AN IEBC AR EER T RERERBEERF-

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

HRERIEIEBeSHMEEE B RERLBEER  HERITR
BEREe

HEAT AR BAREIEMER AR AR -

Social — Product
Responsibility
He-EREMR

Key Performance Indicators
— Part B. Social
FRSR A IEIR
o HE

Key Performance Indicators
- Part B. Social

B AE e TT
—FE_%H e

Social — Product
Responsibility
He-EREfE

Social — Product
Responsibility
He-EREMR

Social — Privacy Matters
te-fEEE
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT ERARZFBE HEREAR

INDEX (continueq) ﬁ%;ﬁ' '_5',| W%‘i?\@l (%)
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RE - HEREREM HEEES g
B7. Anti-corruption
B7. R&ES
Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Social = Anti-corruption
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to He-RES

bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BERRE PR BFRARBNBRERETHETAGERTZEN
HEERLERNER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Social — Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period & - X &5
and the outcomes of the cases.

BREEEBT AN RS PNHETAIEEERLIEEED
BARARMNEE RFAER-

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Social — Whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Policy, Communication
MR AE IR IEBT 2t [ S i R BB T AT RERT A Channel, Customer

Service Department
He-—BRHEK BRRE

= R AP

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to Social — Anti-corruption

directors and staff. He-RES
BRERIEEBT MR EST NE TN REFE -
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RiE HERERER HEESH g
B8. Community investment
B8. Ht BR &
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of Social — Cultural Activities,

the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure Community Contribution

that its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. feg—bEE - tEER
B R2ERTRETAEEMEHREENBREER G

SERMHEMRABRK-
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Social — Community

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Contribution

MREMEEBAFIERMEBE (NHE REFRE SHFR RF He-dEFER
Xt -8E) -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Key Performance Indicators
BREVIEEBEZIBERMBAER (WS EREH) ~ Part B. Social
BREBIRR

Para Y R o
—FEW e
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R E) (“Mr. She”), aged 58, is the
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the
founder of the Group and has participated in the management
of the Group since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. She is
primarily responsible for the overall management, development and
planning of the Group and has over 22 years of experience in the
printing industry.

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (=) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 56, was
appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2013 and
was redesignated as an executive Director on 16 August 2019.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Chong has approximately 12
years of experience in corporate management. He was awarded
a diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing
for fulfilling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the
diploma examination held in June 1991. Mr. Chong also obtained
a certificate in marketing from Vocational Training Council in June
1989 and a higher certificate in electronic engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (R#&H) (“Mr. WM Leung”), aged 49, is
a non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM
Leung has over 12 years of experience in the marketing field.

Mr. Li Lu (Z§) (“Mr. Li”), aged 38, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 19 November 2020. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in management from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in July
2005 and a master’s degree in economics from Fudan University
in June 2008 and passed the Chinese sponsor representative
exam. He is currently the assistant vice president of the investment
department of Shantou Dongfeng Printing Co., Ltd. (stock code:
601515; a company listed on the main board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange and a substantial shareholder of the Company (as
defined in the Listing Rules). Mr. Li had worked in CITIC Securities
South China Company Limited (formerly known as Guangzhou
Securities Company Limited), China Industrial Securities Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 601377; a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange), ZZ Capital Co., Ltd. and Guangdong Kaijin New Energy
Technology Co., Ltd.

EENEREEEZBE

HITES

RBEEE(TREE]) 658K £/F-
WITEERTHAH - RANEENEIH
ANMBZZEE-F+AB2EEELRE
B-REERBAEEETHBRARNESER
FHZEERRZE@RBZKE R
EETRREASENBERERE ZERK
BB WEERB22F H R &85 -

HEHEE([HEE]) 56 R
T+ - ARZERIERTESY
RZF-AFNATABRESRTE
E RN _TTRAFMALREEH FERAE
EEXEBETEERDI2F&ER - RN
—AA—FRNABRNEZEA T ED
RAMBEEEENER WESSR
BMBEXNB-HEETR -NANANLFER
ABRBREIRBNMBEFE IR
—ANEF+—-ARBELEE T EMk (R
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EENEREEEHE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (GE# R E ) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 63, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 August
2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Poon has over 32 years of experience in printing.
He has served several large-scale companies in printing solutions
industry.

Mr. Fu Chung (f82&) (“Mr. Fu”), aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Fu
has over 27 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit (FJKA) (“Mr. Ma”), aged 51, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 30 December 2016. He
is also the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ma had obtained
a bachelor’'s degree in business (accountancy) from Queensland
University of Technology, Australia in 1993. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma is
currently the company secretary of China Boton Group Company
Limited (formerly known as China Flavours and Fragrances
Company Limited; stock code: 3318), a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ma had worked in accounting
firms and different enterprises. He is a seasoned professional in
accounting with over 21 years of relevant experience.

Senior Management

Mr. Mok Chun Wa (E#& %) (“Mr. Mok”), aged 35, is the
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2012. Mr. Mok has over 11 years of experience
in accounting, audit and corporate finance and is responsible for
the financial planning, management, internal control and company
secretarial matters of the Group. He had obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business (accountancy) from Hong Kong Baptist
University and a master’'s degree of corporate governance from
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Mok is a fellow of The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrator). He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Chan Wai Keung (BR{fZ3&) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 53, is the
general manager. Mr. Chan joined the Group in December 2011.
He is primarily responsible for formulating the corporate strategies
and planning the business development of the Group. Mr. Chan has
over 12 years of experience in the printing industry. He served as
a sales manager in Wilson Printing Equipment Limited from August
2001 to July 2009.

Mr. Tsui Pak Wai (#&4HZ) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 53, is the chief
administrative officer. He joined the Group in 2006. Mr. Tsui is
primarily responsible for the internal control, formulating the
corporate policy and workflow, monitoring the daily operation of
the human resources department and administrative department
and participating in brand building activities of the Group. He
has over 12 years of experience in the corporate administration
and management. Mr. Tsui has been a member of the Industry
& Technology Committee of Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce since July 2015, a member of Hong Kong Securities
and Investment Institute since January 2015. He was awarded the
graduate executive diploma in Finance and Corporate Accounting
in March 2016 and the graduate executive diploma in PRC
corporate governance from the University of Hong Kong School
of Professional and Continuing Education in November 2014 and
bachelor of arts from Fu Jen Catholic University in June 1997.

Mr. Cheang Ngai Wang (% %) (“Mr. Cheang”), aged 58, is
the information technology director. Mr. Cheang joined the Group in
December 2004. He has over 12 years of experience in the printing
industry.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHG

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for FY2020/21.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of printing services and
solutions on advertisement, bound books and stationeries, to a
diversified customer base in Hong Kong.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators and future development in the Company’s business
of the Group for FY2020/21 are discussed under the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis”. Such discussion forms an integrate part of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 36 to 82
of this annual report.
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Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Potential non-compliance with the Occupational Safety &
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “OSHO”) and the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance
(Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “ECO”)

Due to the nature of the business operations, production workers
are involved in the use of manufacturing facilities and may get
injured at work easily. However, the Group may be penalized or
asked for claims in any of the following cases:

(1)

If the Group fails to provide and maintain a safe working
environment and the employee suffers from a workplace
accident, the Group will be liable on conviction to a fine of
HK$200,000 and to imprisonment for 6 months (s6 of the
OSHO).

If the Group purchases a policy of insurance less than the
applicable amount, the Group will be liable on conviction
upon indictment to a fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to
imprisonment for 2 years; and on summary conviction to a
fine at level 6 (HK$100,000) and to imprisonment for 1 year,
according to the ECO (s40 of the ECO).

In the case of a workplace accident, the Group would be
subject to, but not limited to, the employees’ compensation
claims, the common law personal injury claims and the
lawsuit brought by the employees.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response

The Group has established an internal health and safety policy
which provides guidelines on work safety for the employees (e.g.
workplace environment and machine operations).

The Group has also set up a safety committee which conducts
a quarterly review on the existing controls on the occupational
safety of workplace and makes recommendations, if applicable.
In general, the improvement actions will be taken shortly. We also
analyse the reported incidents of employee’s work injury and
provides training sessions to the respective workers regarding the
occupation safety and health.

In addition, the safety protection materials (e.g. ear plugs for ear
protection) have been provided by us for the production workers,
according to the advice from the Labor Department of Hong
Kong.

During the year, no work injuries have been recorded.
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Risk Description T B 4 it

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Currently, even though the Group operates principally in Hong
Kong which its business transactions are primarily denominated in
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), the Group is expanding its business
to overseas markets (e.g. Malaysia) and China at the same time.
As such, the Group’s business transactions (e.g. receipts for
provision of services, operating fund transfer) are denominated
in foreign currencies e.g. the United States Dollars (‘USD”),
Malaysian Ringgit (‘MYR”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).

In addition, the IT and Accounting support services centre is
located in the PRC. Therefore, the Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from the exposure of RMB against HKD.

In this respect, the volatility of the exchange rates between
foreign currencies and HKD (the Group’s functional currency) may
create substantial foreign exchange risk due to the fluctuations of
exchange rates of foreign currencies.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response

The financial department keeps close monitoring of the fluctuations
of foreign currencies.

Under the accounting matching principle, the Group adopted
natural hedge to mitigate the foreign exchange risk, for example,
settling payments denominated in MYR by the revenue earned in
MYR, while settling payments denominated in RMB through RMB
bank accounts and cash maintained by the Group.
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Risk Description

Increase in labour cost

According to the statistics reported by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the average wage of an employee in the
manufacturing sector in China had increased from RMB77,649
p.a. in 2017 to RMB78,142 p.a. in 2018. Therefore, the increase
in labor cost may indirectly upsurge the subcontracting cost of
the Group since the call centre service and over 50% printing
production have been outsourced to the enterprises in China.

At Hong Kong side, labor cost increases when more headcount is
needed for the expanding business and giving high pay to attract
competent youngsters who are generally less willing to enter into
the manufacturing/production/printing industries.

As a result, the potential risk of an increase in labor cost in both
China and Hong Kong regions cannot be minimised.

8 TR A48 i

BEFBEBERFTROATRE FRR
BEEMEBEIFHFHFH-_T—EFHA
RET7649TLENE —_T— \FHARKE
78,1427C c At - FRAFE AL AR 0 BR 7 K B 4R
50%ERIEES R FHREMNGE BT
AR M EMEENAEEND B
BN o

HEE BEXBERMATEOAFHER:
BN E®HKAR S| — R FEE NS
SEEERIITTERRNNEE  #imiE
mEB TR

Bt - o8 i 85 T A AN E 00 B A AL B
BRI R RIK -

2020/215 % eprint EEARAT 89



Report of the Directors
EXgWmE

Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)

ERE R
FERRBRETREERZE )
BB FE ¥

‘

Risk Response

Management monitors the labor cost of the Group regularly and
also forecasts that the rise in labour cost can be compensated by
the depreciation of RMB and the automated production in both
Hong Kong production base and the subcontracted factory.

With the inception of the advanced printing technologies, the
Group’s manufacturing process has already highly automated. The
Group has also recruited over 25 IT talents to ensure its printing
technology can be developed in an ongoing manner.

Therefore, the Group considers the risk of labor shortage and
rising costs do not have a significant impact on the normal
operations.
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Risk Description

Reduction of market demand

Other than traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising
and telemarketing, the Web becomes a must-use daily medium
today.

Various inexpensive advertising media have grown rapidly,
including pay-per-click advertising; online banner advertising
that entails the display of a graphical advertising unit, etc., and
social media advertising such as Youtube, Twitter, Facebook,
LinkedIn that are the other kind of media to promote customer
relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent
years and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales
performance.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueqd)
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Risk Response

Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market
demand for business communication materials such as brochures,
rack cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional
functions is still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition
to traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had started to explore other
possible product lines to diversify the types of services offered.
Examples include variables printing, promotion gifts market, leaflet
distribution services, etc.
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Business Review (continueq)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 36 to 82 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 128 to 243.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2020/21 (FY2019/20: nil).

Donations

During FY2020/21, the Group made HK$36,923 charitable and
other donations (FY2019/20: HK$56,804).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2021 annual general meeting of the Company (the “2021
AGM”) will be held on Friday, 13 August 2021.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the Shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the 2021 AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 9 August
2021 to Friday, 13 August 2021, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer of shares
accompanied by the relevant certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 6 August 2021.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for
FY2020/21 are set out in Note 26 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2020/21.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) (the “Companies Law”) of the Cayman Islands, amounted
to approximately HK$154,000,000. Under the Companies Law,
the share premium account of the Company of approximately
HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2021 is distributable to the
Shareholders provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend, if any, is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 244.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Wai Ming
Mr. Cai Qiang (resigned on 19 November 2020)

Mr. Li Lu (appointed on 19 November 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung
Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. She Siu Kee William,
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki and Mr. Ma Siu Kit shall retire by rotation at the
2021 AGM and, being eligible, offered themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to article 112 of the Articles, Mr. Li Lu was appointed on
19 November 2020 and he is subject to re-election at the 2021
AGM and, being eligible, offered himself for re-election.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares

As at 31 March 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares (the
“Shares”), underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO”)), which were notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation

() The Company

§$&igﬁﬂlkéﬂ’ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬂg

R-_ZTE-_—F=ZA=+—H AQAAESE
REEITHRABRAR R KA
(EERBBEPETIEEFRBPE
Bl (TEHFREBEKOL) EXVE) RSB
(M)  HEBRNDRESFPHEBER
BEENMEEIGEHEXVIEEETNRSD BB
MARBRBMRAANERIAR (BER
1555 %5 & BB E 16 B AR B8 16 ST i AR 1E 3k
EERENEZIAR) HRBEZFEHFK
BB G 35216 BE R EZIEFT M &
- AR FIZESF A A B A AR R B
RETHER SRR T

Approximate

Number of  percentage of
Long position/ ordinary shares shareholding in
Name of Director Nature of interest short position held the Company
BE  RE2IFIER
Exps By e/ %R EBEREE BAE D
Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam  Beneficial owner Long position 1,584,000 0.29%
KRBEESE ERBEAA TE
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1) Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
AR (M) "E
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
HEHES AR (M) HE
Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 712,000 0.13%
Bk (Ma2) HE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%

RERARLE REbl AR (M)
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continueq)

() The Company (Continued) (i)

Notes:

1.

313,125,000 Shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held as
t0 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She Siu Kee
William (“Mr. She”), Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (“Mr. Chong”), Mr. Lam Shing
Kai (“Mr. Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming (“Mr. WM Leung”) and Mr. Leung
Yat Pang (“Mr. YP Leung”) (collectively, the “Concerted Shareholders”)
respectively. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, each of Mr. She,
Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to
jointly control their respective interests in the Company. Accordingly,
eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint
instructions of the Concerted Shareholders. Hence, each of the
Concerted Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Mr. Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 Shares held by his
spouse, Ms. Yip Fei.

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited

1. eprint Limited§ £313,125,0008% % 15 °
eprint Limited AR ABEL A ([REED)
Hedis (HEE]) MEELEE
(THREE])  REFERHEE(TRBEFHE
ENRR-BERE(TR-MBEE]D (&
BI—TBHRE]) D AFHFE21.62%
21.62% 21.62% ~ 21.62% [ 13.52% 1%
HoRBERARE RAEE -HAE MK
S REREERR-BAEESE
AELEZEHKEES BN AR B ER -
At - eprint Limited |8 B 1R B —BITE R
RHBIERTE AL BIEFH K
B0 & —BATE R R 18 B R eprint
Limited FT#% A FT A IR 10 R A ok o

2. HEAEBEARERBERZIBAMN
712,0008% B 17 R A #E 2= o

(i) #BEE%LE- eprint Limited

Number of Approximate

ordinary Shares percentage of

held in the shareholding in

Associated the Associated

Name of Director Nature of interest Corporation Corporation

R EBER

EspnE BB

Mr. She Beneficial owner 2,162 21.62%
RELE Em#EAA

Mr. Chong Beneficial owner 2,162 21.62%
HEE Em#EAA

Mr. WM Leung Beneficial owner 2,162 21.62%
RERLEE EmEAA
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continuea)

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited (Continued)

Note: The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the
controlling Shareholder of the Company, which is owned by Mr. She,
Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung in the respective
proportions of 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as at 31 March 2021.

Interests in Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of the
then shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The Scheme
is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible Participants (as
defined in the prospectus of the Company dated 20 November
2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may have made to the Group.
Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to subscribe of new Shares in aggregate not
exceeding 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme (continued)

The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised as follows:

1

The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme(s) of
any member of the Group must not exceed 10% of the issued
Share as at the listing date of the Company (i.e. 3 December
2013) (the “Listing Date”) (which was 50,000,000 Shares)
unless approval of the Shareholders has been obtained, and
which must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time. As at the date of this report, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is
50,000,000 Shares, which represents 9.09% of the issued
Shares as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and which may be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares as at the date
of grant.

The subscription price for the Shares under the options to
be granted under the Scheme will be a price determined by
the Board at the time of grant of the options, and will be not
less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a
Share.
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Interests in Share Options (continueq)

Share Option Scheme (continuead)

(4) An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme at any time during a period to be notified
by the Board to each Eligible Participant (as defined in the
Prospectus) who accepts the grant of any options, which
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
(subject to acceptance) of the option.

(6) HK$1.00 is payable by the Eligible Participant (as defined
in the Prospectus) who accepts the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

(6) The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date.

Other details of the Scheme are set out in the Prospectus.

No share option under the Scheme has been granted by the
Company since its adoption and up to the date of this report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Group, or existed during FY2020/21.

Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 March 2021, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to be
notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

100 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21

B G AR S e
BRESTE 2

(4) BRETRESSBNSEMART
FHERENSEKRLEAE (TR
RAKRER)MBER (TEBARN
Bl (nEM)EBRE105F)/
ER B RR IR ZET & 2 & RIT(E -

(6) MIRFZAT SR &M E X B HE
ZREARSEE (ERRBHRER)
A B A X B B AROHE B 32 191.00
AT

6) ZABRETHEBEFTFAAR
R R e

ZATEMEMFBIIHNBERERZT -

BRAZTEEREEARERH AR
B EAR AR % AT B AT (] B AL

R HEE 900 15 R

Bk EX TR #ERT & EEfpT i BB & 41
AEBR_T_T /U ERFEHRE
&) 3L Bk 77 AR B M 8 1hh 2% o

TERRRAMAL ZREE

m

R_E_—F=A=+—RH BE=M
HUATALT(FEBREARAEZTRTE
TTRAB) AR R M ABRE A o
BEAREESF MY E G EXVEEFE2M3
DEAGARARFRCRBEES LBE K

N

15 35 3365 4 7E 1877 0B 32 1 70 32 8% W
HAKA -



Report of the Directors
EEgWmE

Substantial Shareholders and Other FERRREMA LT ZRGDE
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq) 15 )

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying RAORHEEROVEZIAR
Shares

Number of
ordinary Approximate
Shares/  percentage of

Long position/ underlying shareholding in

Nature of interest short position Shares held the Company

g ERHE RERXFEFR

Bt E Be/ % /HERBEA BRBED L

eprint Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
eprint Limited (Ff&E1) ExnEBA HE

Mr. Lam (Note 2) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
I (HiEE2) ERERA )

Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 3) Interest of spouse Long position 314,709,000 57.22%
ES Rzt (M:Es) [T )

Ms. Yip Fei (Note 4) Beneficial owner Long position 712,000 0.13%
Rt (HsE4) ERERBA )

Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
fo@iEas )

Ms. Yu Siu Ping (Note 5) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
et (MEs5) foBiEa )

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 6)  Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
BB Az L (H36) fo@iEs )

Mr. Huang Xiaopeng (Note 7)  Interest of controlled corporation Long position 61,875,000 11.25%
EEELE (MEET) REHEB#ES )

Mr. Huang Xiaojia (Note 7) Interest of controlled corporation Long position 61,875,000 11.25%
EmERELE (M) REHEB#ES )

Mr. Huang Bingwen (Note 7)  Interest of controlled corporation Long position 61,875,000 11.25%
BIASCE A (MEET) REHEB#ES )
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continued)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying

Shares (Continued)

Hong Kong DFP
Investment Company
Limited (formerly known as
Hong Kong Tung Fung
Investment Company
Limited) (‘Hong Kong
DFP”) (Note 7)
EEREAREEEERAA
(REERAKRE
ARAR) (IEBRA])
(Pt E7)

Shantou Dongfeng Printing
Co., Ltd. (“Shantou
Dongfeng”) (Note 7)

IR R EDRIAR 2 B IR 2 7]

(MDLEERRD)
(Pf&E7)

Hong Kong Luck Investment
Company Limited
(“Hong Kong Luck
Investment”) (Note 7)
EERRBRBEERAT
([BBREERED
(Bt EE7)

Mr. YP Leung (Note 8)
2—WE 54 (HizEs)
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Nature of interest

BEME

Interest of controlled corporation

SR M S

Interest of controlled corporation

et EEER

Beneficial owner

Interest of controlled corporation
XEHEEER
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Number of

ordinary

Shares/

Long position/ underlying

short position Shares held

L ERHE

/HEBRAEA

Long position 61,875,000
)

Long position 61,875,000
)

Long position 61,875,000
)

Long position 313,125,000

e

BOREBERONERZIXE o)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company
RAD B R
BRBESL

11.25%

11.25%

11.25%

56.93%



Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares (continueq)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1.

eprint Limited is directly interested in 313,125,000 Shares, representing
approximately 56.93% of the issued Shares. eprint Limited is held as to
21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She, Mr. Chong,
Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung respectively. Pursuant to the
Deed of Confirmation, each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung
and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to jointly control their respective interests
in the Company. Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in
accordance with joint instructions of the Concerted Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. Lam, a former executive Director
who retired on 16 August 2019, is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She. Under the SFO, Ms. Lo Suet Yee
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. She is
interested.

Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Fei is taken to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Chong is interested.

Ms. Yu Siu Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yu Siu Ping
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lam is
interested.

Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. WM Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chau
Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which
Mr. WM Leung is interested.

These 61,875,000 Shares are held by Hong Kong Luck Investment, which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shantou Dongfeng, an A share company listed
on the main board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Shantou Dongfeng is
54.40% held by Hong Kong DFP and 1.11% held by Mr. Huang Xiaojia. Hong
Kong DFP is owned as to 34% by Mr. Huang Xiaopeng, 33% by Mr. Huang
Xiaojia and 33% by Mr. Huang Bingwen. Under the SFO, each of Shantou
Dongfeng, Hong Kong DFP, Mr. Huang Xiaopeng, Mr. Huang Xiaojia and
Mr. Huang Bingwen is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Hong Kong Luck Investment is interested.

Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. YP Leung is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any
other persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the
register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of
the SFO as at 31 March 2021.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. She, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed service
agreement with the Company on 24 June 2020 for a term of three
years with retrospective from 13 November 2019. Mr. Chong,
an executive Director, has entered into a service agreement
dated 16 August 2019 with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 16 August 2019. Each of Mr. She and
Mr. Chong may receive a discretionary bonus, the amount of which
will be determined by reference to the recommendations of the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. WM Leung has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company on 24 June 2020 for a term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 13 November 2019.

Mr. Li has signed a letter of appointment dated 19 November 2020
issued by the Company for a term of three years commencing from
19 November 2020.

Mr. Poon has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by

the Company on 15 August 2019 for a further term of three years
commencing from 15 August 2019.
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Directors’ Service Contracts continved)

Mr. Fu has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 24 June 2020 for a further term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 8 March 2020.

Mr. Ma has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 24 June 2020 for a further term of three years
commencing with retrospective from 30 December 2019.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2021 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note 34 to
the financial statements for FY2020/21, no significant transaction,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or at any time during
the year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having
made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that
all Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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Connected Transactions

The Group has connected transactions with the following connected
persons during FY2020/21.

Connected Persons

1. CTP Limited (“CTP”)

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,
25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by an
independent third party, respectively.

2. Promise Properties Limited (RFBRYEGR LD T)
(“Promise Properties”)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by an independent third party.

3. VVV Limited (“VVV”)

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by
Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by an
independent third party, respectively.

4. Profit More Rich Limited (B2 E Z AR 2 7)) (“Profit
More”)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is wholly-owned by CTP.

5. King Profit International Limited (Z X/ BB ER A7)
(“King Profit”)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property

investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
70% by VWV and 30% by Mr. Yip Chi Man.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Connected Persons (continued)

6.

Wilson Printing Equipment Limited ( & 15 EN Rl 5% & & R
A7) (“Wilson Printing”)

Wilson Printing is principally engaged in the business of
trading of printing equipment and printing materials, and
is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Lam Shing Tai
(“Mr. Lam ST”), the brother of Mr. Lam, one of the Controlling
Shareholders and a former executive Director who retired on
16 August 2019.

Wilson (Hong Kong) Limited (R 2 (F#8)BR A T)
(“Wilson HK”)

Wilson (HK) is principally engaged in the business of trading
of printing machineries and spare parts, and is beneficially
owned as to 65% by Mr. Lam ST.

(1) Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung are the Directors
and (2) Mr. YP Leung are substantial shareholders of the
Company, and they are Controlling Shareholders. The above
companies are associates of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. WM
Leung and Mr. YP Leung, and hence they are considered as
connected persons of the Company under Rule 14A.12 of the
Listing Rules.

Sun Cheong Paper Trading Limited (formerly known
as Sun Cheong Paper Development Limited) ( 7 & #
¥XEZHMRAT) (ABHEAERRERAE) (“Sun
Cheong”)

Sun Cheong is principally engaged in the supply and sales of
paper and is owned as to approximately 50% by Mr. Li Cham
Kuen (“Mr. CK Li"), father of Mr. Li Jian Hua (“Mr. JH Li"). Mr.
JH Li was a former director of e-banner Limited (“e-banner”)
who resigned on 4 September 2019, a 51% owned subsidiary
of the Company. Therefore, each of Mr. CK Li, Mr. JH Li and
Sun Cheong is a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level during 1 April 2020 to 4 September 2020.
Accordingly, each of Mr. CK Li, Mr. JH Li and Sun Cheong
ceased to have connected relationships with the Company
after 4 September 2020, being 12 months after the resignation
date of Mr. JH Li.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Tenancy agreements

Background

(a)

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 25 February 2019, fifteen tenancy agreements were
entered into between CTP, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
Limited (“Lucky Gainer”) and e-banner as tenants, under
which CTP agreed to lease a number of properties located in
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer and e-banner,
with a total saleable area of 22,635 square feet for use as
offices, workshops, stores and car parks. The monthly rentals
payable to CTP for the three years ending 31 March 2022 are
approximately HK$438,604, HK$465,000 and HK$493,000
respectively (exclusive of government rent, management fees
and other utilities outgoings which are payable by the relevant
tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to CTP for FY2020/21 was
approximately HK$5,580,000.

Tenancy agreements relating to Promise Properties

On 25 February 2019, four tenancy agreements were entered
into between Promise Properties, as landlord, and Lucky
Gainer, as tenant, under which Promise Properties agreed to
lease a number of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre to Lucky Gainer with a total saleable area of 7,005
square feet for use as workshops. The monthly rentals
payable to Promise Properties for the three years ending
31 March 2022 are approximately HK$140,900, HK$149,300
and HK$158,200 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to Promise
Properties for FY2020/21 was approximately HK$1,791,600.

108 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21

HE W=

(@) HARACTPHMEE R
RZEBE-NEZAZ JriiEI CTP
(T’EZ%%I)EEHE%%BE CIRQ::
%J)&e—banner({’ﬂ%ﬁﬁ)%ﬂ
THHEEWHRE B CTPRE

A % Ke-bannerE A Z AR E
%I%EP/UE’J%%{H%%QE T
A

&l

“REENRFESRE BF
Eﬁzz B35FHFR-BE—_FT - —
FZA=Z+—HLEZ=ZRAFEZEH
CTPA M & % Al 4 /438,604 7T
465,000/ 75&493,000,% T (T8

EEEAFENERAES EE2E
FEMARAZEER) R_T =
T/ HRFEDLMNCTPHEL 42
%849 55,580,000/ JT °
EHERERYENEER R

\_a—ﬂﬁiﬂi‘hﬁﬁ'ﬁfﬁ%ﬁ
ME (ER¥XE)HEER (EAHEF)
FINMHEERZE B RERY
¥AEMHEZEAZEAMNAEET
¥ LM MEREISRE BE
FAEE7,006F FR-BE_ZT -
FZA=+—BHUL=ZAFEREMR
FHREMEAEL D R4 /140,900
JC ~ 149,3007% 7T & 158,200/ 7T (1~
PBREAEAPENBNEES EBEBR
HtW AAXRBEBR) R_E_F
T UBRFEENRERDERS
EE 4 51,791,600 7T ©



Connected Transactions continveq)

Tenancy agreements (Continued)

Background (Continued)

(c)

Tenancy agreements relating to VVV

On 25 February 2019, three tenancy agreements were
entered into between VVV, as landlord, Lucky Gainer and
Promise Network, as tenants, under which VVV agreed to
lease a number of properties located in Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre to Lucky Gainer for use as workshops and a car park
and one property in Chai Wan to Promise Network for use as
a store, with a total saleable area of 6,995 square feet. The
monthly rentals payable to VWV for the three years ending
31 March 2022 are approximately HK$185,000, HK$196,100
and HK$207,900 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the relevant tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to
VWV for FY2020/21 was approximately HK$2,353,200.

Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 25 February 2019, a tenancy agreement was entered into
between Profit More, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer, as tenant,
under which Profit More agreed to lease a property located in
Kwun Tong Industrial Centre to Lucky Gainer with a saleable
area of 2,895 square feet for use as a workshop. The monthly
rentals payable to Profit More for the three years ending
31 March 2022 are approximately HK$60,000, HK$63,600
and HK$67,400 respectively (exclusive of government rent,
management fees and other utilities outgoings which are
payable by the tenant). The aggregate rentals paid to Profit
More for FY2020/21 was approximately HK$763,200.

Tenancy agreement relating to King Profit

On 25 February 2019, two tenancy agreements entered
into between King Profit, as landlord, and Lucky Gainer
and Promise Network, as tenants, under which King Profit
agreed to lease a property and a car park located in Kwun
Tong Industrial Centre to the tenants with a total saleable
area of 1,820 square feet for use as an office and car park.
The monthly rentals payable to King Profit for the three
years ending 31 March 2022 are approximately HK$40,500,
HK$42,900 and HK$45,500 respectively (exclusive of
government rent, management fees and other utilities
outgoings which are payable by the tenant). The aggregate
rentals paid to King Profit for FY2020/21 was approximately
HK$514,800.

(collectively, the “2019 Tenancy Agreements”).
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Tenancy agreements (Continued)
Background (Continued)

Based on the monthly rental, the aggregate rental under the 2019
Tenancy Agreements will be approximately HK$33,047,000. The
estimated value of right-of-use assets to be recognised by the
Company is approximately HK$31,778,000. The transactions
contemplated under the 2019 Tenancy Agreements constituted
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and are subject to reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements (which was
approved by the independent Shareholders on 6 April 2019).

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

The following connected transactions constitute non-exempt
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Master Supply Agreement
Background

(@ On 25 February 2019, Wilson Printing and Wilson HK
(collectively, the “Sellers”) and the Company entered into
a master supply agreement (the “2019 Master Supply
Agreement”) for a term of three years commenced from
1 April 2019 and ending on 31 March 2022, pursuant to
which Wilson Printing and Wilson HK agreed to supply
the ink products, zinc printing plates, printing solutions,
consumables of printing machines and printing machine spare
parts (the “Products”) and provide the provision of printing
machine maintenance services (the “Services”) to the Group
for production and operation of the printing business of the
Group. Pursuant to the 2019 Master Supply Agreement, the
price of the Products and the Services shall be based on the
latest selling price of similar products from an independent
third party or service fees as quoted by other independent
service providers; or the prices agreed between the Group
and the Sellers from time to time after arm’s length negotiation
and are comparable to market prices of similar products and
services.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

Master Supply Agreement (Continuead)

Background (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the
Group for the supply of the Products and the Services
under the 2019 Master Supply Agreement for FY2020/21 is
HK$13,472,000. The actual fees paid/payable by the Group
under the 2019 Master Supply Agreement for FY2020/21 was
HK$7,111,192.

On 15 June 2018, Promise Network and Sun Cheong entered
into a master supply agreement (the “2018 Master Supply
Agreement”) for a term of three years commenced from 1 April
2018 and ended on 31 March 2021, pursuant to the 2018
Master Supply Agreement, Sun Cheong agreed to supply and
Promise Network agreed to purchase various types of paper
as set out in the 2018 Master Supply Agreement (the “Paper
Products”). The purchase price of the Paper Products shall be
determined on:

(i)  the latest selling price of similar products from other
independent third parties; and

(i)  the prices to be agreed between Promise Network
and Sun Cheong from time to time after arm’s length
negotiation and are comparable to market prices of
similar products as set out in (a) above.

The annual cap amounts of the fees to be paid by the Group
for the purchase of the Paper Products under the 2018
Master Supply Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2021
is HK$22,500,000. The actual fees paid/payable by the Group
under the 2018 Master Supply Agreement for the year ended
31 March 2021 was approximately HK$4,696,000 (which was
calculated up to 4 September 2020, being the date when
each of Mr. CK Li, Mr. JH Li and Sun Cheong ceased to have
connected relationships with the Company).
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

1. inthe ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

3. have been carried out in accordance with the terms of the
agreements governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unmodified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Company confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
in relation to the continuing connected transactions.

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for FY2020/21
are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
Some of those transactions constituted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions and have complied with the
relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. Lam, Mr. WM Leung and
Mr. YP Leung (together, the “Covenantors”) entered into the deed of
non-competition in favour of the Company on 13 November 2013
(the “NCU”), pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken
to the Company (for itself and for the benefit of each of the
members of the Group) that, with effect from the Listing Date and
for as long as the Shares remain so listed on the Stock Exchange
and the controlling Shareholders are individually or collectively with
any of his/its associates interested directly or indirectly in not less
than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company
(the “Restricted Period”), the Covenantors or their respective
associates shall not, (i) directly or indirectly engage in, participate or
hold any right or interest in or render any services to or otherwise
be involved in any business (whether as owner, director, operator,
licensor, licensee, partner, shareholder, joint venturer, employee,
consultant or otherwise) in competition with or likely to be in
competition with the existing business carried on by the Group
(the “Restricted Business”); and (i) directly or indirectly take any
action which constitutes an interference with or a disruption of the
Restricted Business including, but not limited to, solicitation of the
Group’s customers, suppliers or personnel of any member of the
Group.

The Covenantors have confirmed to the Company the compliance
with the NCU during FY2020/21. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the NCU and confirmed the compliance
with the NCU by the Covenantors during FY2020/21.

As of the date of this report, the Company is not aware of any other
matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings in the NCU
and there has not been any change in the terms of the NCU during
FY2020/21.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 0.9% and
3.0% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 43.3% and 72.4% of the
total purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of
the Company are set out in Note 16, Note 17 and Note 18 to the
financial statements.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on
25 February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Siu
Kit (Chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai and Mr. Fu Chung. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for FY2020/21.

Competition and Conflict of Interests

During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of
the Directors or substantial Shareholders or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 17 to 35 of this annual report.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under
Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules in Relation to
Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies

The Group has included a consolidated statement of financial
position of the relevant affiliated companies as required therein
under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. Affiliated companies include
jointly controlled entities.
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EREWRE

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under 1§ £/ #R Al 513.221% @R [
Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules in Relationto B A GRHE K E <&
Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies &R E «

(Continued)

The consolidated statement of financial position of Top Success R -_E - —F=A=+—HIH S ERK
Investment Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“Top Success &R AR AR RHEMB AT ([bH %
Group”) and the Group’s attributable interest in Top Success Group BEE )M AHBERIRUEANEE

as at 31 March 2021 are presented as follows: )3’%15 I REEENERSIRAT:
Consolidated statement of financial position GO BN E
Consolidated Group’s
statement attributable
of financial interest
position 50%
RE
B OrE LR
AR = 50%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&x FHE T
Non-current assets ERBE E 12,816 6,408
Current assets MEEE 28,690 14,345
Current liabilities mea R’ (8,244) (4,122)
Non-current liabilities EREBARE (30,000) (15,000)
Net assets BEFHE 3,262 1,631
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Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2021 AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the 2021 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee, William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M A% B A ¥R

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EPRINT
GROUP LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 128
to 243, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are in relation to as follows:
o Impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of banner printing segment

° Impairment assessment of other financial assets at amortised
cost
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BN B AR

Key audit matters

EERESE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRANETNMRERRETEE

Impairment assessment of goodwiill, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets of banner printing segment

Refer to Notes 2.8, 2.9, 2.10, 2.25, 5, 13, 14 and 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s banner printing segment has goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounting to approximately HK$25.4 million as of
31 March 2021, representing approximately 7.7% of
the Group’s total assets.

Since the banner printing segment recorded a loss
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and for a number
of years in the past, it represented an impairment
indicator of goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets within the banner printing
segment.

In this regard, management performed an assessment
on impairment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the banner
printing segment by using value-in-use calculation
to determine the recoverable amount and concluded
that there was no impairment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. This
judgement is based on the recoverable amount, being
the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use, exceeding the book carrying amount
of the banner printing segment, including goodwill,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

In carrying out the impairment assessment, significant
judgements are required to estimate the recoverable
amount, taking into consideration the future cash
flows of banner printing segment based on the latest
approved financial budget for the next five years and
a number of other assumptions, including growth rate,
gross margin and the discount rate, applied to the
future cash flows.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of banner printing
segment, the following audit procedures have been
performed by us:

o We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors involved in the value-in-use estimation
such as subjectivity;

° We evaluated management’s financial budget
and future cash flow forecast by understanding
the process by which they were drawn up, and
testing the mathematical accuracy of the underlying
calculation;

° We assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast
by (i) comparing the projected revenue growth
and gross profit margin growth to the historical
sales performance and historical profit margin of
the banner printing segment, (i) benchmarking
these key assumptions against other comparable
companies in the industry and (iii) checking these
key assumptions against actual results in the period
subsequent to the year end;

° We evaluated the discount rate by assessing the
cost of capital of the Group and referencing the cost
of capital of other comparable companies in the
industry and with the involvement of our valuation
specialists; and

° We obtained and evaluated management’s
sensitivity analysis of the cash flow forecast by
considering downside scenarios against reasonable
possible changes to the key assumptions.

Based on the procedures described, we found that the
key assumptions, judgements and estimates made by the
management in respect of the impairment assessment
were supported by available evidence.
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Key audit matters

EERESE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMHNEANMEERAREETSAE

Impairment assessment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 2.11, 3.1(b)(ii) and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group had other financial assets at amortised
cost of approximately HK$45.6 million as at 31 March
2021.

Management assessed the provision of expected
credit loss of approximately HK$2.4 million against the
other financial assets at amortised costs. Management
determined the default rate by engaging an external
valuer to perform valuation. Management estimated
the level of expected loss, with reference to historical
observed default rates, loss given default rates of
comparable companies and industry, and forward-
looking economic factors.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
other financial assets at amortised costs. Moreover,
significant judgements and estimates were involved
in estimating the provision of expected credit loss for
other financial assets at amortised cost.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of other financial assets at
amortised costs, the following audit procedures have
been performed by us:

° We assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors involved in the loss allowance estimation
such as subijectivity;

° We assessed the competency and objectivity of the
external valuer by considering their qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

° We discussed with the management regarding
the credit control procedures, in particular credit
assessment and the judgements related to
management’s identification of events that triggered
the significant increase in credit risk of other financial
assets at amortised costs and events of default;

° We evaluated the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology;

° We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including default rate and loss given
default rate determined by external valuer with
involvement of our valuation specialists;

° We assessed the default loss rate and loss given
default with reference to the borrower’s past
repayment pattern records and the settlement after
the reporting period; and

o We challenged the appropriateness of forward-
looking economic factors applied by management
for the adjustment of the level of expected loss with
involvement of our valuation specialists.

Based on the procedures described, we found the key
judgements and assumptions made by management in
respect of the impairment assessment of other financial
assets at amortised cost were supported by the available
evidence.
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BN B AR

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 24 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BOtEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 240210]
—B-—F —ET-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Revenue g 25 () 266,902 365,801
Cost of sales 555 A AR 8 (163,649) (238,500)
Gross profit E R 103,253 127,301
Other income E AU A 6 2,665 2,339
Other gains/(losses) — net Hudezs, (E1E) —F58 7 1,414 (8,506)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAEZ 8 (25,570) (33,340)
Administrative expenses THAX 8 (60,802) (80,787)
Impairment losses on financial assets & @& E R EE 1B 1(b) (685) (1,117)
Operating profit . E&& . ..20215 5890
Finance income ah & WA 10 3,333 2,902
Finance costs LS YD N 10 (1,553) (2,090)
Finance income—net  HRERATF®E 10 1780 .82
Share of (losses)/profits of associates ~ E{hEE & XA (BE), &F 17 (1,441) 249
Share of profits of joint ventures Bl & & EET 18 375 1,648
T (,066) 1,897
Profit before income tax B P45 250 A5 1 20,989 8,599
Income tax expense Frigfim s 11 (1,650) (3,153)
Profit for the year F 3% A 19,339 5,446
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hingr e, (BE)
Items that may be reclassified to AIREEF S E B A E H -
profit or loss:
Release of exchange reserve to A — Mg A&
profit or loss upon closure of BRENFEZER
an associate 171 -
Currency translation differences E N Z5E 1,140 (1,551)
Total comprehensive income FAEE W BRE
for the year 20,650 3,895
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AL
=N

FoN=l e

For the year ended 31 March 2021
(E-E - —F=A=1T—HIFE

2021 2020
—E=-—F —ETTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year LATRIBERGEEA
attributable to: wmAL (EE) -
— Equity holders of the Company —RRAERFEA 19,009 5,688
— Non-controlling interests — IR RE RS 330 (242)
19,339 5,446
Earnings per share for profit FARRRERFTEA
attributable to equity holders of FEAS 3 N B T AR & 7
the Company during the year
- Basic and diluted (expressed —EARREE
in HK cents per share) (LBRABIET) 12 3.46 1.03
Total comprehensive income/(loss) LT RBERGFAGE
for the year attributable to: Wz, (E518) 8% :
— Equity holders of the Company A WNEIE EES PN 20,297 4,224
— Non-controlling interests —FEIE R R 353 (329)
20,650 3,895
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income it & §f 47 & W 25 3R FE B2 BB BT B9 5% — 6F
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B:E -
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SO FMR R &

As at 31 March 2021
R-E-—F=HA=+—H

2021 240210]
—B-—F —ET-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Property, plant and equipment IE RN 13 101,106 108,365
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 20,206 38,151
Intangible assets mEE 15 725 725
Other financial assets RE AT BR 2
at amortised cost HEthemEE 23 33,643 833
Investments in associates REE R RIMRE 17 681 2,407
Investments in joint ventures REZDEMNIKE 18 13,078 11,792
Deferred income tax assets BEFMSHREE 30 3,059 2,134
Deposits and prepayments Ee RIERMHRIE 22 770 2,921
173,268 167,328
Current assets MENEE
Inventories BB 20 6,614 6,804
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE 21 4,982 4,168
Deposits, prepayments and e BRIFRIER
other receivables o th JE W FR IR 22 8,335 9,184
Other financial assets at BT ER 2
amortised cost HEthemEE 23 11,953 12,965
Financial assets at fair value BERERZANEE
through profit or loss TRz B E 24 19,185 25,469
Amounts due from related companies  J& Ut B8 8 1 75k IE 34 250 159
Cash and cash equivalents HehkBE2EMEEE 25 106,565 101,525
157,884 160,274
Total assets BEERTE 331,152 327,602
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to KAREREB ARG
the equity holders of the Company BEARRFEE
Share capital fi& 7R 26 5,500 5,500
Share premium & mE 26 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H At 27 105,727 85,430
244,148 223,851
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 6,507 6,154
Total equity L 250,655 230,005
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BRI R
As at 31 March 2021
RZE=Z—F=R=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F T T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 2,053 17,004
Other payables H h FE T IR 28 470 766
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTSHAasE 30 6,009 6,348
R 8532 24,118 _
Current liabilities mENAE
Trade payables 2 M IAE 28 7,186 5,998
Accruals and other payables FE &t 3R I8 I H i & < IR 28 26,005 24,596
Borrowings & 29 19,904 21,157
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 17,513 20,200
Amounts due to related parties FET B E 5 IE 34 201 201
Amounts due to directors T EEHIE 34 165 165
Current income tax payable FERT & ERFR 15 Y 991 1,162
e 198D 73,419
Total liabilites ~~~~~~ A@es 8047 97,897
Total equity and liabilities EhkBEERE 331,152 327,602

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be it & 6 Bf %5 AR 0 2% FE B2 5 B Fft 5F — 6F
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. BIE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 243 were F128F243B iEH A MM KRR N =
approved by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2021 and were T -—F XA -+ HEESSH £ I
signed on its behalf. HMTIESREEE -

Mr. She Siu Kee William Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

RBETE HEHELE
Director Director
EFE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
 E_ T - —F=A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARERE AR
Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
R&  ROEE EARG ARG HERE REEXN Nt FBRESR ag
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Bamcoat 1ADI2019  R-ETAFRATEER SN0 18201 65 @ ___sm  8ad1  28ar 6091 234518
Comprehensive income Ak
Profit/{oss) for the year FNEH/ (BB) - - - - - 5,688 5,688 (249) 5,446

Other comprehensive (loss)/income iz 4 (B8) /g
Release of exchange reserve to profit BB —EHBLRIEER

and loss upon closure of a subsidiary B X EEZ B - - - - (326) 326 S S S
Currency translation differences ELER
- Group -55B8 - - - - (524) - (524) ®7) 611)
- Joint ventures and associates -RELERBELT - - - - 940) = (040) = (940)
Total comprehensive oss)income 34 (B8) /ME 8% - - - - (1,790) 6,014 4,224 (329) 3,895
Transactions with owners, ERRMERRRY

recognised directly in equity EREANR S
Capital inection from non-controling ~ 3E{E g3 &

interest - - - - - - - 3% 392
Divicends (Note 31) RE (HzE31) - - - - - (8,800) (8,800) - (8,800)
Total transactions with owners, ERRMERRRL
_Feisad drectynoquty | REEAGERE . R T T T T BROBE0 %2 Al
Balance at 31 March 2020 WoB-BEZA=+-B&H 550 132921 6,593 P (3667 82525 223851 6154 230,005
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 81 March 2021
(E-E - —F=A=1T—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RRRAEEEEARE

Non-
Share Share Capital Other  Exchange  Retained controlling

capital  premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
Bx  ROEE EXRG ARG SERE  REEN Nt FBRRESR g
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

Balance at 1 April 2020 RZZ-ZENA-RER 5500 132,921 6,593 1) (3,667 82525 223,851 6,154 230,005
Comprehensive income FalE
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 19,009 19,009 330 19,339
Other comprehensive income il
Release of exchange reserve to profit  E3B— BB A RIAE K

and loss upon closure of an associate  [E X EEZ B - - - - 17 - 17 - 17
Currency translation differences EXER
- Group s - - - - 206 - 206 2 229
- Joint ventures and associates -REEREEAT - - - - 911 - 911 - ikl
Total comprehensive income Tahzes - - - - 1,288 19,009 20,297 353 20,650
Balance at 31 March 2021 RIBZ-%=ZfA=1-HEH 5,500 132,921 6,593 (21) (2,379) 101,534 244,148 6,507 250,655
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be i R 2 # Bh K P ERBE MY BT 5E — BB

|||~
i
o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBREERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HE-_T-—F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB=—F —ETTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KEEHEENBESRE
Cash generated from operations EEEAMNRS 32(a) 55,019 46,269
Interest paid RENEIESA (450) (621)
Income tax paid BEFREH (3,085) (2,670)
Net cash generated from operating KETEELEMIRESFEE
activities 51,484 42,978
Cash flows from investing activities KREFHEENRERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BFERRHE
equipment (3,977) (712)
Prepayment for purchase of property, BB HE LR ED
plant and equipment AT RIE - (4,198)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BE RREN
plant and equipment FriS 78 32(b) 191 309
Proceeds on redemption of other BB R # SR AR BR 2
financial assets at amortised cost HEh e @B E ZFTSHKIE 3,200 514
Proceeds on disposal of financial HESRBREAREE
assets at fair value through VR EMEEZ
profit or loss Fri8 s 18 13,247 =
Investment in other financial assets PR SR AR BR 2
at amortised cost EMemEEMRE (34,991) (5,600)
Investment in financial assets REBBRIEAREE
at fair value through profit or loss Rz EMEENKRE (5,025) (22,425)
Investment in associates REtERRINERE 17 (500) (800)
Investment in a joint venture RE&atENRE 18 - (1,000)
Interest received B HFE 10 3,101 3,410
Dividend received from an associate R B Et& A& 2 B WA S 17 785 =
Net cash used in investing activities WEREFMARSFE (23,969) (30,502)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BHRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

HE T F=A=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
—EB=—F —TTHF

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT THET

Cash flows from financing activities MEEHEEANBE SRS

Proceeds from issue of ordinary MR EREITE BRI

shares to non-controlling interest Fri5 k18 - 392
Proceeds from borrowings BEMSHIE 32(c) 2,873 6,897
Repayments of borrowings EEEX 32(c) (4,126) (11,683)
Principal element of lease payments &AL H 32(c) (20,193) (19,090)
Interest paid EENEESA 32(c) (1,103) (1,544)
Dividends paid ERRE 31 - (8,800)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBSMANE TR (22,549) (33,828)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RekRESEEIEE

cash equivalents #an O ) F 5 4,966 (21,352)
Cash and cash equivalents FYRe kR EEEEE

at beginning of year 101,525 123,664
Effect of change in exchange rates [EXREFFHNTE 74 (787)
Cash and cash equivalents FRekReEMEIEAE

at end of year 25 106,565 101,525

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  _F it & GF 38 & i & X FE BLFE O I 55 — 6f
conjunction with the accompanying notes. B A& -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OB SRR MIEE

2.1

136

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2014 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, George Town, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman
KY1-1002, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 16, 17 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting
policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed
in the other notes. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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2.1

2.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOIiCieS (Continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)  Amended standards and revised conceptual frammework
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments and
revised conceptual framework for the financial year
beginning 1 April 2020 and are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

BEAGHEAF 1R LBEB S EREST (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

BB GFEREIN BEFBFMELENETIRE
BB B mELERFIR (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB BRELEREIFR (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 (Note)

BAEMBRELERFE165 (BT AR) (MIFE)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018

—E-N\FUBREMIER
Note:

HKFRS 16 (Amendment), “COVID-19 - related Rent Concessions”
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020, early
application of the amendments is permitted). The Group has early
adopted Amendments to HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2020. The amendment
provides lessees with exemption from assessing whether COVID-19
— related rent concession is a lease modification and requires lessees
that apply the exemption to account for COVID-19 - related rent
concession as if they were not lease modifications. In applying HKFRS
16 (Amendment) for the first time, the Group has applied the practical
expedient and elected not to assess whether COVID-19 — related rent
concession is a lease modification. All of the COVID-19 — related rent
concessions amounted to HK$166,000 has been credited to the profit
or loss within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

The amendments and conceptual framework listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

2

BB ERRMT
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ENBRREBRRESEE

(@) AKEEERAIIEEETERIR
AEERTE R HER

REBD BRI TEET K&

AIMSER ZFEIIR_-F

—EFENA-HBRBZMBEF

%Jﬁ’sﬁﬂ% -MABRANEEZ XK
-

Definition of material
BEAZTEE
Interest rate benchmark reform

IE SRS

g

Definition of a business

FzER

CQOVID-19 related rent concessions

BRRSEIEHEE SR E

Revised conceptual framework
for financial reporting

BIETHBREHER

o

EBTHHRELELFE165 (BFIAN) [E
WESEEEEReR2] (R=2Z2=F
FRB—BRZEFRABOEEBRRER
REEAZESEIAELE) ANEEH
—E-_ZEMA-HERBEEME Y
BIREERFI6HE 2 BRI A% IEFT A
AEBARETIGEERES L BHEBE
ERERTAMEBERZRE WRE
EAHR s ABABER RS EBEHEE
HEREAR BOEFIEREBER R
BRERBEAVEHREEAF165 (18
AR AEBERANTEERE
WERETTEERRSEBHERSRE
CREAEEBCR -TABRKESERE
HHBE A &% % & BE166,00058 7L B 5T A
[Hfbras/ (B518) —F%5] Mmigzsme
EREET AR SERY EE BT AR
BROSEEETMEE BBEFATE
HER A RBHELESATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I SRR M T

2.2

Summary of significant accounting
policies (continuey

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New standard, amendments, annual improvement,
interpretation and revised guideline which are not yet
effective for this financial period and have not been early
adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
existing standards and annual improvements have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 March 2021
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by
the Group.

Amendments to annual improvements project
FENEEB ZEFIA
Amendments to HKAS 1

2.2

TERHBERE

SRS HRIFESTE (&)
(b) RN BS B B R g oK A S B K £

BER G EAEIR BTN BEDBZUMBHRERES

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
Practice Statement 2

BB S ERE IR REBRE
R 2 BRI AR

Amendments to HKAS 8

B AELE PR Z 35T ER &
A FREGE R ERAEER
155/

ETHalesrE8  IREEL
FFEENRENETAERBMHE
BEAR-_ZE-_—F=A=+—
A& B RS ER mASE
BB EEN-

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or after

BERGFERESR 2EIAR
Amendments to HKAS 16

BAEGTEREI6HE ZBFTA
Amendments to HKAS 37

BB EREITH 2EFTAR
Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB BREEAEIR BTN
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
BERMBmEEAFESR BELF LR
305 BAEMBIMELRETH
BEMBMEENFIRR
BEEMBREEAE165 2IEFTA
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RUT SR 2%
RN EERBREN
Annual improvements 2018-2020 cycle 1 April 2022
T \FE_Z_TFRHACEFEYE —_T__FMA—H
Presentation of financial statements 1 April 2023
on classification of liabilities
—E=FA—H
Disclosure of accounting policies 1 April 2023
BHBRIRE —T-ZFNA—H
Definition of accounting estimates 1 April 2023
EERER A ZEZ=FWA—H
Property, plant and equipment: 1 April 2022
Proceeds before intended use
ME BEL&E: BEREAZ —E--FNA—H
P15 5RIE
Onerous contracts: Costs of fulfilling 1 April 2022
a contract
BEUEGY BTEHZIKAE —E--FWAF—H
Reference to the conceptual framework 1 April 2022
B E R4S 5 T -FWA—H
Interest rate benchmark Reform - Phase 2 1 April 2021
FMEBEENE-F R —E--FmMA—H



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

2 Summary of significant accounting 2 FESTHRREE =
policies (continuea

2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 22 B BXSBREESE &)
(Continued)
(b) New standard, amendments, annual improvement, (b)  RAEL A e R AR A K

interpretation and revised guideline which are not yet
effective for this financial period and have not been early

adopted by the Group (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BEMBREERFI0%R R
BE ST ERE8H ZBETA
Amendments to HKFRS 16

BRMBREEANFE165 2 ETAR
HKFRS 17
BERMBHREENFE1TH

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
BAREESR (ZTZ4F)
Revised Accounting Guideline 5
RIEFT &5t 1R F5%

Note: To be announced by HKICPA

W5 (&)

B AELE PR Z 35T ER (&
A FRIE R ERAEER

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on or after

The Group will adopt the new standards, amendments,
annual improvement, interpretation and revised guideline
when they become effective. The Group is in the
process of assessing the adoption of the new standards,
amendments, annual improvements, interpretation and
revised guideline and it is not expected to have any
significant impact on the results and the financial position

of the Group.

RUTEHH 2%
RN FESRBENR
Sale or contribution of assets between an Note
investor and its associate or joint venture
REZFHBMENTHSEREZHEN B aE
BEHEIIE
Covid-19 - Related rent concessions 1 April 2021
beyond 30 June 2021
—E-FRAZTHEZEBRRSEE —T--FMA—H
HBEE2RE
Insurance contracts 1 April 2023
RirE & “E-=FWA—AH
Presentation of financial statements 1 April 2023
BB HK 25 —E-=¥mA—A
Merger accounting for common control 1 April 2022
combination
HREEEHNEHEHE —T__FHMA—H

GEIREsSE PN PN

REBB R LR EFTA
FRMEGE BEMREERTES
EYHETERA - AEBE LR
AHEERFTET E R BRI A F
B wBRkEETES A
BHIrEHASENRE Y
BIREKIEMBEREE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I SRR M T

2.3

2.3.1

Summary of significant accounting
pOIiCieS (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

(a) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)
2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

Business combinations (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

2 FEEHERRREw

2.3 MB 2 F 2

231 §6f @)

(@)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are

recognised in profit and loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in
profit and loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement

is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit and loss.

®)

change of control

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without

©)

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also

recorded in equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting

po licies (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(c)  Closure of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair
value at the date when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit and loss. The
fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. It means that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to retained earnings as permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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2.4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associate are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit and loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associate include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit and loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses of
associates’ in the profit and loss.
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2.4

25

144

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Associates (continuea)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost
of the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in
a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures),
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint
venture.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21

2.4

2.5

TERHBERE

-3 /NECTNE )

BE B N R 2 B B
THRXZMEMNMEBEBRRAEEDN
MBERERTER BERNERE
BREERNBERRBRENEE K
ERZGEHRBEBRRAEREED
BAE - BDRIREIREE T LA - B
ERABNEABRRERFTRFLR
BOUBREASERANBR—
o

7N 65 [ £ H B

N

HEZ B

ZN
81

ol

e

EEHMERATHEREE
& B 5
{l

i

N

& ¥ E

HREENFEIIR - RBEEFEHN
BREENBER RERTHZ
REDBEREEEBRAaLERE
TIRBEREFZEHNEMNREE
Ep B -AKEBEFHAELXRZH
ZME TEFZEHRATYERA
B -AaEbERAEREAR-

S

H

REEDSHE RAZELXZE
PR AN FE R - BE R 1T B
VA B 7R 7N 5% 18] 8 15 U B 18 )28 A =X &S
BREMGANRGENEE KEE
RAEELEEZREBRENREBRE
Bl zEB-RKBAEELREZM
EREaR AELEZRAER
SEREEELRZAHEMNEENR
BEZAARBEFEZEMNEZRA
EABE - MAKERGEGEDLR
MBEREERABBEAKAZELELZ
R (BRERLBANAEERA
LRERZWEFBRRD T KB
) AEETEBEREIR K
FAEHELAEEINRRAZEDLE
3% - RULE Bl o



2.5

2.6

2.7

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Joint arrangement (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the chairman and
executive directors of the Group that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the Group operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit
and loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the profit
and loss. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in profit and loss within ‘Other gains/(losses) — net’.
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2.7

(c)

146

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each profit and loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences
are reclassified to profit and loss, as part of the gain or loss on
sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Current
translation differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2.7

(d)

2.8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (continuead)

Closure of foreign operation

On the closure of a foreign operation that involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation, all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit and
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. All property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to in the profit and loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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2.8

2.9

(a)

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

30 to 50 years
5to 15 years

Leasehold improvements 5 years
Computer, furniture and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit and loss.

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.
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2.9

(a)

2.10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Intangible assets (continuead)

Goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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(a)

(b)

(c)

150

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the
following categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair through profit
or loss, and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be
recorded in profit and loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are expensed in profit and loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in

their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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211

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (Continuead)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit and loss and
presented in “other gains/(losses) — net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in profit and loss.

o Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss is recognised in profit and loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) — net in the
period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.
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(c)

(d)

152

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in other gains/(losses)-net
in the profit and loss.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including cash
and cash equivalents, deposits and other receivables, other
financial assets at amortised cost, and amounts due from
related companies, the Group applies general approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which uses 3-stage expected credit
loss model to recognise the loss allowance from initial
recognition. See Note 3.1(b) for details.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are not
subject to review for impairment as the impairment losses
would include in the fair value changes and recognised in
other gains/(losses) — net in the profit and loss.
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2.13

2.14

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
See Note 2.11 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I SRR M T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the profit and loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group

has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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2.19

2.20

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the year
end date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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B I SRR M T

2.20

(b)

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continvea)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the company
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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2.20

(b)

2.21

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continueq)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2,22

2.23

158

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.
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2.23

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

The Company bases its estimate of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer. As receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Services income

Revenue from providing services is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. For
fixed-price contracts, revenue is recognised based on the
actual service provided to the end of the reporting period as
a proportion of the total services to be provided because the
customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

The Group provides shipping services in addition to the goods
sold to the customers under certain sales contracts.

Shipping services give rise to a separate performance
obligation when the Group promises to ship the products after
the control of the products are transferred to customer.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.
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2.23

(c)

2.24

(a)

(b)

(c)

160

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes for its employees. Contributions are made based
on certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are recognised as employee benefit expense as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes.
The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.
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2.25

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases
The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable; and

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
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2.25

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit and loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

U the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.
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2.25

2.26

2.27

2.28

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit and loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low value assets comprise small items of office furniture.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs
of servicing equity other than ordinary shares by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit and loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B Ot BRI 5T

2 Summary of significant accounting
pOliCieS (Continued)

2.29 Interest income
Interest income is presented as finance income — net where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in finance income - net.

3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

(@) Market risk
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s cash flow and fair value interest rate risk mainly
arises from cash at banks, other financial assets at amortised
cost, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s bank borrowing,
cash and cash equivalent are carried at amortised costs with
variable rates, which expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk.
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3.1

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq

Financial risk factors (continueq)

Market risk (Continuea)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s financial assets
and liabilities at amortised costs, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and lease liabilities which are of
fixed interest rates and are also exposed to the risk of future
changes in market interest rates.

However, the Group’s income and cash flows from operations
were substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates as the significant interest-bearing assets were either
fixed or not expected to fluctuate significantly.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, financial assets and liabilities
at amortised costs and lease liabilities at fix rates exposure the
Group to insignificant fair value interest rate risk as the fixed
interest rates approximate market interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before income
tax would have been approximately HK$199,000 lower/higher
(2020: HK$238,000 lower/higher). The sensitivity analysis
has been determined assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the reporting date. The 100 basis point
increase/decrease represents management’s assessment of
reasonable possible change in the interest rate which has the
most impact on the Group over the period until the next year
end date.

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price risk arises from investments
held by the Group and classified in the consolidated statement
of financial position at fair value through profit or loss (Note
24).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of
the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I SRR M T

3.1

(a)

(b)

166

Financial risk management continueq)

Financial risk factors (continuea)

Market risk (Continuead)
Price risk (Continued)

The Group’s investment in securities are publicly traded.
The fair value is determined with reference to quoted market
prices. For the Group’s investment that is not publicly traded,
management is of the opinion that the fair values of the
equity instruments affected by changes in the market price
of the underlying equity instruments is immaterial (Note 3.3).
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is required.

Based on the assumption that the fair values of equity
had increased or decreased by 5% respectively with all
other variables held constant, that all of the Group’s debt
instruments increased or decreased by HK$959,000 (2020:
HK$1,298,000), that moved in line with the assumption. The
management is of the opinion that the Group has minimal
exposure to the price risk as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and amounts due from related
companies. The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

()

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management

As at 31 March 2021, all the bank deposits are
deposited in the high-quality financial institutions.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank deposits are also subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. Management are of the view
that the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed
in those banks which are independently rated with a high
credit rating. Management does not expect any material
losses from non-performance by these banks as they
have no default history in the past.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Risk management

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loan
and interest receivables. The Group has considered the
probability of default upon initial recognition of assets
and whether there has been significant increase in
credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each year.
To assess whether there is a significant increase in
credit risk, the Group considered the actual or expected
significant adverse changes in business, financial
economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the third party’s ability to meet its
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I SRR M T

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Management applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage expected credit loss model to recognise the loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost.

To measure the expected credit losses, management has
considered quantitatively and qualitatively whether there
has been an actual or expected significant increase in
credit risk (i.e. Stage 2 or 3) to the balance since its initial
recognition. Management would base on the credit risk
assessment of the counterparty and adopt the loss rate
with reference from the external credit rating agent. The
loss rate was adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
For the year ended 31 March 2021, management of the
Company considered that the COVID-19 impact to the
macroeconomy was mitigated and which decreased the
credit risk to the other financial assets at amortised cost
balance since its initial recognition.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the recognition
of loss allowance of approximately HK$7,000 was
recognised and credited to the profit and loss.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, management
considers the COVID-19 affected the macroeconomy
and which increased the credit risk to the other
financial assets at amortised cost balance since its
initial recognition. Therefore, the loss allowance of
approximately HK$807,000 was recognised and charged
to the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)
Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)
The closing loss allowance for other financial assets at

amortised cost as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 reconcile
to the opening loss allowance as follows:

BT RRMITE

R REE -
BEEEE e
FERMK &)

B HH A ez B A2 &
E(#)

B=+— B &% %A
ZE M B A E A B R B R
fRER B EREHERNT

HK$’000
TR

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2019 —ET-NAFMA—HH
FEBRER 1,595
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment £ (R & 74 18 25 7 52 1O 8 §i5 AR AR
of other financial assets at amortised costs I8k 2 Hith & @b & E R E
recognised in profit and loss during the year — Eji8 B &R 807
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 R-Z-_ZTF=ZA=+—HK
and 1 April 2020 AZE_ZFNA—H®
FREBEERB 2,402
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment 4 R 1% 72 18 %5 i 52 H) 38 85 A AR
of other financial assets at amortised costs 7|8k 2 H it & &b & E R E
recognised in profit and loss during the year B3 18 B # fE R 7
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 RZ-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HHK
FREERB 2,409

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Risk management

The Group has investments in listed securities. For listed
equity securities, the Group monitors the credit risks
of its investments through evaluation of credit ratings.
Management did not consider there was material
exposure to credit risks as the investments in listed
equity securities were graded as low risk with reference
to at least one major rating agency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B I SRR M T

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
all trade receivables. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience indicates different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance is calculated
based on days past due from various customer
segments which are grouped with similar patterns.

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, internal categorisations
and/or the debtors’ credit history with the Group and
ageing profile as at the end of reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product and the Consumer Price Index of the
countries in which it sells its goods and services to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the loss allowance
for trade receivables was determined as follows, the
expected credit losses below also incorporated forward
looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B OISR M
3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREREw
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BEREKBEE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERR &)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) B ZENE &)

Trade receivables

BSERBTE

Overdue
within ~ Overdue  Overdue  Overdue
30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days

g s s L]
0RA  HME6OR  61E90RK 90Xk
HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEL  TERT  TAR  TER

As at 31 March 2021 R=B=-%
=B=1-H

Paper printing products KEAORER

Weighted average expected MEFHREERX

loss rate 0.1% 0.5% 33.3% 33.3% 74.9% 6.8%
Gross carrying amount ERaE 1,531 655 3 3 211 2,403
Loss allowance BBEAE 1 3 1 1 158 164

Trade receivables
EZEKE
Overdue
Not yet within ~ Overdue ~ Overdue  Overdue
due 30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days

eIl A as aH

KA 0kA  31Z60X  61E90K 90%
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
T T THT THL

As at 31 March 2021 R=B=-%
=f=1-H

Banner printing products BEAORER

Weighted average expected MmETHRAEEE

loss rate 2.7% 7.0% 14.8% 26.6% 58.8% 23.4%
Gross carrying amount ERaE 1,046 655 338 598 945 3,582
Loss allowance BEARE 28 46 50 159 556 839
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BHMBHRAME

3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continuead)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2020 i 33
=R=t-H
Paper printing products HEAORER
Weighted average expected MEFHRBERE
loss rate
Gross carrying amount REAE
Loss allowance BiEkE

3 HEREBEEREw
31 BIREKBREE #

(b) EERK &)
(v) B ZENZE &)

Trade receivables
2 S RIIE

Overdue
within
30 days
B
RING
HK$'000
TAT

Overdue
90 days
ki
I
HK$'000
TET

Overdue
61-90 days
61290k
HK$'000
TET

Overdue
31-60 days
SIEN
HK$'000
TET

Not yet
due

#i
HK$'000
T

0% 0% 0% 0% 5.6% 0.9%
1,208 109 12 12 250 1,691
- - - - 14 14

Trade receivables
BHRENE
Overdue
Not yet within Overdue Overdue Overdue
due 30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 90 days
jak jaki il il
Pl 0RA  HEEOK  61290K IS
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000
FEL  TAT  TAT  TAL
As at 31 March 2020 R=B-%fF
ZAZt-H
Banner printing products BEARER
Weighted average expected METHERERE
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 10.9% 50.7% 10.7%
Gross carrying amount REAE 854 584 640 267 557 2,902
Loss allowance EERE - - - 29 282 311
Note: B 5 -

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the expected credit
for certain ageing classes is immaterial.
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3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RRMITE

3 HXEEREREw
3.1 B¥EKREZE

(b) EERB#)

(v) EZEKKE &)

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March W—ZE

2021 and 2020 reconcile to the opening loss allowances

A=+—8”"

—ER_FT-_FTF=
B 5 e WK IE &

as follows: BREEBHBVEERENHE
W
HK$’'000
FHETT
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2019 RZZE-—NFMA—HBH
FUIBERE 15
Recognition of loss allowance for FARERBERAZEHEK
impairment of trade receivables recognised RIEREEERE ZER
in profit and loss during the year 310
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 AZEZTF=A=+—H0H
FREIERE 325
Recognition of loss allowance for impairment FARERBRZEFHEWK
of trade receivables recognised in profit and FIEREBERE ZER
loss during the year 678
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—HH
E*%E%ﬁ 1,003
The creation and release of provision for impaired i3 Iﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁ* =K R
receivables have been included in ‘impairment losses on REFFABZEANT2REE

financial assets’ in the profit and loss. Amounts charged
to the allowance account are generally written off, when

there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. 185 o

EEE] BERAIIRE—
MRAETEH AT A W B ER SR & B
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B I SRR M T

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)  Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from

related parties (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)

Risk management

The Group has considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each year. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considered
the actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the third

party’s ability to meet its obligations.

Impairment of Other Receivables

Other Receivables are subject to impairment requirement
of HKFRS 9. The credit quality of the Other Receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. The management
are of the opinion that the credit risk of Other
Receivables is low due to the sound collection history
and financial stability of the counterparties. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of the Other Receivables is
assessed to be immaterial as of 31 March 2021 and

2020.
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3.1

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq

Financial risk factors (continueq)
Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet
obligations when due and to close out market positions.
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group held cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$106,565,000 (2019:
HK$101,525,000) that are expected to readily generate cash
inflows for managing liquidity risk.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash flows of cash and
cash equivalents generated from the financing activities and
the operating activities, respectively to meet its operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. This is generally
carried out at local level in the operating companies of the
Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the
Group. These limits vary by location considering the liquidity of
the market in which the entity operates.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the directors do not consider
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretion
to demand immediate repayment after taking into account
the Group’s financial position. The directors believe that such
borrowings and lease liabilities will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRAME

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

()

Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year-end date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interests
payments computed using contractual rates). Where the
loan agreement contains a repayable on demand clause
which gives the lender the unconditional right to call the
loan at any time, the amounts of repayable are classified
in the earliest time bracket in which the lender could
demand repayment and no interest payments were
included. The maturity analysis for financial liabilities is
prepared based on the scheduled repayment dates.

On
demand
REX
HK$'000
TET
As at 31 March 2021 RZE-—F
=A=+—8H
Borrowings BE 19,904
Lease liabiities and interest  HE & &R F| S %

EXpenses 956
Trade payables B HEMNFIE -
Other payables' H fth e 5008 -
Amounts due to related @R RE

parties -

ENESHA

Amounts due to directors

3 HMBKEREEw

3.1

¥R BEE#

(c) RBESRAK &)

()

Within
1 year

—FR
HK$'000
TET

19,889
7,186
1,145

201
165

LR EZH

TRAOMAKEREF KA Y
EEANIHABEWRT RS
DRBBIBERNNEREAE-
TRAPBSEARBEREHN
Reneg (BREAOMEE
BEHMENR) - MERBGEA
HAESERATREEEGER
KEEZGR WEERAD
ERNERAREAERERZ
HE - WETBRERMENK &
MAENIHBE NIRRT
EERBHRY-

Between
2 and

5 years
MEAF
HK$'000
TAEL

Between
1 and
PATCE (]
—ZWE
HK$'000
FTET

Total
@zt
HK$'000
FTET

19,904

22,933
7,186
1,145

- - 201
- - 165
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CX b e
3 Financial risk management coninued 3 HMKEKREREw
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BEREKBEE
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) RBELREKE %)
() Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued) ) ZHEEIE &)
Between Between
On Within 1 and 2 and
demand 2 years 5 years Total
REXR —-ZWE WEEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT TET AT AT
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-TF
=A=+-H
Borrowings 3= 21,157 - - - 21,157
Lease liabilties and interest  HEEERFISHY
expenses 2,491 18,670 15,752 1,676 38,589
Trade payables B o EMNIE - 5,998 - - 5,998
Other payables' H fth e 5008 - 661 - - 661
Amounts due to related FERTBE 7 SR
parties - 201 - - 201
Amounts due to directors ~ ENEEFE - 165 - - 165
1 The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and L ERTEEANEBE BTERAR
accrued expenses. FEFHER -
The table below analyses the Group'’s financial liabilities TEIMAEENESBREE -
into relevant maturity groups based on the scheduled IR BERBEAEHTEEER
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the HE:E WEFARMRE
effect of any repayment on demand clause is ignored. KERBRROEEHHEAAEH

2HER -
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BHMBHRAME

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

() Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021

Borrowings and interest
expenses

Lease liabilities and interest
expenses

Trade payables

Other payables’

Amounts due to related
parties

Amounts due to directors

3 BXRBRERE«
31 BIREKBREE #
(c) RBELSEAMR &)

) ZHEEDEE)

Between
2 and

5 years
MELE
HK$'000
TET

Between
1 and
2 years

Over
5 years Total
EFENUE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TET

—EWF
HK$'000
THET

23,547

22,946
7,186
1,145

- - - 201
- - - 165

As at 31 March 2020

Borrowings and interest
expenses

Lease liabilities and interest
expenses

Trade payables

Other payables'

Amounts due to related
parties

Amounts due to directors

Within
HK$'000
AT
R-ZB-—F
=R=+-H
BERFIERY
2,403
HEABERMBRAY
20,858
EHENTE 7,186
Hi ER A 1,145
FERBEE R FUE
201
EREEHE 165
Within
HK$'000
TET
RZE-ZF
=A=+-8
BERFBHY
2,650
HEAERMBRY
20,265
BHEME 5,998
H A fE F FIE 661
FENBEE R A
201
EREEHE 165

Between
2 and

5 years
MELE
HK$'000
TET

Between
1 and
2 years

Over
5 years Total
EFNUE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET

—EWF
HK$'000
TAET

4,325 25,115
1,676 - 38,662

- - 5,998
- - - 661

- - - 201
- - - 1656

L The balance excludes contract liabilities, deferred income and

accrued expenses.
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3.2

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
enhance shareholders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
borrowings and lease liabilities and total equity is calculated as
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were as
follows:

3.2

BT RRMITE

BEERERE
EXRBER

AEBNEAETEBREZ ENHEB
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@hf Be X IFILRE
ANAGIREEEEE NBRERMHE
@i&&%ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁxﬂﬁn%&
BBREEEALEB UM EHEA
BREREME-

RERFIABEANGRE A&EA
HABRNTRRZEKECBNMEER
BREN HTHBIELEEEN
DB o

AEBRITEEN RBEEERE
REEEAKRF - ZH R RE

KRERUAESAETE -EF 2
EORBEERTHEREE M
%/\ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁﬁééﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%{’ﬁﬁ [ 4
&= F

R_B-_—FR-_FT_FTF=FH

St BEMEERBLXRZINNT:

2021 2020

—E-—% T -FTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTEx FHET

Borrowings (Note 29) BE (K15E29) 19,904 21,157
Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEBE (MiE14) 19,566 37,204
Total debt BB 39,470 58,361
Total equity R 4R%E 250,655 230,005
Gearing ratio BEEARX 16% 25%

As at 31 March 2021, the gearing ratio has decreased from
25% to 16% as a result of settlement of lease liabilities for the
leased assets.

RZBE-Z_—F=A=+—H -8R
RHEEELSHEAE EEA
BHEHE% EE16% °
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B I SRR M T

3.3

180

Financial risk management continueq)

Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, including cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, other financial assets at amortised costs, amounts due
from related companies, trade payables, accruals and other
payables, amounts due to directors, amounts due to related
parties, lease liabilities and borrowings approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities and/or bear interest rate at
market. The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments
for financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than
one year are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21
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3.3

(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

3.3

BT RRMITE

AREEMEF &)
TREBIWAEBER - —F =
T _EF=-"A=+—HAKAALEBE
HENSREE-

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$¥)00 HK$’000
TER TER TRET TET
31 March 2021 “E-—f=A=+—H
Financial assets at fair value BRBRRAAEBER
through profit or loss LEMEBE 19,185 - - 19,185
31 March 2020 —T-T¥=HA=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value FERBREALBEIIR
through profit o loss LeREE 25,309 - 160 25,469
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the FRN-E— =R HEYEE
year. %o

Financial instrument in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
securities classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

(a)

E-RETWMTAE

REBMEEENERTIARAE
BVREREHNRTEREEE -
MBREARERLRERNERZH &
HE BEASBRA EERE

AEERBES HEZTMETQ?EH_’\
BAFEELETHNEREREEED

R5: %%m%ﬁﬁé%m%°ﬁ
AEBEFFABTREEMANTS
EEREW%E°%%IE%A%

AR RN IATIEZER
“@ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁz
ERMEEN ETMRAES
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Xty ek
3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBERBREEw
3.3 Fair value estimation (continueq) 3.3 AAEEME @
(b) Financial instrument in level 3 b) F=HE&MITAH
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments TREIHE_ZTE-_—FR_FTZ
for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. EEZA=Z+—BUHEFEF=ZHT
B &g
2021
—_E_—F
HK$’000
TET
At beginning of the year NG 160 -
Addition = - 300
Fair value loss on financial assets FRBREZEAABEIERZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEZ AREEER (160) (140)
At end of the year RER - 160
Total loss for the year included FRBBEZEERTFA
in profit and loss for assets held E BB ABE
at the end of the year, under FIVEE bz~
other gains/(losses) — net (B8 — 58 (160) (140)
4 Critical accounting estimates and 4 RBEAEETHHERHE
judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are et RABFEXD TG LER
based on historical experience and other factors, including BAELHBEEMER BELEEE
expectations of future events that are believed to be BATEHARKREGH Z2ER-
reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the REBERRKEL G RBE A
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, EWzgitAs (RER)ELHEE
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and REBERER H TR ERFE
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material NEBSIBEERBERBMEZRE
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities ABAERZERNRR 2T REBE
within the next financial year are addressed below. Bl N
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
banner printing segment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill, has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2.10. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates (Note 15).

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts have been determined based on the higher of
value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs of disposal
calculations. The calculations require the use of judgements
and estimates.

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event
has occurred that may indicate that the related asset values
may not be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and (i) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash
flow projections including whether these cash flow projections
are discounted using an appropriate rate.

Changing the assumptions selected by the directors in
assessing impairment could affect the recoverable amount
determined by the directors and as a result affect the result of
the impairment reviews. Further details are set out in Note 15.

(a)

BB ERRMT

B R o

i)

i3

ED
=R 1

o

T S o
R4 I
m
s o3
m}m}ﬁ‘;
[
N
oF
Elll_' =

AEBBFRENI210FTZ S
AHREAREERSHBEMIRE:
WeELEES MZT@Wiﬁegﬂ
FRHEBEFE ZREAFTEEFERGE
& (MizE15) o

%% BERIKBEREHHRLIE
5 ) 58T BR [ (B 7] A2 BOR Wl iy
mmamtoﬂum BMORE
ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁr”f&m‘}zuﬁfﬂﬁﬁ?ﬂ
Bffﬁ’%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ (ABEERE) -
AR E AR E B Rk Et e

EEEREFA LEEFHEAT
ZEF EREEAELHE: (25
BREEHAkEREBEEEMAR
e AW E ; (AT e 2% (BAR
Fﬁﬂ%%ﬁﬁ$é2iﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BBEBTHEBREREEMMIT R
KBS REFREMEFZESE)
AR HEERBEE: KR

%}mif‘ﬁ\ﬁﬂﬁ AEMZBEBETER
CEREBERZARERAIZEMA
*ﬂfﬂﬁfﬁ

BEETHRAERERZRR2ED
EREEFEEEZIREEE B
MEERKEEZBERITNER
- FBHNMES
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(b)

(c)

(d)

184

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial instruments recorded in
the consolidated statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined using
valuation techniques including the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, and discounted cash flow analysis.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgements is required in establishing fair values.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgements in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed
in Note 3.1(b).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated lives and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
Management will revise the depreciation charge where useful
lives are different from those previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Critical accounting estimates and
jUdgementS (Continued)

Income taxes

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated
financial statements. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences and the
carry forward of unused tax losses and tax credits can be
utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily
involves judgements regarding the future financial performance
of the particular legal entity or tax group. A variety of other
factors are also evaluated in considering whether there is
convincing evidence that it is probable that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised, such
as the existence of taxable temporary differences, group relief,
tax planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised.

The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets recognised
for certain of the Group’s businesses depends principally
on these businesses maintaining profitability and generating
sufficient taxable profits to utilise the underlying unused tax
losses. It may be necessary for some or all of the deferred
tax assets recognised to be reduced and charged to the
profit and loss if there is a significant adverse change in the
projected performance and resulting projected taxable profits
of these businesses. Judgements is required to determine key
assumptions adopted in the taxable profit and loss projections
and changes to key assumptions used can significantly affect
these taxable profit and loss projections.

(e)

BB ERRMT

B AT 5 IR o

Friig®

EECHBENLEREIREERAEZ
MEERARENRGHMBEBREFZ
FHECERZHIFHBER -EL
MEEERBMAEANRFZEEREY
A BE 15 2 R PR JE &R A s 1) E2 ] 410
BeEREZERE REAERAZARA
MIEEBEAENH R G EEH
ZEE - MTUAER BEEHIEEE
CHERTESIREBEECER LN
AR BB R KBS R IR 2 HI o
BEMAREERIS TARME AE
BREAHFEBNIZBREZERE X
THEEMNBEERSREANGEE
SR -PlINFEERTEREEZE -2
B MEREAXWEEATEHAM
TSRS 1R 2 B o

RAEEE TERER ZELERA
BERRERERIBZRILER
BREOEGHBEARNTEELERH
Z FE R B A AE A A AR K R
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EHERBAOETHEAEEHA
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Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into two business segments:

(@) paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”); and

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”).

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Sales between segments are carried out at arm’s length basis.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides I.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.

Revenue for the year consists of the revenue from paper
printing and banner printing. The Group derives all revenue
from the sale of goods at a point in time.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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Segment information continueq

Segment revenue and results

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The following tables present revenue and segment results
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2021:

BB ERRMT

D EBE R =)
DEWEREE
TEHRBIAEE

E_F-—FR=F

—t-BUEFEZRERD XA

|1
of

Paper Banner
printing printing  Eliminations Total
BRI EEER B Mgt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER THER FTET FTET
Segment revenue o E s E
Revenue from external RENDEP Y
customers' 210,438 56,464 - 266,902
Inter-segment revenue A E R 610 34 (644) -
Total @it 211,048 56,498 (644) 266,002
Segment results DEEE 20,311 (36) 20,275
Unallocated: AOBL:
Finance income BMEWA 3,333
Finance costs ELEVDRN (1,553)
Share of losses of associates FEIEE DR B8 (1,441)
Share of profits of joint ventures ~ fE{5 & & > %55 5 375
Profit before income tax B FT 157 A 42 1 20,989
Income tax expense PSR X (1,650)
Profit for the year FEWNa 19,339
Other information: HiEw:
Impairment losses on CREERESE
financial assets 156 529 685
Depreciation of property, ME - BERSENE
plant and equipment 10,237 1,148 11,385
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEERE
assets 12,944 7,495 20,439
Capital expenditure CENGET 5,187 2,109 7,296
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&I R M EE
5 Segment information continveq 5. 7EER =
a) Segment revenue and results (continved) a) oHBREREE @
For the year ended 31 March 2020: BHE-_ZT-_ZTF=RA=+—HILHE
=8
Paper Banner
printing printing Eliminations Total
48 X8 E 1 & £ 1 84 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL BT FTAET FTAEL
Segment revenue Rl
Revenue from external REIMIEP Y
customers' 282,257 83,544 - 365,801
Inter-segment revenue o R 378 107 (485) =
Total FH 282,635 83,651 (485) 365,801
Segment results NEEE 4,897 993 5,890
Unallocated: RO
Finance income BMEKA 2,902
Finance costs BMEMK (2,090)
Share of profits of associates FE{G B & N ALE 249
Share of profits of joint ventures ~ JE{G A & 1 55 7l 1,648
Profit before income tax BR BT 15 50 A4 8,599
Income tax expense FrEfMAY (3,153)
Profit for the year FREH 5,446
Other information: HiEx:
Impairment losses on financial £ BEEREEE
assets 807 310 1,117
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERSEBHNE
plant and equipment 10,381 3,220 13,601
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE
assets 15,485 5,653 21,138
Capital expenditure BEARAY 11,566 5,438 17,004
d Included revenue of approximately HK$8,542,000 (2020: L B 15 1B %) IR 7% P15 W 2 498,542,000 7T
HK$10,813,000) derived from shipping service. (ZZE=F4:10,813,000 L) °
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BB ERRMT

Segment information (continueq) 5. 7EER =
Segment assets b) 2WEE
Paper Banner
printing printing Total
42 ED Al I = Nl et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET THET
As at 31 March 2021 R_EZ—F=A=+—H 175,751 35,077 210,828
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZZEZEF=RA=+—H 172,674 39,204 211,878

BENRSTHNOBEELTERS
5 RI# A20,506,0008 L (- F
— T4 :21,143,0008 7T ) ~ 725,000
BT (ZEZFF:725,00087T)
%4,176,0008 T (ZE T F:
7,090,000 L) MM BE &&
H mEUREREEE-

Segment assets for banner printing segment mainly
represented property, plant and equipment, goodwill
and right-of-use assets amounting to approximately
HK$20,506,000(2020: HK$21,143,000), HK$725,000 (2020:
HK$725,000) and HK$4,176,000 (2020: HK$7,090,000)
respectively.

DHEERBEEHNKRMT

A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided

as follows:

2021

—_EgE-——5F

HK$’000

FE&xT
Segment assets DEEE 210,828 211,878
Investment in associates REEE RRIMIEE 681 2,407
Investment in joint ventures REeE&atENRE 13,078 11,792
Cash and cash equivalents HehBELEEEE 106,565 101,525
331,152 327,602
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& I EmRERMIEE

6 Other income 6 HuwA
2021 2020
—B-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT T T
Scrap sales FEERIH & 1,438 1,552
Government grant B %5 B 544 318
Sales of software M E 297 297
Others Hit 386 172
2,665 2,339

Other gains/(losses) — net

Httezs ~ (B518) —F8

2021 240210)
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT

Losses on disposals of property, HEME  BEMEEEE

plant and equipment (528) (1,325)
Exchange losses — net PE 5 E518 — F 58 (58) (267)
Losses on closure of an associate R — R E QR ZEE (171) -
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial FRBmREARBEYEZ

assets at fair value through profit TRMEENAAEE

or loss W/ (EE) 1,938 (6,922)
Others HAb 233 8

1,414 (8,506)
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CX b e
Expenses by nature 8 EMEIEMMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, seling and distribution AEERAR HERDHAXZ N
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as FITERATHRI MO T:
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F T oTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FBET
Cost of materials B AR 49,366 54,551
Auditor’s remuneration % ERRD B &
— Audit services —F RS 1,080 1,107
— Non-audit services — BT RS 250 277
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) EERMMAEZ (H:E9) 59,728 84,226
Depreciation of property, M- BEREETE
plant and equipment (Note 13) (FF7E13) 11,385 13,601
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CHREEENE
(Note 14) (FFzE14) 20,439 21,138
Outsourced customer support expenses 9N & P X 1B 5 2 16,738 21,608
Subcontracting fee ShHI B 58,004 111,288
Operating lease for short-term and RHREEEHREZ
low value lease (Note 14) ERE (MiE14) 2,762 4,345
Repairs and maintenance HIERRE 2,686 3,177
Distribution costs 2 AR 11,931 15,910
Utility expenses NARBKZ T 2,327 3,566
Others HAh 13,325 17,833
Total cost of sales, selling and HEKA HE KD HRAX
distribution expenses and AR AT 4858
administrative expenses 250,021 352,627
Others mainly represent credit card handling charges, HMXrZREERAFRFEE ES R
advertising and promotion expenses and telecommunication RERATREMAX -
expenses.
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BHMBHRAME

9 Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s

BERANMAX (BEEER
BREEEHM)

emoluments)
2021
—E_—F
HK$’000
FET
Salaries and allowances (Note a) e KOER (Kizta) 55,397 73,989
Bonuses and commissions A RAEE 810 6,004
Pension costs — defined contribution RIS KA— A TEHRETE
plans (Note b) (M3ED) 3,368 3,981
Welfare and other benefits & A I H b F 2% 153 252
59,728 84,226
Notes: B &
(@)  Salaries and allowances (@ FrekERM
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has received benefit HE-_T-_—F=A=+—HLLFE"
of approximately HK$12,498,000 from Hong Kong governments under 7 £ [ 45 B F A B R COVID-1948 B 5t
COVID-19 related employment support schemes. X EB A EIIE T 6948 7 £912,498,0007%
7T|: o
()  Pension costs — defined contribution plans (o) RIRSRRA—FREHRETE

The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2020: HK$1,500)
per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% and 11% of the
employees’ salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The
employees contribute up to 8% (2020: 8%) of their basic salaries,
while the Group contributes approximately 13% to 14% (2020: 13%
to 14%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.
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BB ERRMT

Employee benefits expense (including 9 EEEIBX (BREREERK
directors and senior management’s SREEEHH)
emoluments) (continuea)

Notes: (Continued) Mist: (&)

() Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Continued) () BRASKA-FEHKTE (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2021, the amount of the Group’s BHE-_ZT-—F=RA=+—BLFE"
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately AEBRERITAAEHRGTEHEHRD
HK$3,368,000 (2020: HK$3,981,000). There were forfeited contributions 3,368,000/ 7T (=& =% £ : 3,981,000
to the MPF Scheme of approximately HK$121,000 (2020: HK$725,000) Br) BHE-_Z-_—F=ZA=+—81L
which has been utilised for the year ended 31 March 2021. As at FEECHAMNERYREBESTEHARA
31 March 2021, contribution payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to #7121,000% 7T ( = F =T 4 : 725,000/
approximately HK$463,000 (2020: HK$436,000). ) RZEZ—F=ZA=+—H EnR

BTE ST EIME R 4463,0008 L (= =
T 1 436,000/8 7T) °

(€)  Five highest paid individuals (0 HEBREHFATL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for FR AEENREESFTALTEER
the year include two directors (2020: one director), whose emoluments BEE(ZTTF:—RESF) ZZF
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 36. The emoluments payable EENHTHME R M T H R
to the remaining three (2020: four) individuals are as follows: Me-ERBT=ZBAL(ZE_ZTF Y
B HManT -
2021 2020
= —TFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT F&T
Salaries and allowances e RoRR 3,631 4,119
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAT 398 1,553
Pension costs — defined contribution plans iR K& Ak A8 — R E 7 EH 2 54 72
4,083 5,744
The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands: ZENTOFHFNN FATEHE :
Number of individuals
AE
2021 2020
—EB-—f —ZE-TF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001% 7T 22,000,000 7T 1 2
3 4
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other AEEBERATNESIAEESTA
members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, THHEMKE NS EARSI NE
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of AEE - EMRAR BEARNEEAEEK
office. ERBERAEE -
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BHMBHRAME

10 Finance income - net

BEWA

Finance income

10 BEWA -

2021
—E-—F

HK$’000
FHET

2020
—E-FF
HK$’000
T T

— Interest income from loan receivables — — FE UL & 2 F 2 UL A 2,700 1,215
— Interest income from bank deposits —RITE A BHWA 401 1,464
— Unwinding of interests on refundable —A[REHESHF SN TR

rental deposits FE 232 223
________________________________________________________________________________________ 3,833 ......2902
Finance costs A& B A
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEAEMNERX (1,103) (1,544)
— Interest expenses on borrowings —EEMERX (450) (546)
_______________________________________________________________________________________ (1,553) (2,090
Finance income — net BB WA —FEE 1,780 812

11 Income tax expense

11 FiIS®AxX

240210)
—E-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Current income tax EHEH

- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNER 2,882 3,550
- PRC corporate income tax —H B EREH - 35

Under/(over)-provision in prior years BEFEREEBIR
(FBEERE) 32 (58)
2,914 3,527
Deferred income tax (Note 30) EFEFTS R (F7E30) (1,264) (374)
Income tax expense FrisBimx 1,650 3,153
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ClibpE ks
Income tax expense (coninueq) 11 A«
Subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject to ( ET - —FRFFF=H
Hong Kong profits tax at a rate of 8.25% on the estimated =t+—HBLEFE REBFMKL
assessable profit up to approximately HK$2,000,000 and R B QR A EFE 5T ER
16.5% on any part of the estimated assessable profit over ) Z%T'i FI 71~ 8 38 492,000,0007% 7T #Y
approximately HK$2,000,000 for the years ended 31 March B 128.25%H) Bt F [ F ] 8 8 4V
2021 and 2020. 2 ooo 00078 JT i) &8 2 $216.5%H) Tt

REHMBEENER -

Subsidiary incorporated in the PRC is subject to PRC Jigaall= EHHEZ_L BB AR RARR
corporate income tax based on the statutory income tax rate T)% 1B AR B AT S A OE Bl &R /35 RET
of 25% for the year (2020: 25%) as determined in accordance WEREEMSEHMNE2% (ZF
with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations. The ZEF 25% )BMETBRBERS
Company has not been subject to any taxation in the Cayman el = NN 2 R 5 AR VAR 75
Islands as it does not have any assessable profit since its EEMERWN AN WEBAHN
incorporation. EAFRESEESHIE-
The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax AR & B &9 R FTAF B AT R A T 28 A
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using A Hy T T8 BB A i AR R L A HE A
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the EERBEHERBO RN MEF
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows: AR EFENERBEMTR -

BEBERmT:

2021
—E_—F
HK$’000
FHET
Profit before income tax bR PT 1S 0 A % K 20,989 8,599
Tax calculated at a weighted average RNEF O E15%THE
tax rate of 15% (2020: 16%) Hi1E (4$4§¢ 16%) 3,107 1,395
Tax effects of: AT EIBEHNHIER
— Share of losses/(profits) of associates ~ — &1 5 R /N] FE? TE/
O ) 238 (41)
— Share of profits of joint ventures —EiEEERERN (62) 272)
— Income not subject to tax — AR 5FR Ol N (2,502) (839)
— Expenses not deductible for tax SOk 56
purposes 405 2,067
— Tax losses and other temporary — I FEFRIE I AT 15 B AY
differences for which no deferred HIAEE R M E R =5
income tax was recognised 827 901
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised — — ) i@ R #ER
tax losses THIEE 1B (395) -
— Under/(over)-provision in prior years ~ —@EFERBER T,
(R ) 32 (58)
1,650 3,153
Note: P &L -
The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are mainly $'§ BEARTRBRBRAEER(ZEZERE S
Hong Kong, the PRC, Malaysia and Australia with tax rate ranged from 16.5% FE-ERATRBAMNE)HMB HENF
to 28.5%. 16.5%%28.5% °

2020/21% 3 eprint EEER AT 195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRAME

12 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

12 ERER

(a) BREXER

BREXANTIIREA R A # &R

BAREGEMNGBEABE T - —%F
T _ZEF=-A=+—-HILEEFE

EHRTEBRBRMETFORE-

Profit attributable to equity holders of

RABIESF B ARG G

the Company (HK$’000) (F%7T) 19,009 5,688
Weighted average number of B a7 mAR N T8

ordinary shares in issue (thousands) (Fr%) 550,000 550,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FREXRREF GBL) 3.46 1.03
Diluted earnings per share (b) EREEER

(b)

Diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings
per share for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 as
there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the years.
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BB ERRMT

13 WX BEKRRE

13 Property, plant and equipment

Computer,
Leasehold Plantand  furniture and
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment  Motor vehicles Total
Bl HER
BF HENEER HER ®E RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT Tin Tin T THT TR
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEEMA-A
Cost KA 67,850 14,795 108,202 17,641 1,729 205,217
Accumulated depreciation 2itHE (5,347) (11,801) (55,514) (14,122) (942) (87,726)
Accumulated impairment ZiEE - - (722) @ = (726)
Net book amount REFE 62,503 2,994 46,966 3515 787 116,765
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE-_ZT-ZF
ZAZT-ALEE
Opening net book amount FNREEE 62,503 2,99 46,966 3515 787 116,765
Additions NE - 303 2410 4,184 S 6,807
Disposals HE - ul (1,608) (19 = (1,634)
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Ms) 2,213) (1,389) (7,876) (1,777) (346) (13,601)
Currency translation differences ERES - 1) ©) (38) - 62)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 60,290 1,880 39,889 5,865 441 108,365
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-%F
=RA=1-~H
Cost KA 67,850 14,923 99,987 21,329 1727 205,816
Accumulated depreciation RiHE (7,560) (13,043) (59,423) (15,460) (1,286) (96,772)
Accumulated impairment 2EAE - - (675) ] = (679)
Net book amount REFE 60,290 1,880 39,889 5,865 441 108,365
Year ended 31 March 2021 HE-Z--F
=A=t-ALFE
Opening net book amount FURETE 60,290 1,880 39,889 5,865 441 108,365
Additions hE - - 3,058 1,744 S 4,802
Disposals HE - - (698) (21) = 719
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Ms) 2,212) (1,169) (5,845) (1,898) (261) (11,385)
Currency translation differences ERES - 14 ) 34 - 43
Closing net book amount FREEFE 58,078 725 36,399 5,724 180 101,106
At 31 March 2021 i
=A=t+-B
Cost KA 67,850 14,998 102,007 23,018 1727 209,600
Accumulated depreciation RiHE 9,772) (14,273) (64,904) (17,294) (1547) (107,790)
Accumulated impairment ZitRE - - (704) = = (704)
Net book amount REFE 58,078 725 36,309 5,724 180 101,106
Note: Bt &E -

As at 31 March 2021, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately
HK$58,078,000 (2020: HK$60,290,000) were pledged to banks to secure
bank borrowings of approximately HK$18,943,000 (2020: HK$19,949,000)

(Note 29).

R-_ZE-_—F=ZF=+—8B EEEAYD
58,078,000/ 7T (=& — & 4 : 60,290,000/

TWEBFEERTRT

NERSERLD

18,943,000/ 7T (= F =4 : 19,949,000/%8 7T )
RISRAT A 3R (Bi7E29) -
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&I R M EE
13 Property, plant and equipment coninued) 13 ¥ - BERZE =
Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment AEENYE - BERKEBEBIITE
has been charged to the profit and loss as follows: ERBEmPHNR BBBRAT:
2021 2020
—E-—F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Cost of sales =D 6,252 8,414
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX 2,708 2,712
Administrative expenses THRHEX 2,425 2,475
11,385 13,601

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 14 FAEEEREEESERE

The Group has lease contracts for machinery, equipment, AEBBFI UM -RELRBEEDN
and stores. The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use HEEHN AEEFREEELME
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 and EBERZ-ZZEZ—FRZZ_ZF
the movement during the years ended 31 March 2021 and AT HENEREEEREEC
2020 are as follows: T FRITFEF=ZRA=+—
HIEFERMEENT :
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14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(a)

(Continued)

Movement during the years ended 31 March

2021 and 2020:

BB ERRMT

14 FRAREERHEHEERw

(a) RBE=-ZE-_—FR=-FZ
FZA=1+t—BHLFENSEF:

Machinery and
Machinery motor vehicle
and under finance
equipment lease Stores
MEREETH
BERRE KBERRE B E @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT AT THET
At 1 Aprll 2019 R-B-nEMA—H
Cost %N 2,893 4,448 41,841 49,182
Accumulated depreciation ZEE - - - -
Net book amount REFE 2,893 4,448 41,841 49,182
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-T-ZF
“AZT-AL%E
Opening net book amount FOREFE 2,893 4,448 41,841 49,182
Additions NE - 2,804 7,303 10,107
Depreciation (Note 8) & (Fi8) (631) (2,946) (17,561) (21,138)
Closing net book amount EXREEFE 2,262 4,306 31,583 38,151
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-ZF
=RA=+—H
Cost A 2,893 7,252 49,144 59,289
Accumulated depreciation ZEME (631) (2,946) (17,561) (21,138)
Net book amount REEE 2,262 4,306 31,583 38,151
Year ended 31 March 2021 Hz-Z2--fF
ZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 2,262 4,306 31,583 38,151
Additions RE - - 2,494 2,494
Depreciation (Note 8) & (M) (631) (1,646) (18,162) (20,439)
Closing net book amount FEREEFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—%
=RB=+—-H
Cost %N 2,893 7,252 46,409 56,554
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (1,262) (4,592) (30,494) (36,348)
Net book amount REFE 1,631 2,660 15,915 20,206
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BHMBHRAME

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(Continued)

(b)

statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial
following amounts relating to leases:

Balances recognised in the consolidated

position shows the

14 FRABEEREERBEw

(b) REHBBERREBRE 2t

EHMBRARARBTIATEEES
BT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Machinery and equipment W28 K 3R 1,631 2,262
Machinery and motor vehicle under BEREE TAKE RTE
finance lease 2,660 4,306
Stores G 15,915 31,583
20,206 38,151
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current portion mEE D 17,513 20,200
Non-current portion ERENE 2,053 17,004
19,566 37,204

Note:

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the machinery and motor vehicle under
finance lease were secured by personal guarantees provided by a related party

of the Group. For details, please refer to Note 34 (c).

(c) Amounts recognised in the profit and loss

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Operating lease rental for short-term
and low value leases

EREEENTE

HEREMNEFHX

REPREEEHREZ

REHEHES

GEE

RIEBE-_—FR-_TE-_TFE=F=+—0"&
AHEBETHHERAEDNEAEENBE
FRENEARRERKF FBEBZ2HME
34(c) °

(c) REEZFRIMNKE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ET-THF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHER FAT
20,439 21,138
1,103 1,544
2,762 4,345
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14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(c)

(d)

(e)

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss
(Continueq)

The total cash outflow of leases for the year ended
31 March 2021 was approximately HK$24,058,000 (2020:
HK$24,979,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2021, Depreciation of
approximately HK$12,979,000 (2020:HK$13,927,000) has
been charged in ‘cost of sales’, approximately HK$6,152,000
(2020: HK$5,630,000) in ‘selling and distribution expenses’,
approximately HK$1,308,000 (2020:HK$1,581,000) in
‘administrative expenses’ respectively.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various stores, machineries, and office
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 2 to 5 years, but may have extension options as
described in (g) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of leases across
the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended.

BB ERRMT

14 EFREEEREERE«

(c)

(d)

(e)

RIEEPEFRE @)

FEMHEERS R D B T4
24,058,000 T (&2 =%
24,979,000 7T ) °

HE-_ZEZ-_—F=ZA=Z=+—H1
FEFEH12,979,0008 T (=
T - T F:13,927,0008 L)
496,152,000 T (ZE T F:
5,630,000 7T ) K& #71,308,0007% 7T
(ZZE-F%:1,581,000 7T) % Bl
RIEERAN] [HERD #HRAX]
MIITHAS] -

EI%%Z?HEJEEJJ&E)\?EE
I

AEBEHEHEZHBE SHEBSK
MARB - HEAHN —RB2ELF
B E E IR - MR A T X (e) B AT AL
HRE FRIE B

HEGRRDZENEEER 25
ERERATRAGRRGEF - HEBZEL
B N E R e AR A K
HEEETHWERES ARSI -
EEETAREREENER-

ERERERE

AEEZEREHEEERERE-
REEAOME L FEHERITIA N
BEREMEEEE - ABOMETA
MEREZRENAAKEITE
HELEAEBRTRE - EEAAE
BECRHEHRE TREZE
TeearElEMA-
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&I R M EE
15 Intangible assets 15 B EE
Goodwill
5k
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020 and R-ZE-HhhENMA—A —Z2-ZF
31 March 2021 =B=+—-BR=-ZE=-—F=HA=+—H
Net book amount RESE 725
Impairment test for goodwill EERENR
Management reviews the business performance of the EEEBERSEBIREBE ZERMAR
Group based on the products and services the respective BKEMNASBERXE-BEEER
business provided. Goodwill is monitored by management BERENHEE 2 HEB - ASEEE
at the operating segment level. The Group’s goodwill was RZF—HFMA—HEEe-banner
arisen from the acquisition of additional 11% equity interests Limited®E IM 1% 2 IR EE S I & 5
in e-banner Limited on 1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the (e TS
banner printing operating segment.
Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount &1 FRVBEeELESEMER
of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount which results EEEfaRAlkBcEmBfEE
in impairment of goodwill. The carrying amount consisted BE- FAEEEYE BERK
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and w TRAREELRBER-BHEaESE
goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined BUMA KB SEIRERAEETE
based on value-in-use calculation. The calculation use pre- BT ZiERAEREREME
tax cash flow projections based on financial budget approved MRERAFHBANYBREEZRESF
by management covering a five-year period with the first year 4B RE(ZZE_FF - 5F
growth rate of 14% (2020: First year negative growth rate of B REIIR) - F_F21% (=ZF
31%), the second year growth rate of 21% (2020: 43%) and ZEF A3% ) MEREREANE =
forecasted average revenue growth rate for third to fifth year FEFRFSH (T _TF:5%)
at 5% (2020: 5%). Gross profit margin are assumed to be MEHRSEREELOFRANER S
87%-39% (2020: 34%-41%) for the forecast period. Cash 2 TR OB o 5O TR ORI BAfA R R A XK
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the BlT%E39% (ZE-_FF :34% %
estimated growth rate of 2% (2020: 2%) and pre-tax discount M%) ZHAFHEZEMNBREERE
rate of 14% (2020: 13%). HKAGAEBER2 (T - F:
2% ) RBATARIR £14% (Z T = F
F:13% )HE -
Management determined the revenue growth rate based on EEEBEERMSMNEEER NG
past performance and expectations on market and operational ¥EMPEETURERX - AE
development. The discount rate applied by the Group is rate EEACHEBRERMEERREEE
that reflect current market assessment of the time value of ZEAMMBAMRASELEEMNE
money and the risk specific to the CGU. E LB o
As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable amount HRBRERST R —F=
calculated based on the value-in-use calculation exceeded A=+T—HBRBERAEAETEZE
carrying amount by approximately HK$14,699,000 (the FEMNTKESEBBEREEEBELY
headroom) as at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$12,786,000). As 14,699,000 T (Z%8) (ZE=%
a result, no impairment loss was charged for the year ended %F:12,786,0008 7T) - At RN &L
31 March 2021 (2020: Nil). E-E-_—F=ZA=+—RHULEEFE
MENRREBERE(ZZE_ZF
) o
Management determined that if the gross profit margin BEEET WMEMEREE25% H

decreased by 2.5%, it would remove the headroom. #EBR BRI ERE -
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16 Subsidiaries

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2021

and 2020:

Name of company

AEER

Directly held:
EEEE:
Promise Network
Holding Limited
R B L EDRI
BRARF

eprint Digital Holding
Limited

E-print Group Limited

eprint Holdings Limited

e-print Trading Limited

Place of incorporation and kind of Particulars of issued

legal entity

EREARE P50RS | b

The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
limited liability company

ABRRES ((HBRAAE])

EREARH
The BV, limited liability company
REREAES BREAAR

The BV, limited liability company
EBRLHE BREMALA

The BV, limited liability company
ERRLHE BREALA

The BV, limited liability company
RERAES BREAAR

share capital

BRTRFHE

2,887 ordinary shares of

US$1 each

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

FEEBREERL %)

2021
—E--F

100%

2887 ERAEIELH

LRk

1 ordinary share of
US$1 each

100%

REREEIETHEER

50,000 ordinary shares of

US$1 each

100%

50,000 SREEIETH

LRk

1 ordinary share of
USS$1 each

100%

IRERAEIETHERR

1 ordinary share of
USS$1 each

100%

IREREEIETHEER

16

SR L

BB ERRMT

—TE - —FER T -_FTF=H
—t—H WBRAIBEMT:

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non-
controlling interest (%)
FEREREE
B B(%)

2021
“EC--F

Principal activities
and place of
operation
TEXBEHR
BRI

2020 2020

—g-gE

==

100% = - Investment holding in
Hong Kong

BRREER

100% = - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
FRRAZER
100% S - Investment holding in
Hong Kong

BERAER

100% > - Investment holding in
Hong Kong
FRRERR
100% S - Investment holding in
Hong Kong

BRREER
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16 BT

16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Proportion of Proportion of ordinary  Principal activities
Place of incorporation and kind of Particulars of issued ordinary shares held shares held by non- and place of
Name of company legal entity share capital by the Group (%) controlling interest (%)  operation
FERBEERT TEXBEHR
DEER MR BEREERREY BRARARFE FEBEEEBR L A(%) LB B1(%) EXHE
2021 2020 2021 2020
ZB--F ZBC-®f CZBC--F CZECEE
Indirectly held:
BiEEE:
Promise Network Hong Kong, limited liability company 2,886 ordinary shares of 100% 100% > - Provision of printing
Printing Limited B BREAAH HK$1 each services in Hong
{Re&ES 4 L ENR 2,886 BREEE LA Kong
ARARRA Lak EEBREDRIRS
Invoice Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 1,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of printing
ERRIERAR B4 AREAAA HK$1 each services in Hong
1,000 BREB1#E T Kong
Lak EEBREDRIRS
Kimley Technology Hong Kong, limited liabilty company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100% S - Investment holding in
(HK) Limited B BERAALRA HK$1 each Hong Kong
SRHE (%) 2, TR B RAEEIETH BERERR
ARAT LRk
Dajinlai Technology The PRC, limited liability company 1,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of I.T. services
(Shenzhen) Limited'2 & BREF A RMBT each in the PRC
A& REHE ORI 1,000,000 &R EE EREREEAR KR
BRAF? ARBITHEER %
Lucky Gainer Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability company 2 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of
ERARAA B BREMLA HK$1 each management services
REREEBETHEER in Hong Kong
EEBREERRY
Design Easy Limited Hong Kong, limited liabilty company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100% S - Provision of printing
Rt 5 (BE) B BREAAR HK$1 each services in Hong
BRAR 27T BREE A TTH) Kong
Lak EEBREDRIRS
eprint Investments The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% = - Property investment in
Limited RERAES BREALA US$1 each Hong Kong
RERAEIETHLBR EANERE
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Name of company

NEER

16 Subsidiaries continuea)

Place of incorporation and kind of Particulars of issued

legal entity

ELEARE PSORS ) £ b

Indirectly held: (Continued)

MERg: (4)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

16 i B =) =)

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by non-
controlling interest (%)
FEREREE
LB (%)

share capital

BRTRFHE

FREXFEERLA(%)
2021 2020 2021 2020

ZE--F ZBCRE CB--F CBIEE

eprint Property The BVI, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of 100% 100% = =
Investments Limited ~ HEBE 2 F# S AREAAT US$1 each
REREBIZTNL AR
e-banner Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 40,133,000 ordinary shares 51% 51% 49% 49%
B BREERA of HK$1 each
40,133,000 5 RA A
BT LAk
Digital Printing Centre  Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% S =
Limited B EREALR HK$1 each
SIBENRIR L BRAR 10,0005 8 REE 15 TTH)
Lak
Ebanner Solution Malaysia, limited liability company 400,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - -
Sdn. Bhd. SRAEE BREMLAR RM1 each
400000k BRABITHE
TRk
E-BOSS CO. LIMITED  Hong Kong, limited liability company 1 ordinary shares of 100% 100% = =
EHBER LT B BREMAA HK$1 each
REREEIETHEBR
eprint Japan Limited'  Japan, limited liability company 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% = =
Eprint Japantk A €4 AR BREAAF JPY25,000 each
100 & R 625,008
HERER
010 Limited Hong Kong, limited liability company 765 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49%
EE BRRELA HK$1,000 each and 735
ordinary shares of
HK$534 each
7650k SRR E (E1,0007 7T
EBR R735RER
HEME TN EBR
English translation is for identification purpose only. L BN EREMRER -
Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law e

Principal activities
and place of
operation
FTEXBEDR

Property investment in
Hong Kong
EANERE

Provision of digital
printing services in
Hong Kong

EERREAFERIR
%

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Provision of printing
senvices in Malaysia
EBRETRAERR

%

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
FRREER

Dormant

EEXH

Trading of optical
products
REERR

REHBEEFEMAINEBEDRE

2020/21% R eprint EEER AT 205



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHMBHRAME

16 Subsidiaries continuea)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2021 is
HK$6,507,000 (2020: HK$6,154,000), in which the majority of
amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries
(“e-banner Group”).

() Summarised consolidated financial information on
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial
information for the e-banner Group that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group. The amounts
disclosed for e-banner Group are before inter-company
eliminations.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position

16 BB A 8 =
(a) EXRFERESR

(i)

RZT_—F=A=+—0 3

— T :6,154,0008 L) ¢ KETB
B e-banner Limited 2 E i B A 7
(Te-banner&=E ] )

BEEAFEZRESZNONBELRZ
O BERBE

TXEINEAEBEMSBEANNE
BRI Ne-bannerE@E 2 &
HEEERBEE - he-bannerE B AT
BENSBALRRIKEATMESE-

BOF RN /B E

e-banner Group
e-bannerk &

2021 2020
—E-—F T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Current mE
Assets BE 16,902 13,711
Liabilities afE (13,421) (11,901)
Total current net assets MBEEFHEAT 3,481 1,810
Non-current IET B
Assets BE 10,329 13,279
Liabilities af (417) (2,200)
Total non-current net assets ERBEEFHEART 9,912 11,079
Net assets BEFHE 13,393 12,889
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BT RRMITE
16 Subsidiaries (continued 16 i B ") =)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (continued) (a) EXFERES =)
Summarised consolidated statement of EHEERERBE

comprehensive income

e-banner Group
e-bannerf

2021 2020

—EB-—F —ET-THF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FA&TT

Revenue g 56,498 83,651
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSELAT (B18) w5 (465) 723
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,  (FAX) 925 (179)
Profit for the year F A5 A 460 544

17 Investments in associates 17 RBE RN ERE

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FiB FiET

At beginning of year REH] 2,407 1,158
Addition (Note (i) and (ii)) WNE (M EE§) K (i) 500 1,000
Share of (losses)/profits of associates ~ FE/HEEE A7) (E518) & F (1,441) 249
Dividend received (Note (iii)) Fr W A% &, (B & i) ) (785) -
At end of year RER 681 2,407
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17 Investments in associates (coninueq

Details of the Group’s investments in associates are as
follows:

Name of company

DAER

Place of business/
Effective interest
held as at 31 March

country of
incorporation
£330
AR LB R

REZA=+-ARERREL
2021 2020
—E--§ CZT=%

— -7

17 REEE QN TR E »)
REEBRBERNRNKEFBWOT :

Principal activities

TERKED

Shenzhen Yi Yun HuWang  PRC - 30%  Provision of cloud
Tong Technology F printing services
Company Limited' 2 REZ IR

AYEEEBBRHER
BRAF 20

Sakura Japan Property Hong Kong 20% 20%  Provision of real estate
(Hong Kong) Limited' Bk agency services

B2 T8E (FE)BERAA REFHERRRS

e-post Limited’ Hong Kong 40% 40%  Provision of catering

Ei services
REZRRS

(i

(i)

()

The financial statements of these companies are not audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

English translation is for identification purpose only.

The Company was liquidated on 26 November 2020.

On 27 July 2020 and 25 September 2020, the Group have made a
capital injection of HK$400,000 and HK$100,000 respectively to Sakura
Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited, representing 20% of the enlarged
issued share capital.

On 8 May 2019, the Group subscribed 100 shares in e-post
Limited, representing 40% of the enlarged issued share capital, with
consideration of HK$1,000,000, of which consideration of HK$800,000
was paid by cash and HK$200,000 remained outstanding and included
in amount due to a related party.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, e-post limited distributed dividend
of $785,000 (HK$7,850 per ordinary share) to the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no dividends declared
relating to the Group’s interest in associates.

There are no commitments and contingent liabilities relating to the
Group’s interest in the associates.
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(i

(i)

(v)

Measurement
method Carrying amount
TEAE HREE
2021 2020
“E--f C—ZCZEZF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TER  FER
Equity - =
Bwk
Equity 681 620
Bwk
Equity - 1,787
BRA

ZERFZ MWK I b R OKE
SREEBMER-

RGERERBR

FZARR_EZEF+ A=+ AR
REE-

RZZEZZEFLtA=Z+EtAR=ZZT=F
FAAZ+RRA AEBERABZTE
E (B%)BR QA S 5FE E400,000%
7T &% 100,000 70 - 1B B RiE K& B 31T
f& AN #920% °

RZZE—AEFRANB AEBRE
e-post Limited 100A% A% 175 * 1 & R &K 1&
B TR AN #940% * {8 /1,000,000
7T+ H th {800,000/ 7T AR £ X+
if1200,0007% Ty ok X 1+ + 5+ A FE - B i@
FRIE

BE_Z-_—4F=ZA=+—ALEE"
e-post Limited[A) 78 & &k - 1% £.785,000
ET (FRE®RT,8508 L) °

BE-_Z-_TF=A=+—HALEFE"
WEMRAEBREERARNESREIRT
fAIfR & ©

Y EABAARENE S AR ) RE
e R =L



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CX b e
18 Investments in joint ventures 18 REELENRE
2021 240210)
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
At beginning of year T 4] 11,792 10,084
Addition (Note (i)) B (MTEEG)) - 1,000
Share of profits of joint ventures JE1E & & 375 1,648
Currency translation differences ME N %R 911 (940)
At end of year RER 13,078 11,792
Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBZEELEFBOT:

Place of business/

country of Percentage of Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest Principal activities method Carrying amount
AR AR RS S B R EREDL TEXBED FEAE REE
2021 2020 2021 2020
“2--f CZZ-ITF “2--Ff ZZ-ITF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THL
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 30% 30%  Provision of printing Equity 11,445 10,834
services
SRAES RAENRIRTS ERA
Top Success Investment BVI 50% 50%  Provision of finance Equity 1,633 958
Group Limited leasing of yacht
EARBREERERAT RERLES REEEHNERE - Faln
Notes: Mt 5
0] On 17 March 2020, the Group subscribed 20,000 shares in Top [0) RZZE_ZTF=ZRA+EH AEEHLR
Success Investment Group Limited, representing 50% of the enlarged 2 181,000,000 TREIL T REEE
issued share capital, with a cash consideration of HK$1,000,000. P& A PR A 7] 220,000 & 17 - 4B & A &
A& B BEITIRAAIS0% °
(ii) For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no dividends (ii) BHE-Z-_—FR=-_FT=_FTF=A
declared relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures. =+—BLEFE VERAEBREE

CENESEEIREMBRS -

(i)  As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has no commitments and iy MZE_—FR-_ZE_TF=-A=+—
no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures. A AEBUEBFEAEEREGEDE

BamEMAERRAAE-
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18 REELENKEBE »
(a) ;Eé TESHBTBE R

18 Investments in joint ventures continueq)

(@) Summarised consolidated financial information
of material joint venture
Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial T X & Flle-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.
information for e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and its subsidiaries N H K8 A 7] (Te-print Solutions |)
(“e-print Solutions”) which is accounted for using the equity MEHTBERBE  WUEREA
method. iR o
Summarised consolidated statement of financial SO BERRRBE
position

e-print Solutions

2021 2020
—B=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Current assets MENEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEH 10,204 8,456
Other current assets (excluding cash Himeh&EE (TeE

and cash equivalents) RekReEMEIEER) 6,947 6,579
Total currentassets  a®AEE® 17,151 15085
Current liabilities nEaE
Financial liabilities cRaE(TeEEs

(excluding trade payables) FETRE) (6,627) (5,384)
Other current liabilities HEmrsasE (BiEES

(including trade payables) FETRE) (11,050) (12,299)
Total current liabilitles  n@AMe® (17.677) | (17,683)
Totalnon-currentassets  JFmE)AEML® 0 69366 70,526
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Financial liabilities SR aE (27,703) (28,979)
Other liabilities HihaE (3,156) (2,957)
Total non-current liabilities ~ JFmBIAMEEE 0000 (30.859) | (31,936)
Net assets BEFE 37,981 35,942
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Xt ek
18 Investments in joint ventures (continueq 18 REELENRE »
(a) Summarised consolidated financial information (a) EEA &t ¥ S MK E R
of material joint venture (continuec) B
Summarised consolidated statement of EHEEREREE

comprehensive income

e-print Solutions

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHET
Revenue U 28 64,631 93,444
Depreciation weE (4,270) (5,484)
Finance cost BE KA (1,462) (1,852)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETERAT (B18), w5 (170) 7,175
Income tax expense Frisfim X (847) (1,542)
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(E8B), & F (1,017) 5,633

NEEHRBRELEENAFIT
BERAZINWBER UIEANEBE R
HEE IERAEEESEDLE
ZHEHEHABRRNERFHFRE -

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
consolidated financial statements of the joint venture and
not for the Group’s share of those amounts, adjusted for
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the
joint venture.

(b) Reconciliation of summarised consolidated (b) EHHBERBENHR
financial information

BHUBERBZNHERZIEAR
—HeEXMESKEE.

Reconciliation of the summarised consolidated financial
information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in
a joint venture.

e-print Solutions

2021 2020

—E-—F —TTHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Opening net assets FHEEFR 35,942 33,430
(Loss)/profit for the year FA(EBE), & (1,017) 5,633
Currency translation differences fE N ZE%R 3,056 (3,121)
Closing net assets FREEFR 37,981 35,942
Interest in joint venture RE&EPENER 30% 30%
Share of net assets EIEEEFRE 11,394 10,783
Goodwill EES 51 51
Carrying amount BRMEE 11,445 10,834
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19 Financial instruments by category

9 BEREINEMTA

Financial
asset at Financial
amortised assets at
costs-loans fair value
and through
receivables  profit or loss
12 65 AR AR
HIRR 2 ZERBERR
CHEE- DAEEIERZ
EXRRERRE SREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2021 RZE=-—4$=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables 2 5 R E MWK
(excluding prepayments) (T EERMNRIEA) 9,735 - 9,735
Amounts due from related companies &R #8381 & 7IA 250 - 250
Other financial assets at R HR AR 2
amortised cost HibemEE 45,596 - 45,596
Financial assets at fair value through BEBEZE AR EE
profit or loss Sl B E - 19,185 19,185
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEIESR 106,565 - 106,565
162,146 19,185 181,331
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-TF=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables 2 5 R H M EW IR
(excluding prepayments) (TBEEMNRIE) 8,824 - 8,824
Amounts due from related companies & U8 &~ 515118 159 - 159
Other financial assets at hﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%zﬁﬁﬂ [yl
amortised cost HihemEE 13,798 - 13,798
Financial assets at fair value through BEBEZEZAAEE
profit or loss SRz e MEE - 25,469 25,469
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReFEAR 101,525 - 101,525
124,306 25,469 149,775
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BT RRMITE
19 Financial instruments by category conines 19 REBIE T HWEHM T A«
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
T2 B B B X
HIBRZ
==
HK$'000
FHIT
Liabilities ﬁ%
As at 31 March 2021 RZFEZ—F=HA=+—H
Amounts due to related parties F‘é‘ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁm 201
Amounts due to directors ENEERIE 165
Borrowings BE 19,904

Trade and other payables (excluding advanced
receipts from customers, contract liabilities

Bo5 MEMENFIA (TEEER
BEPFE AaBBENERFHN)

and accrued expenses) 8,331
Lease liabilities HEBE 19,566
48,167
As at 31 March 2020 RN—_ZE_TF=R=+—H
Amounts due to related parties FET B E 5 RIE 201
Amounts due to directors ERTESEHIA 165
Borrowings BE 21,157
Trade and other payables (excluding advanced B REMENFIE (TRERK
receipts from customers, contract liabilities BPFIE sHABENRERX)
and accrued expenses) 6,659
Lease liabilities HERRE 37,204
65,386
20 Inventories 20 &
2021 2020
—EB=—F —ET_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Raw materials JR M 6,065 6,191
Work-in-progress £ & m 191 216
Finished goods BIRX on 358 397
6,614 6,804
The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included BHE-_Z-_—F=A=+—8HL*F
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$49,366,000 B HREBIWLH A THEE KK
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$54,551,000). B BB AR 5 4949,366,0008 7T (=

T L F 54,551,000 1) °
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21 Trade receivables

21 ESREWFRIE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAT
Trade receivables 2 5 W RIA 5,985 4,493
Less: loss allowance B BIERE (1,003) (325)
Trade receivables — net B 5 W RIE—F 58 4,982 4,168
Notes: B3
() The directors of the Company apply the simplified approach to provide 0] ARAEFRABEAENREANH
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits HEAFERFAEHEREEFE &
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables. B SRS AN FEIN 1 B 5 IR
To measure the expected credit losses, these receivables have been HERAEAEREERE - RFTEEH
grouped based on firstly shared credit risk characteristics and then FEEEBE ZERBRECELREHR
aging from billing. AEERRBREBE AEREREE
TERER DT
See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss EHESERFENEERRBORE
provision for trade receivables and the information about how HEBEFRBEURNAGERERSE
impairment losses are calculated. HE R BL2EMES.Db) °
Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of trade AEBESRBFIERERBEREBZ
receivables are detailed in Note 3.1(b)(iv). By EE AT EES (D)) ©
(ii) As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the maximum exposure to credit risk is (ii) R FR_E_TF=ZA=+—
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and the Group does not hold H - BAXONEAEERRDE S ERRK
any collateral as security. HREEERASEE Y ERE TR
R
(i) As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, due to the short term nature of trade iy RZEZ—FERZTZTF=ZA=+-—
receivables, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying H BREFERKFENEHEE AA
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values. AEERABIERFENEEESRL
AR EEES -
vy  As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of trade ivy RZEZ—FR-ZT-_TF=F=1+-—

receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on delivery and
on credit. The average credit period ranges from 30 days to 60 days.
The ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based on invoice
date is as follows:

BB RRE R E EE B LB
s

AEFRHENN KGR TEREINK
REE - FHEEHN FI0H E60R 12
HEAMESNE HEWTAERERER
DHMT

2021 2020

—E-—F —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHIT

0 - 30 days 0ZE30H 2,641 1,821
31 - 60 days 31Z60H 753 560
Over 60 days #B3860H 2,591 2,112
5,985 4,493
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BB ERRMT

22 B FANFERHEMENR

22 Deposits, prepayments and other

. =+
receivables MIE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Deposits and prepayments (Note (i) B RTERRIE (MEEE)) 8,812 11,763
Other receivables H h & W kI8 293 342
9,105 12,105

Less: non-current portion B IEREN R

Deposits and prepayments e RIEMRIE (770) (2,921)

Deposits, prepayments and Be - B FIEREAmERK

other receivables — current portion HKE—-REHBD 8,335 9,184

Notes: it 5

[0) Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments for utility, 0] ZeRTEREHERe R ARARBEN
insurance expenses and sub-contracting fee. HIE-REBASZESBER-

(i) For Deposits and other receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 (i) FEeREMERFENS KAEBEK
general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a RAEAMBRELEAESR— KA EHZ
3-stage model to measure loss allowance. BHEEER ERA-BRELNE

E R
See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss ERZRSREMERZINEERB#D
provision for deposits, and other receivables and the information about LEHEEEBRREUREBNAE
how impairment losses are calculated. BEEIEHNER B2 E3.10) °
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, management considered that the RZEZ—FR-ZF_TF=A=1+—
expected credit loss for deposits and other receivables was immaterial, A EEERALREREMBEYRERN
thus no loss allowance was made. EHEEEBEBYTEXN AR RE
BRE-

(i)  As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the maximum exposure to credit risk iy RZEZ—FR-ZE-_ZTF=ZA=+—
is the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables as the Group B REBEWKRFE T AEKIFRIEER
does not hold any collateral as security. EZHRERNEERR RS & H i ER

RIBMBREE -

(iv)  As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the directors of the Company consider ivy MRZE-Z—FR-_ZT-_FTF=-AF=1+—
that the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate A ARAEERA RE REMEIRRK
their fair values. EHWEREEEREARBERE-

(v As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group’s (v) R —FRZZF-ZFEF=A=+—

deposits, prepayments and other receivables are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars.

B REBEMRSE TR RIE R E AR
PR RAEEZETAE-
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23 BBEMATIRZEME

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost

MEE

2021 240210]
—B-—F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHEIT
Loan and interest receivables (Note a)  FEUWRE Z & FI & (KMizTa) 48,005 16,200
Less: loss allowance (Note b) B BEEE (MEb) (2,409) (2,402)
45,596 13,798
Less: current portion BB E D (11,953) (12,965)
Non-current portion ERENE 33,643 833

(a) Movement of loan and interest receivables (a) EWEREKANENES

2021 2020

—2_-—-F —F-FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHE T

At beginning of the year NGl 16,200 11,614

Additions NE 34,991 5,600

Accrued interest B FI B 2,640 1,215
Transfer to financial assets at EREERERZARE

fair value through profit or loss PR BB E - (500)

Settlement for the year FEH#E (5,826) (1,729)

At end of the year RER 48,005 16,200

As at reporting date, the balance mainly compared of:

(0

A loan arrangement with the subsidiary of a joint venture
— Top Success Investment Group Limited entered by
the Group on 17 March 2020. The principal amount of
the loan amounted to approximately HK$30,000,000
(2020: Nil), with interest bearing at 6% per annum and
repayable for the year ending 31 March 2025.

A loan arrangement with an associate — e-post Limited
entered by the Group on 22 April 2020. The principal
amount of the loan amounted to approximately
HK$4,991,000 (2020: Nil), with interest bearing at 5%
per annum and repayable for the year ending 31 March
2025.
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23 Other financial assets at amortised cost

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

Movement of loan and interest receivables
(Continued)

(i) A loan arrangement with a third party extended by the
Group on 27 September 2020. As at 31 March 2021,
the principal of the loan and interest receivables was
amounted to approximately HK$13,014,000 (2020:
HK$15,000,000), with interest bearing at 8% per annum
(2020: 9% per annum) and repayable on 26 September
2021.

(iv) A 4-year loan agreement with another third party entered
by the Group on 13 March 2019 and 7 May 2019. As
at 31 March 2020, the principal amount of the loan
amounted to approximately HK$1,200,000, with interest
bearing at 5% per annum. The amount was settled in full
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Loss allowance

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group applies the HKFRS
9 general approach to measure expected credit losses which
uses a 3-stage model to measure loss allowance other
financial assets at amortised cost.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit
loss provision for other financial assets at amortised cost and
the information about how impairment losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of
other financial assets at amortised cost are detailed in Note
3.1(b)(ii).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised the loss
allowance of HK$7,000 (2020: HK$807,000) for other financial
assets at amortised costs.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is the carrying amounts of other financial assets at
amortised cost as the Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the carrying amount of other
financial assets at amortised costs are dominated in Hong
Kong dollar.

23 ZE A5 BR

(a)

(b)

BB ERRMT

B Hid
BEE

BERERRFANENEH »)

iy AEBR-ZZZTFHLA=+L
HERE-—RF=ZFHNENRL
Htﬂ T _—F=A=+—
RAERERFMELNR
wpmom%ﬁ(:%:?ir
15,000,000/ 7T ) * & F F £8%
HE(ZEZZF :5F9%)
R _ZE-_—FNA=-+xH
R

i

—
0
o

vy AEBR-_ZE-—NF=ZA+=
BEZZE—hFRA+HESR
—RE=ZAHF NN FEHRER
WE-R-_E_ZTF=ZA= +—
H- Eﬁzﬁém%mzoo,oooﬁé
TR EN KRR B HE
F—Ezﬂ_+ Etﬁﬁ'ﬁ

AICBEREB -
EBRERE

N _E - FRN T _FTF=A
=t H XAEEERAEEVHRE
HEHIFOR — M A AT ETEHEES
B HERAZEERIERT SR HEK
AYNEz EM & ENEEEE-

B ERRINE A M IR 8K A5
Rz HEtemEENTELEEEEE
HA KRB Bt ERERBIBRNER
EELINEXRIVE

AEEKZRBHEKATEREZEMESR
EEREBESEEGZEHFBHRN
B 5£3.1 (b)(ii) °

R-ZBE-—F=A=+—H0 " K&£HE
O HEZ &%%&$W$ZE@%@£
FW%E%%?%M&M -_=
£ : 807,000/ 7T) ©

RZEBEZ—FER_FT_FTF=AH
—t+—H B EETEFEEAE
HREER MasEERR AL
RADRZ &R EEMREE-

R-ZE - —FR T _FTF=A
=+ B REERANRZEMS
REEMNREENB T E

A

o

T

ey
e
5

_}
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24 Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

24 EZBBRFRAAEEIIK
LEMEE

2021 240210]

—ETTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHE T

Listed equity investments ERAEE 19,185 25,309
Unlisted convertible bond JE ARk ES - 160
19,185 25,469

Notes:

(i) On 6 March 2020, the issuer of the unlisted bond security, National Arts
Entertainment and Culture Group Ltd (“National Arts”), revised creditor’s
scheme and converted into a convertible bond. The instrument is
unsecured with a maturity term of five years and carries interest at 1%
per annum.

(ii) The listed equity investments represent shares listed on the Stock
Exchange.

(ii) The fair values of the listed equity investments and mutual fund
investments are based on quoted prices in active markets and are
classified within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

(iv) The fair value of the convertible bond is based on binomial model and
is classified within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. For the movement,
please refer to Note 3.3(b).

(V) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is presented within
investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(vi) Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in ‘other gains/(losses) — net’ in the profit and loss
(Note 7).

(vi)  Information about the relevant accounting policy and fair value
estimation is provided in Note 2.11 and Note 3.3, respectively. For an
analysis of the Group’s exposure to the price risk and credit risk, please
refer to Notes 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).
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BB ERRMT

25 ReRhREEEEE

25 Cash and cash equivalents

2021 2020

—EB-—F —T-THF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHE T

Cash at banks and on hand RITHE e RFHIAS 70,590 65,407
Short —term bank deposits (Note (i) REHASRIT I 3K (BIEEG)) 35,975 36,118
Cash and cash equivalents HehkIFLEEEE 106,565 101,525

Notes:

0

(i

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents represents cash and short-term bank
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less from the date
of acquisition.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rate.

Cash at banks and on hand of approximately HK$1,346,000 or
RMB1,171,000 (2020: HK$3,883,000 or RMB3,552,000) are
denominated in Renminbi. The conversion of Renminbi denominated
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of PRC are
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

(i

(i)

R RS EEE IR E e
FEMBAZEARUNZES R EH
BT

RITREVRBEEARTEFRNTLRTZS
) BRER S o

$R1T R F A £ 491,346,000 T A R
#1,171,0007T (= ZF == 4 : 3,883,000
7 TT a8 A R #3,552,0007T) T3 A A R
FTE - g AR SHE M & 82 5 K oh
HEREZEIINETENBRTEBRRES
FE (AR - 45 78 38 < R B RS AR A 0 AR
B HINE & 5135 B JOE AR o

RehkfeFEEBNEEENRT
PG’ ETE:

2021

—E-—5F

HK$’000

FHET
HK$ BT 69,088 60,559
Renminbi AR 1,346 3,883
uss$ ET 35,172 36,298
Others Htb 959 785
106,565 101,525
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26 Share capital and share premium

ETEBA - BREEC.017B TTH

Authorised capital - ordinary shares of

26 BARBMDREE

Number of
shares

RO#E
(thousands)

(FR)

Nominal value
of ordinary
shares
ERAREE
HK$'000
TAT

Share
premium
R RE

HK$'000

TET

HK$0.01 each Lidik
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RZZ-NEMA—H-
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 “T-EFZA=+-8"
—T-TFEA-BR
—E--F¥Zf=1+-H 10,000,000 100,000 =
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER:
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, RZZE-NEMA—AH"
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 —T-TF=ZA=1+-A8-
“E-TEMA-BK
—E--F=Zf=1+-H 550,000 5,500 132,921
Notes: BT 5T

(i) The ordinary shares entitle the holders to participate in dividends, and
to share in the proceeds of winding up the company in proportion to the
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The ordinary shares
entitle the holders to one vote per share at meetings in person or by
Proxy.

(ii) Share premium represents the excess of the issuance price of the
Company’s shares over its nominal value.
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27 Other reserves

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

27 HittfEE

Capital Exchange
reserve Other reserve Retained
(Note i) reserve (Note ii) earnings Total
N1 HNERE
(M=)  Hibf#fe (Batii)  REEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT TAT FHT TAT
As 1 April 2019 RZZE-NFENA—H 6,593 1) (1,877) 85,311 90,006
Profit for the year EREHN - - - 5,688 5,688
Release of exchange reserve to 5 — &I B A 7] & [0l
profit and loss upon INEREERIER
closure of a subsidiary - - (326) 326 -
Currency translation differences [ ¥ Z %8
- Group K& - - (524) - (524)
- Joint ventures and associates —4& & % N EEZ A7) - - (940) - (940)
Dividends (Note 31) B8 (Ki3E31) - - - (8,800) (8,800)
At 31 March 2020 and RZE-ZTF
1 April 2020 =A=+-HRk
—T-T¥NA-A 6,593 21) (3,667) 82,525 85,430
Profit for the year FEREF - - - 19,009 19,009
Release of exchange reserve to B — B & 1\ B4 B [)
profit and loss upon INERBRIER
closure of an associate - - 171 - 171
Currency translation differences [& i, = %8
- Group -r&E - - 206 - 206
- Joint ventures and associates —4& & (¥ R4 A T - - 911 - 911
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—F
ZA=+—H 6,593 (21) (2,379) 101,534 105,727
Notes: Bt 5
[0) Capital reserve 0] RN

(i

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, capital reserve of the Group represents
the aggregate values of share capital and share premium of certain
subsidiaries comprising the Group.

Exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the foreign
controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive income as
described in Note 2.7 and accumulated in a separate reserve within
equity. The cumulative amount is to be transferred to profit and loss
when the respective foreign controlled entities are disposed.

(i

RZZE-—FR-F-_FTF=A=+—
H AEEMNEAREEEAXAEER
ETHBRARMNBRARRKRG SENEE
fEo

SN 6 8

wnEE2. 7R A M E SN IE B R T E
ERMESZENEMEEKRARER I
REZANEBRED R - 228
MR HESINRIEF BB ERERE-
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28 Trade payables, accruals and other

28 ESEMAME Bt RER

payables HiEFRIE
2021 240210]
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Trade payables 2 SN RIA 7,186 5,998
Accruals and other payables: JE &t SR I8 B H th & < RKIE
Accrued expenses FEETRAX 13,784 13,869
Advanced from customers EFPER 4,853 4,422
Contract liabilities BHEE 6,693 5,347
Other payables H fh FE T 3B 1,145 1,724
Accruals and other payables JE & 3R I8 % CH 4th FE < 5RIB 26,475 25,362
Less: non-current portion B IERBEB D (470) (766)
Accruals and other payables-current JE &t 5K I8 I H i FE - IR
portion —mENE D 26,005 24,596
Notes: B 3

HERRHEANREREZAEE =
EHNT30HE90H °

(i) Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The credit (i)
period ranges from 30 to 90 days.

BE_T-_—F=ZA=+—RHLEE"
B R 2£5,347,0008 7T (ZE T F:
6,987,000/ 70) B st AHI¥I & L B E i
gﬁ °

(i) For the year ended 31 March 2021, HK$5,347,000 (2020: (i)
HK$6,987,000) of revenue recognised was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the period.

(i) As 31 March 2021, all trade payables, accruals and other payables iy MZTBEZ—F=ZA=+—H8 KAs
except contract liabilities of the Group were non-interest bearing, and WERBEIN FTBER S ERMNKE BT
their carrying amounts approximated their fair values due to short HIEREMEMNRELENS AR

maturities. HERE RENREEREQAAEE
HHE -
(iv)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals and other vy AEEMNEZEMNKE EBitREBERE

payables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. fth FEAS SRIB E B LA TTRTE

222 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2020/21



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT

28 ESENFIE B FER
H b P& S FRIE )

28 Trade payables, accruals and other
payables (Continued))

BHRNRBENEREAHNOKRE
DT

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date was as follows:

2021 2020
g —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FATT
0 — 30 days 02 30H 6,222 4,091
31 - 60 days 31260H 646 1,265
61 — 90 days 61290H 318 -
Over 90 days H@E90H - 642
7,186 5,998
29 Borrowings 29 £ &
2021 2020
—E=-—F —TETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT
Current mE
Trust receipt loans SR E R 961 1,208
Bank loans |ITER 18,943 19,949
19,904 21,157
Notes: B &

(i) The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial covenants and
the Group is in compliance with the financial covenants as at 31 March
2021 and 2020.

(i) As at 31 March 2021, the borrowings of the Group were secured
by personal guarantees provided by a related party of the Group
(Note 34(c)). Included in bank loans to the extent of approximately
HK$18,943,000 (2020: HK$19,949,000) are mortgage loans which are
secured by properties of the Group of approximately HK$58,078,000
(2020: HK$60,290,000) (Note 13).

(ii) The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximate their fair value
as the interest payable on these borrowings is either close to current
market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature.

(iv) Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from borrowings are set
out in Note 3.1(c).

(V) The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

(i

(i)

MR_B-—FR-_F-_FTF=ZF=1+—
B AEENEEASSHMZONEH
BAREE-EBETEHRY-

R-ZBE-_—F=ZA=+—H K5%£H
WEBDHASENBEERRRHEN
BAERERER (M E34(c)) <R
TEFRH18,943,0008 T (- F
119,949,000 L) BIE LA EE Y
¥ 458,078,000 L (ZE T F:
60,2&;0,0005%77:) EERORBER (M
$¥13) ©

RITEENEEERE AR BEMRS
THRZEGENBNMNSEARITH
SRR ERBELE -

AEERABEEENRER KD FBHR
M EE3.1(c) ©

R —FRZIF-_EF=A=1+—
A BEEMREAGENS T E.
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29 Borrowings (continued) 29 fHE

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

TE’EEZKEEEFE A A

EXBHRZIHAERE>HNEE
79? jt?ﬁﬁr)\&ﬂ?&%ﬂﬂ%fﬁﬂx
TQ\E']/

2021

—EBE-—f

HK$’000

FExT
Within 1 year —FR 1,088 2,212
Between 1 and 2 years —EWFE 1,049 1,026
Between 2 and 5 years MEERF 3,294 3,220
Over 5 years FFAE 13,573 14,699
19,904 21,157

Note: P&

Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause which enables
the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. Accordingly, the entire balance was
classified under current liabilities.

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were
as follows:

RITEERSRITAIDBITECREREERR
KB 2EEBRIERTBARK-

IHEFHERFER R :

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FE T FTAT

Trust receipt loans ERBEBEER 2.30% 3.70%

Bank loans RITEK 2.25% 2.25%

Note: P&

The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts as RZEZ—FRZZT-_FTF=A=+—AH &

at 31 March 2021 and 2020 as all the borrowings carry interests which are
benchmarked against Hong Kong Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).
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30 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
related to the same fiscal authority.

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
is as follows:

Deferred tax assets IR TEE E

— Deferred tax assets to be recovered

30

— A+ @ Az E

BB ERRMT

IEIEFr S

BEEMBERDREBEABEIENEE
FHEEMREERGHORERE
RUEZREHEAE-

A A AR BTN A A5 R iR IR
EERNHHEREHRE ARET
BB RE—FEREE - ADET
PREmiEELREEHEKE-

BEERIBEEEMEEHRBRED N
mn

2021
—_EgE-——5F

2020
—E-TF
HK$’000
FHIT

HK$’000
FHEx

after more than 12 months BERIBEE 3,059 2,134
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHIEAR
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered —iB3iE+ —1& A& U@ #y

after more than 12 months EEBIERE (6,009) (6,348)
Deferred tax liabilities — net BRI E 5 (2,950) (4,214)

The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are

BIEFSHERANEZSHMT

as follows:

2021 240210)
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
At beginning of year NG (4,214) (4,588)

Credited to the consolidated REMBERPETA
profit and loss (Note 11) (MF3E11) 1,264 374
At end of year RER (2,950) (4,214)
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&I R M EE
30 Deferred income tax (continveq) 30 ELERBH =
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BELEFEMEERBERFERN (K
for the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of %)‘5 F—#HEA Z,\nﬁfﬁfﬁ iH)#H
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: T

Accelerated tax depreciation

IR T E
2021 2020
—EB-—F ZTTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Deferred tax liabilities REHIBEE
At beginning of year RE] (6,791) (7,992)
Credited to the consolidated REHIBREPEA
profit and loss 537 1,201
At end of year RER (6,254) 6,791)
Tax losses
BIEEE
2021
—EZ—fF
HK$’000
FTET
Deferred tax assets EETIBE E
At beginning of year REH] 2,577 3,404
Credited/(charged) to the REFEEPA (1K)
consolidated profit and loss 727 (827)
At end of year RER 3,304 2577
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses EIEFT ST E E Ty E M8 B I8 & A
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related EREGBARRKERN ENEZEM
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Tax MAAEE  HIEBBELER -
losses in the PRC can be carried forward to offset against B #) B T8 5 18 T A4S EE DA BH R 2R
future taxable profits for 5 years and tax losses in Hong Kong AR REHAF RBEBMER
and Malaysia can be carried forward to offset against future Faoe B A 18 B 18 Pl A5 B DA B R 2R
taxable profits without expiry date. FERRBL & H - M= wm B A o
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30 Deferred income tax continueq)

31

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had the following
recognised and unrecognised tax losses available for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Unrecognised tax losses expiring:

AERH D AR TEEE

BT RRMITE

FEFR1S B

B

i

)

1>

—E-—ER-_T-_ZTHF=A
=+—8" $%lﬁMTEﬁ%&
KRR AL IE B 18 0] R K 8 R K
B FE ER B I o

2021
—E-—F

2020
— T

— = —=

HK$'000
TAET

HK$’000
TERT

— Within 5 years —RAEFNH 5,237 3,006

— Unlimited —EHR 10,593 10,206
15,830 13,212

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of AEEBYEBEREBIEEIE

HK$3,430,000 (2020: HK$2,998,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to HK$15,830,000 (2020: HK$13,212,000). Tax
losses in Hong Kong can be carried forward to offset against
future assessable profits and have no expiry date in 2021
(2020: same). Tax losses in PRC can be carried forward to
offset against future taxable profits for 5 years, respectively
(2020: same).

Dividends

No dividends paid for the year ended 31 March 2021 (For the
year ended 31 March 2020, the dividend paid was amounted
to approximately HK$8,800,000).

No dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 has
been declared as of the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements (2020: same).

31

15,830, ooo,%rﬂ_E:Ei

138,212,0008 ) B ARELEFTIS T
& E3,430,0008 T (ZE-F F:

2,998,000 L) - R=ZZE=-—F &
BHEERAAEBNIEERKE
E ¥ HI?&E/%E%(—?—
TFEAR) AR EEBELE
BRIEERREFRNERBTE RN (=
TZEF R

Hﬁ /%\

HE-_T-_—F=A=+—BI*#
ERENRE(BEZT_ZF=
A=Z+—BLEFEE RN Z2BRELD
/38,800,000 7T ) °

HEZSEHUBmREALERR-
HeE_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HL*F
EHREMARER(ZZEZZF: 48
R) -
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32 Notes to the consolidated statement of 32 S§4fRE&RKRERMK T

cash flows

(a) ¥EELANRS

(a) Cash generated from operations

2021 2020
—E-—-F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAEL
Profit before income tax B BT 15 50 Al A 20,989 8,599
Adjustments for: BRATEEETHAE:
Depreciation of property, ME - BERXEITE
plant and equipment 13 11,385 13,601
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FRREENE 14 20,439 21,138
Losses on disposals of property, TEDNE BERRENER
plant and equipment 7 528 1,325
Impairment loss on financial assets £ BL& & R{EE 2 3.1(b) 685 1,117
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial EBEZEARBEIERZ
assets at fair value through TREENAAEE
profit or loss (W) /B8 7 (1,938) 6,922
Recovery of trade receivables W el 5 RIS ) B 5 U IR
previously written off - (24)
Interest income from unlisted FEMEHFBHOFEWA
bond securities - 9)
Finance income BB A 10 (3,333) (2,902)
Finance costs BMEKAR 10 1,553 2,090
Share of losses/(profits) of eI E AR 2 BB, CaF)
associates 17 1,441 (249)
Share of profits of joint ventures A ERE R 18 (375) (1,648)
Release of exchange reserve upon BB — B 2 B1%
closure of a subsidiary B 01 N 8 85 - 326
Release of exchange reserve upon  E3EA — B & A Bl14
closure of an associate B 01 N 8 85 7 171 =
Changes in working capital BEESEY
- Inventories -FE 212 (772)
— Trade receivables —-B 5 RMGRIE (1,492) 2,026
- Deposit, prepayments and e ENFER
other receivables Hth e R IA 2,409 1,524
— Amounts due from — W E R R RA
related companies (91) 2,516
— Trade payables -B5RN%E 1,188 (3,325)
- Accruals and other payables — FE 5T RIE K H b fE < FRIE 1,248 (5,951)
— Amounts due to directors -ERESEHE - (35)
Cash generated from operations KEMEIRE 55,019 46,269
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 8 BEERERXRHTE »
cash flows continueq)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REHBREREXRDP HEY
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and X BERREBENASRES
equipment comprise: &

—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Net book amount (Note 13) AR FE (MI5E13) 719 1,634
Losses on disposals of property, HEWE BE X
plant and equipment (Note 7) R EEE (MEET) (528) (1,325)
Proceeds from disposals &S FT1S IB 191 309
(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (c) B& (EH) FEYER
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the REHINEEFR2AOMERRESF
movements in net cash for each of the years presented. ARSI REEZEH-
Net cash/(debt) Re (&%) FHE
2021 2020
—EB-—F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT TFHETT
Cash and cash equivalents HehkFELEBEAEE 106,565 101,525
Lease liabilities — due within one year HEBE-——F NI H (17,513) (20,200)
Lease liabilities — due after one year HEBE——F1&3H (2,053) (17,004)
Bank borrowings — due within one year $R1T{&E — —F R F & (19,904) (21,157)
Net cash REFHE 67,095 43,164
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFMBEEE 106,565 101,525
Gross debts — variable interest rates BEISRTE— 28 =X (19,904) (21,157)
Gross debts — fixed interest rates BB EE X (19,566) (37,204)
Net cash e F8E 67,095 43,164
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32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 §HBRERERM T

cash flows (continueq)
(c) B& (&EH)FEYEKR =
Be (E%) 8w

(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (continued)

Net cash/(debt) (continueaq)

Borrowings Lease liabilities Lease liabilities

due within - due within - due after
one year one year
HESE- HEEE-
HfzER R-FREE R-FRIH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TEL
As at 1 April 2019 R-E-—NEME—A (25,943) (17,013) (09,249)
Cash movements: B2 #8 -
Proceeds from bank borrowings BITERABRE (6,897) = =
Repayment for bank borrowings BERTEE 11,683 = =
Repayment for principal element EBEHERAEAE TS
of lease liabilities - 19,090 =
Payment for interest expenses X HFIER% - 1,544 -
Other non-cash movements: AMHE 225 -
Acquisition of leases g ik - (5,572) (4,535)
Accretion of interest expenses F BRI = (1,544) =
Reclassification EX b - (16,705) 16,705
Foreign exchange adjustments INERE - - 75
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-FE-B=+-§ (21,157) (20,200) (17,004)
Cash movements: B2 #8-
Proceeds from bank borrowings BITERABRE (2,873) = =
Repayment for bank borrowings EBERITEE 4,126 - -
Repayment for principal element EBEHEAELAS TS
of lease liabilities - 20,193 =
Payment for interest expenses IRMERAZ - 1,103
Other non-cash movements: AEMHE 225 -
Acquisition of leases I ik - (1,375) (1,119)
Accretion of interest expenses T BRI - (1,103) =
Reclassification EX b - (16,131) 16,131
Foreign exchange adjustments SNEFHE > S (61)
As at 31 March 2021 R-B-—#-A=+-A (19,904) (17,513) (2,063)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERRMT
Commitments 33. &I
Capital commitment (a) EARARE
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but FREFTHEHREENEARAX
not yet incurred is as follows: N
2021 2020
—=E-—F —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Property, plant and equipment M- BB KR&E - 81
Related party transactions 34 BEAXS
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party WME—FOEEREETEELT®
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or R R B h AR E HIT T
significant influence over the Group in making financial and HiEsEARE N BIRZ A EK
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be EBEAEEE Ry INAR-BEFAA
individuals (being members of key management personnel, TMA(BNEBEEEEAE FTERER
significant shareholders and/or their close family members) &/—jz HEMITBRIRENRES ) EM
or other entities and include entities which are under the ER . AiEY g AEANKNEERS
significant influence of related parties of the Group where BHEAFZENER . X KR £
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be ME T EEEEE-
related if they are subject to common control.
The directors of the Company are of the view that the KAGBEERAE TH@EAARRDT
following individuals and companies were related parties that AUEANKEFBETRSSRFEL S
had transactions or balances with the Group: HREEE T
Name of related party Relationship with the Group
BELE®E BEAKEBR
Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris Non-oontrolling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
SR M) 2 5 & AEENBARFFERERTAA
Mr. Foo Pei Pan Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
Bk AEBEMBARFERERTAA
Mr. Cheng Sze Tok Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
HEELEE AEBEMEARFERERTAA
Ms. Wong Man Yee Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
IgELt AEENBEARFFERERITAA
CTP Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company
FRAYNGE-o 2k
e-post Limited Associate of the subsidiary of the Group

REE M E R R @ E QR
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34 Related party transactions (continueq)

Name of related party

34 BERIRSG =

Relationship with the Group

RESEH

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

eprint Limited

Montana Capital Sdn Bhd

King Profit International Limited

ZHBEBRARAF

Protoss IT Sdn Bhd

Profit More Rich Limited

BEZARAT

Promise Properties Limited

R MEERRQA

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong)
Limited
BZABE (BE)BRAA

Sakura Global Property Limited
BZIRIREERR AT
Top Success Investment Group
Limited
T REREERER AT
Top Success Investment
(Hong Kong) Limited
EHRRKRE(FEB)BERAT

VVV Limited

Notes:

i The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns 56.9% of the

RAKEBR

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group

AEBEMBRARNGERE

Ultimate holding company (Note i)
BEER DA (MEE)

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group

RAKES 2B

Controlled by the directors of the Company
EN/NCTE= = o

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group

MAKES E R XEEH

Controlled by the directors of the Company
BMAR B E T

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR B EEEG

Associate of the subsidiary of the Group
NE BB R RIAYEE & A A

Controlled by an associate of the Group
SN SETN e /NI R ek

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
AEENRBRARMNAEDE

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group
HAEE S Z B RER

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A ESES

GEE

AAF Heprint Limited# fi o A =& — —

Company’s shares as at 31 March 2021 and 2020, and is beneficially
owned by Mr. She Siu Kee William, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Lam
Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. The directors
consider eprint Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, being the
immediate and the ultimate holding company.
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34 Related party transactions (continueq) 34

(@) Transactions with related parties (a)

The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with
related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the related party transactions were carried out in the normal
course of business and at terms negotiated between the
Group and the respective related parties.

BB ERRMT

BERRS =
HEESFNRS

AEBEERETBETUATR S
ARBEERR BETRXIRLE
FEBARTRASEEZHEN
78 TE AV R BETT

2021 2020
g —ZE-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHT
Rental expense of plants and RS ERNREEDN
machinery, premises, stores and R KRR - B AT
carparks in Hong Kong payable BmEREFEESHEEAX
or paid
— CTP Limited —CTP Limited 5,580 5,263
— Profit More Rich Limited —BREZHERAQA 763 720
— Promise Properties Limited —RAEFMEER AT 1,792 1,691
- VVV Limited —VVV Limited 2,353 2,220
— King Profit International Limited —ZHNEERARA A 515 486
11,003 10,380
Emolument payable or paid JE 1 35 B 1 37 B
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — PR M 5 A 820 788
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan — (B T 820 788
— Mr. Cheng Sze Tok —ERELELE 820 788
2,460 2,364
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34

(a)

Related party transactions (continueq)

Transactions with related parties (continued)

34 BERFRS =
(a) HEBREFNRS (&)

2021 2020
—B-—F —T-THF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
I.T. license fee income receivable FEU Sk B B R BHE
or received FRTITERA
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions
Sdn. Bhd. 111 113
Subcontracting fee payable or paid ENEENDBRER
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 21 20
Revenue from sales of goods and FERHEWHEEEm &R
services receivable or received PR 75 U &=
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. —e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 71 1,070
— Sakura Japan Property — BT HE(FE)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAA - 9
— Sakura Global Property Limited —BIZRIKEZEBERAF] 16 56
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. —Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 1,192 625
1,279 1,760
Rental income of store in Hong Kong W EL B W E B
receivable or received GRS
— Sakura Japan Property — B2 TAEE (FF)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRARA - 36
Interest income from other financial JE W =X B Wi i S X AN B BR
assets at amortised costs ZJHMERMEE R BRA
receivable or received
— Top Success Investment — AT REERE (BH)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAT] 1,166 =
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited 210 -
1,376 -
Dividend income receivable FEU Bk B B B U A
or received
— E-post Limited —E-post Limited 785 -
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34 BERIRFG =
(b) EEEE AE Frif

TEERABHY G R BERN
5136 -

34 Related party transactions (continueq)

(b) Key management compensation

Details of the key management compensation are disclosed in
Note 36.

(c) BELFEHABRMER

(c) Guarantees and securities provided by related
parties

MEREE (MiE29) REERE
(HfaE14) FER HIERAE AN T -

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for
borrowings (Note 29) and lease liabilities (Note 14) were as
follows:

Guarantees provided by a director of mAEE —HIBA AR Z

2021
_E_—ﬂi

— i

HK$’000
FHET

2020
—E-FF

HK$’000
TETT

a subsidiary of the Group EERMER 35,793 35,793
Guarantee provided by a spouse of RAEE—HEHEA A
non-controlling interests of TR EEFEALZ

a subsidiary of the Group fo B IR LB R 6,340 13,025

42,133 48,818
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34 Related party transactions continueq)

(d) Balances with related parties (d)

34 BERIRSG =
B BEE A& gh

2021
—E_—F

HK$’000
FTRET

2020
—E-FF
HK$’000
FHBIT

Amounts due from EWEEARRIE:
related companies:
Sakura Global Property Limited BREEEBRAA 5 =
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 9 103
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 211 56
e-post Limited e-post Limited 25 -
250 159
Other financial assets REBHEHRAEIEERZ
at amortised costs: HsmaEE:
Top Success Investment T REIEE (BS)
(Hong Kong) Limited BRAF 29,456 -
E-post Limited E-post Limited 4,770 -
34,226 -

Certain directors of the Company and the following related
companies are in common. Pursuant to the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Section 383(1)(d), the maximum
amount outstanding are as follows:

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) BT EE (F8)BRAR

Limited
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T
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34 BERIRFG =
(d) EEREE RS &tk (o)

34 Related party transactions (continueq)

(d) Balances with related parties (continuea)

2021 2020
—E-—F —EC-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT

Amounts due to related parties: EBNBERFIE:

Sakura Japan Property (Hong Kong) Limited 182 T8Z&E (&)

BRAA 1 1

e-post Limited e-post Limited 200 200

201 201

Amounts due to directors: ERESRIE:

Mr. She Siu Kee William SBESLE 50 50

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHEA 35 35

Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERLEE 35 35

Mr. Poon Chun Wai BRI LA 15 15

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIREE 15 15

Mr. Fu Chung EREE 15 15

165 165

Lease liabilities: HESE:

CTP Limited CTP Limited 5,256 11,054

Profit More Rich Limited e 2 E YN 722 1,517

Promise Properties Limited REFMERR QA 1,864 3,660

VVV Limited VWV Limited 2,449 4,677

King Profit International Limited ZHNEEREER AT 536 1,023

10,827 21,831

Notes: Bt 3

0] The above balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free (i) T EHEEFERNERAEERT &
and are repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these balances BAREREE - ZSEHNETDESR
approximate their fair values. ERAREEES-

(ii) For amounts due from related parties and other financial assets at (ii) TEREES KB RIRBHEK AR
amortised costs, the Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach EfremEEMS ASBERABTEY
to measure expected credit losses which uses a 3-stage model to BHREERFESR— MR A EEHEER
measure loss allowance. EiE HEA=ZBRELNGEEHERE-

(i)  As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, management considered that the iy MZEZ_—EFR-_ZTE_TF=-A=+—
expected credit loss for intercompany receivables was immaterial, thus H-EEERA D MEEWKRIER S
no loss allowance was made. FEEBBIYTERN Bt RELEBEBRE

f#eo

vy  The amounts due from related companies do not contain impaired vy BHRBEEAARETEESHEEE X
assets. The Company does not hold any collateral as security. AR ERF A EAERRIEER

(v  The above related party balances with related parties are denominated (v) LaiEEEESEENEERERABT

in Hong Kong dollars.

BRER
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35 Statement of financial position and 35 AREBBEMRRRKEHEE
reserve movement of the Company = 1)
Statement of financial position of the Company PNUNETEE B 37 O
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Investments in subsidiaries  WMEAFMEHE 78897 73,897
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments and TE A 3038 & H Ath FE UL 5K IB
other receivables 13,421 141
Current income tax receivable JEUL S HApT 57 130 -
Financial assets at fair value ERBEREAANEBEYEZ
through profit or loss TREE 14,339 25,182
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEULHT B A T 518 19,535 19,535
Amounts due from fellow JE UG [R] B B A Bl 3R A
subsidiaries 110,777 110,090
Cash and cash equivalents RekRE&EEIEE 1,548 1,376
e 159,750 156,324
Total assets BEREE 233,647 230,221
Equity and liabilities Em M BE
Equity attributable to owners of ~ RNA G B AR
the Company
Share capital fi% 7R 5,500 5,500
Share premium f& 10w B 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H At a 94,587 91,030
Totalequity __ BmRE 233008 229,451
Liabilities BfE
Current liabilities mBaRE
Accruals FEETFE 474 474
Amounts due to directors BN ESRIE 165 165
Current income tax payable FERHE BRATB R - 131
Total Viabilties ... BERE 639 ..........770,
Total equity and liabilities BmkBEEE 233,647 230,221
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35 Statement of financial position and 35 KN RMBMRRARKFEE
reserve movement of the Company BE) o
(Continued)
Statement of financial position of the Company AABHBEMRREK 2
(Continued)
Note: B 5E -
(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (@ ARAREBESD
Capital Retained
reserve earnings Total
EXRFE REEF et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT FHET
At 1 April 2019 R-Z—AEMA—B 73,508 16,686 90,194
Profit for the year FREN - 9,636 9,636
Dividends (Note 31) &2 (HEEs1) - (8,800) (8,800)
At 31 March 2020 R-_E-_ZEF=F=+—8 73,508 17,522 91,030
Profit for the year F R F - 3,557 3,557
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-——F=A=+—8 73,508 21,079 94,587
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36 Benefits and interests of directors 36 ESFERER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=EFHH
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEERAEENITHAH -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_ZTE-_—F=A=+—
the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out as below. BIEFESES2HMEINMAT -
Other
emoluments paid
or receivable
in respect of
director’s other
services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of
Estimated money  contribution to a the Company
Performance value of other  retirement benefit Share-hased or its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses  benefits (Note i) scheme payments undertaking
RESEE
LCERL] |
HERIN AAEHZEN
fEitREEE EEWER REBRHEEAD
RAEA (W) BN BUmEtHS
Executive Directors HiEs
M She Su Kee Wilam KRERE 600 2820 284 103 18 - - 3825
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (Note i) SEHs A (M) 420 938 n - 18 - - 1,547
Non-executive Directors FES
M Leung Wai Ming PEREE 420 - - - - - - 420
M. i Lu (Note v) SRk (Mihi) - - - - - - - -
Independent Non-executive BUdES
Directors
M. Poon Chun Wai BRALE 180 - - - - - - 180
M. Ma Su Kit ShhEE 180 - - - - - - 180
Mr. Fu Chung BRkE 180 - - - - - - 180

1,980 3,758 455 103 36 - - 6,332
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36 Benefits and interests of directors coniniesy 36 EB RS R EZH @

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) ESHM =)
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RABERERRNEBNITHRAR-
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_T-_TF=A=+—
the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out as below. ALEFESES2HFMEAINNT -

Other emoluments
paid or receivable in
respect of director's

other services in

connection with

the management

Employer's of the affairs of

Estimated money ~ contribution to a the Company

Performance value of other  retirement benefit Share-based or its subsiolary
Salaries bonuses benefits (Note i) scheme payments undertaking

Executive Directors UrEs

Mr. She Siu Kee William KBERE 600 2,820 868 102 18 & - 4408

M. Lam Shing Kai (Note i) WAL A (B3 158 - - - - - - 158

M. Chong Cheuk Ki (Note i) ERAE (W) 40 - - - - - - 40

Non-executive Directors Pty

M. Deng Xiaen (Note iy) BEB%E (W) - - - - - - - S

Mr. Leung Wai Ming PEREE 420 - - - - - - 420

M Cai Qiang (Note v) ERAL (W) - - - - - - - -

Independent Non-executive BUdnES

Directors

M. Poon Chun Wi ERALE 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Ma Siu Kit SknkE 180 - - - - - - 180

Mr. Fu Chung k¥ 180 - - - - - - 180

2,138 2,820 868 102 18 - - 5946

Notes: B2

[0) Other benefits include insurance premium and medical allowances. 0] EMAReERERBEER-

(i) ~ Mr. Lam Shing Kai had resigned as an executive director with effect iy MEETEEHTHNTESE B-F
from 16 August 2019. —NENA+BREER-

(i) ~ Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki had re-designed from non-executive director to iy HEHEECHFRTESATAWIT
executive director with effect from 16 August 2019. BEE BT -NFNATBRENR-

vy  Mr. Deng Xiaen had resigned as a non-executive director with effect vy HERXECDBHEIEBTEEF B=F
from 16 August 2019. —NENATRBRER-

(v  Mr. Cai Qiang was appointed as a non-executive director with effect vV BEERXERZERFVTEE B-F
from 16 August 2019. —NENA+BRER-

(vi)  Mr. Li Lu was appointed as a non-executive director with effect from Vi) FTRELEEZTAEIHNTESE B-F
19 November 2020. —EFT AT hHERER.

No Directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in any of the years BHE_Z-_—FR-ZF-ZFF=A=+—HI1k

ended 31 March 2021 and 2020. FEFE BHESEERELATHETMAHE -
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36 Benefits and interests of directors (continued)

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 34(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

37 THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC’S IMPACT

An outbreak of respiratory illness caused by the COVID-19
has been expanded across the PRC and globally and the
prevention and control measures to combat the disease have
been continued to be implemented nationwide.

In June 2021, the Group’s subsidiaries located in Malaysia
were temporarily closed and have not yet resumed to
operation. The Directors will continue to closely monitor the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and assess its impact
on the financial position, and operational results of the Group.

Given the major operation of the Company is in Hong Kong,
the Directors estimate the impact on the Company’s operation
and financial is likely immaterial as at 31 March 2021.
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Five-year Financial Summary

L FERBEBRE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
ZB--F —_TTF —T-NF ZZT-)\F ZT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FATT AT FETT FETT FET
Results E
Year ended 31 March #®BZ=HA=+—H
IEEE
Profit attributable to ViN/NEIP EsS S TN
equity holders of JEAS 5 A
the Company 19,009 5,688 17,353 22,032 17,321
Assets and liabilites ZBERA®S
As at 31 March R=RA=+—H
Total assets BEE 331,152 327,602 310,673 311,157 312,829
Total liabilities BaE (80,497)  (97,597)  (76,155)  (79,491)  (105,309)
Net assets BEFRE 250,655 230,005 234,518 231,666 207,520
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